
ANNUAL REPORT 2011

This document has been prepared by the Company and its contents have been reviewed by the Company’s sponsor, CIMB Bank Berhad, Singapore branch (“Sponsor”), 
for compliance with the relevant rules of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”), this being the SGX-ST Listing Manual Section B: Rules of 
Catalist. The Sponsor has not independently verified the contents of this document. The document has not been examined or approved by the SGX-ST. The Sponsor and 
the SGX-ST assume no responsibility for the contents of this document including the correctness of any of the statements or opinions made or reports contained in this 
document. The contact person for the Sponsor is Mr Tony Toh, Senior Vice President, Corporate Finance. The contact particulars are 50 Raffles Place #09-01 Singapore 
Land Tower Singapore 048623, Telephone: +65 6337 5115.

All Aboard



4   
Viking Offshore and Marine Limited 

Annual Report 2011



A Year of Integration       2

At a Glance       3

Chairman’s Message       4

Vision and Mission       6

Business Structure       7

Corporate Information       8

Board and Committee       9

Members of the Board       10

Executive Management       12

Financial Highlights      14

Review of Operations by CEO       16

Business Strategy Blueprint       22

Invest (3i Strategy)      24

Integrate (3i Strategy)      32

Internationalise (3i Strategy)      38

Other Business Segments      44

Financial Contents      49

Contents



2   
Viking Offshore and Marine Limited 

Annual Report 2011

2011
A Year of Integration

This is the year where all the standalone businesses come together as one. 
Integrated in every practical and beneficial aspect to harness growth, 

improve productivity and more importantly present ourselves as one to the customers.

Viking Offshore and Marine Limited (“Viking” or “Group” or “Company”)
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2011
At a Glance

Our Achievements

• $95 million in Revenue 
• $6 million in Net Profit After Tax 
• $80 million in Net Assets 

Our Integration Success

We have successfully integrated our Operations 
and People under one shared Facility and 

Infrastructure. We have implemented a 

standardised Policy and Management 
System to enhance the performance of the teams. 

We have developed an integrated customer-centric 

Sales, Marketing and Coverage business 

model to serve our Customers better. 

Our Internationalisation Initiatives

We are actively Promoting the Viking Brand 
Overseas, focusing on Emerging Markets, 

and aggressively Expanding our Overseas 
Footprint in a targeted and measured manner.
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Chairman’s 
Message

Dear Shareholders

More than two years have passed since we first started out 
to transform our business. We spoke about our planned 
journey towards becoming an integrated offshore and 
marine (“O&M”) solution provider, and explained to you 
our transformational growth strategy - Invest, Integrate 
and Internationalise – our ‘3i-Strategy’. It gives us great 
pleasure to update you on its implementation.

3i-Strategy – Invest

In 2010, we invested heavily through the acquisition of 
a number of O&M-related companies. These strategic 
acquisitions allowed the Group to now become the 
preferred partner in mechanical, electrical and electronics 
engineering services for the global offshore and marine 
industry.

3i-Strategy – Integrate

The value that we bring to our stakeholders is our ability to 
link these individual specialty elements into a customer-
centric business value chain. We do so by enhancing 
productivity, harnessing synergies and harvesting growth 
in this linkage.

“The whole is greater than the sum of its parts.” -Aristotle

In other words, the sum of one plus one must be greater 
than two. With this in mind, we spent a good part of last 
year driving the integration of these companies’ operations 
and are glad to report that we have been successful, and 
a substantial section of this annual report is dedicated 
towards the reporting of our integration results which we 
themed – “All Aboard”.

3i-Strategy – Internationalise

Our next phase of growth strategy – internationalising 
our business and establishing our presence overseas – 
represents the final phase in our 3i Strategy. We have 
begun this phase concurrently while integrating our 
business in 2011, and the early success in Vietnam, East 
Malaysia and Indonesia bear testimony to this.

This positive momentum is encouraging, and we have 
started seeding for longer-term overseas opportunities. 
We received government support in terms of funding for 
our expansion plan in Brazil. The set-up of regional offices 
allows us to stay closer to our customers and to access 
market intelligence. We have participated in a number 
of local and overseas trade exhibitions to showcase 
our products and capabilities. We will continue with our 
internationalisation initiatives and expand to new markets 
and new horizons.

Quantifiable milestones

Our target was to attain a $100 million milestone in Group 
turnover in our first year of full operations. While our 
results were slightly lower, it was nonetheless a highly 
commendable achievement given the challenging external 
business environment. The net profit for the Group, after 
taking into account acquisition-related accounting effects, 
would have been comparable to the preceding year if not 
for the provisional charge taken on an investment. We 
also successfully disposed a sizable proportion of our 
quoted equity investments at a gain. The corresponding 
cash proceeds were applied towards the reduction of 

4   
Viking Offshore and Marine Limited 

Annual Report 2011



5   
Viking Offshore and Marine Limited 

Annual Report 2011

bank borrowings and payment obligations. The cash flow 
from operations in 2011 is positive and higher compared 
to the preceding year.

We are pleased to report that the directors have proposed 
a first and final dividend of $0.002 per share for FY2011 to 
reward our shareholders for their continued support. This 
marks three consecutive years of dividend announcements, 
and it is an achievement worth reflecting on.

To further enhance shareholder value, we have also 
obtained approval mandate from our shareholders for 
share buyback. Subsequent to the year-end of 2011, the 
Company commenced share buyback activities. We will 
continue to do so where appropriate.

Words of Appreciation

There is no doubt that 2012 will be another exciting 
year for us. While the business environment is expected 
to remain uncertain, the growth and vibrance of the 
emerging overseas markets represent a significant growth 
opportunity for us.  On behalf of the Board, we would like 
to thank our customers, partners, suppliers, investors, 
shareholders, and our five-hundred strong employees 
for being part of Viking’s strategic transformation. Your 
continued support in 2012 will be much appreciated as we 
strive for further growth and greater profitability for Viking 
Offshore and Marine Group.

Andy Lim
Chairman and Executive Director

coming together is a beginning, 
staying together is progress,

and working together is success. 

Sir Henry Ford

“
”
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Vision

To be the preferred partner in mechanical, 
electrical and electronics engineering services 
for the global offshore and marine industry.

Mission

Provide customers with a one-stop integrated 
solution with:

• Trusted quality
• Competitive value
• Delivery reliability

Vision
and
Mission
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Viking Group’s core business is in the offshore and marine industry. We also have other 
businesses in Distribution and Retail, Asset Investment and Management.

Business
Structure

Viking Offshore and Marine Limited

Distribution & Retail

Chuan Seng Leong Viking Airtech Quoted Equities

Shine @ Spring Promoter Hydraulics

Marshal Systems

Real Estate Facility

Offshore & Marine
Asset Investment
& Management



8   
Viking Offshore and Marine Limited 

Annual Report 2011

Company Registration

Viking Offshore and Marine Limited
(listed on the Singapore Exchange) 
Registration: 199307300M

Share Registrar & 
Share Transfer Office

M&C Services Pte Ltd
138 Robinson Road #17-00
The Corporate Office
Singapore 068906

Company’s Sponsor
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Singapore Branch
50 Raffles Place #09-01
Singapore Land Tower
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Information

Bankers

United Overseas Bank Limited
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Auditor
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Public Accountants and 
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Website: www.vikingom.com
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Board
and

Committee

Board of Directors

Andy Lim Chairman and Executive Director
Ong Choo Guan Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director 
Woo Peng Kong Executive Director
Lin Wei Daniel Non-Executive Director
Lien Kait Long Independent Director
Tan Wee Peng Kelvin Independent Director
Lee Suan Hiang Independent Director

Nominating Committee

Lee Suan Hiang (Chairman)
Tan Wee Peng Kelvin
Lin Wei Daniel

Company Secretary

Lotus Isabella Lim Mei Hua

Audit Committee

Lien Kait Long (Chairman)
Tan Wee Peng Kelvin
Lee Suan Hiang

Advisor to Chairman

Bo Johansson

Remuneration Committee

Tan Wee Peng Kelvin (Chairman)
Lee Suan Hiang
Lin Wei Daniel
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1. Andy Lim, 54 
   Chairman and Executive Director

Mr Lim was appointed Chairman and Executive Director of the 
Company on 15 June 2009. As the founder and Chairman of private 
equity firm Tembusu Partners Pte Ltd, he is currently the Executive 
Director of Associated Leisure International and Chairman of 
MoneyWorld Group of Companies. His other board appointments 
include Chairman of Alpha Singapore, Council Member of the 
National Council for Anti-Drug Abuse and President of the Enterprise 
50 Association. In September 2004, Mr Lim was appointed Honorary 
Consul to the Republic of Lithuania. Mr Lim holds an Engineering 
degree (First Class Honours) from Cambridge University and a 
Masters in Business Administration from University of California at 
Los Angeles (UCLA).

2. Ong Choo Guan, 60 
    Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Mr Ong was appointed Chief Executive Officer of the Company 
on 15 January 2010, and appointed Executive Director on 16 April 
2010. With more than 30 years of management experience in the 
offshore and marine industry, Mr Ong has been instrumental in 
driving the growth of Viking Airtech Pte Ltd since its incorporation 
in 1994 as part of Viking Engineering Group. Since his appointment 
as Executive Director of Viking Airtech in 2003, he has turned the 
business around and brought Viking Airtech to new heights as a 
leading HVAC&R solutions provider to shipyards and vessel owners 
in the region. Prior to joining Viking Engineering Group in 1980 
where he was General Manager, Mr Ong was with Jurong Shipyard 
as the Overall-in-charge Engineer for mechanical works onboard 
the vessels. He is a Mechanical Engineer by profession and 
received various training in Finance and Accounting, and Marketing 
Management.

Members
of the

Board

3. Woo Peng Kong, 59
    Executive Director

Mr Woo was appointed Independent Director of the Board on 1 
September 2010, and was re-designated Executive Director on 15 
Oct 2011. He has over 30 years of experience in the oil & gas and 
marine & offshore industries, holding various senior management 
positions in engineering, sales & marketing, new business start-ups 
and joint ventures, with particular expertise in business operations 
and financial management. He was executive director, managing 
director and CEO in various private and public-listed companies. His 
past appointments include CEO of Renewable Energy Asia Group 
Limited and Executive Director of KS Energy Services Limited. Mr 
Woo holds a First Class Honours Bachelor Degree in Mechanical 
Engineering from the University of Singapore, and a Certified 
Diploma in Accounting & Finance from the Chartered Association of 
Certified Accountants.

4. Lien Kait Long, 63 
    Independent Director

Mr Lien was appointed Non-Executive Director of the Company 
on 26 May 2008. He was re-designated Independent Director on 
4 May 2009. Mr Lien has extensive experience in accounting and 
finance, corporate management and business investment.  He 
has held a number of senior management positions as well as 
executive directorships in various public and private corporations 
in Singapore, Hong Kong and China. He currently serves as an 
Independent Director on the boards of several Singapore and 
Chinese companies listed on the Singapore Exchange. The listed 
companies that he has present and prior experience in are from 
diverse industries including manufacturing, telecommunications, 
renewable energy, oil & gas, consumer good, textile and food & 
beverage. Mr Lien holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from 
Nanyang University and is a fellow member of the CPA Australia 
and the Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore.

4
2

3
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5.  Tan Wee Peng Kelvin, 47
     Independent Director

Mr Tan was appointed Independent Director of the Company on 25 
June 2009. He is currently the Managing Director of GBE Holdings 
Pte Ltd. He has more than 20 years of professional experience 
including senior management positions at AETOS Security 
Management, PSA International, and Temasek Holdings, the last 
being the Managing Director of its Private Equity Funds Investment 
Unit. He was a consultant advising companies investing in China, 
and also served with the Singapore Police Force. A Local Merit 
Scholar (Police Service), Mr Tan holds a Bachelor in Accountancy 
(First Class Honours) and a Master in Business Administration 
from the National University of Singapore. He also attended the 
Programme for Management Development at the Harvard Business 
School. Mr Tan currently holds directorship appointments with 
several other private and public-listed companies.

6. Lee Suan Hiang, 61 
    Independent Director

Mr Lee was appointed Independent Director of the Company on 16 
April 2010. He is the Chief Executive of the Real Estate Developers’ 
Association of Singapore.  A Colombo Plan Scholar in Industrial 
Design (Engineering), he had a varied career in public service as 
Deputy Managing Director of the Economic Development Board 
and Chief Executive of SPRING Singapore, National Productivity 
Board, Singapore Institute of Standards and Industrial Research 
and National Arts Council. He was also Chairman of PSB 
Corporation, Deputy Chairman of the International Federation of 
Arts Councils and Cultural Agencies and Council Member of the 
International Standards Organisation. He is the current President 
of the EDB Society and a Fellow of the UK Chartered Management 
Institute, Chartered Institute of Marketing, and World Academy for 
Productivity Science.  Mr Lee was awarded the Public Administration 
(Gold) Medal in 1998, World SME Association Award in 2001, Japan 
External Trade Organisation Award in 2002 and Chevalier de l’Ordre 
des Arts et Lettres from France in 2010.

7. Lin Wei Daniel, 28
    Non-Executive Director

Mr Lin was appointed Non-Executive Director of the Board on 13 
May 2011.  He is currently Executive Director of boutique mergers & 
acquisitions advisory firm Blue Ocean Capital Partners. In addition, 
Mr Lin is currently a Non-Executive Director of Singapore-listed 
companies Nico Steel Holdings Ltd and Ann Aik Ltd and a Director 
of Associated Leisure Group of Companies.  He is also a member 
of the Finance Committee with the Singapore Institute of Directors.  
Mr Lin graduated with an honours degree in law in 2007 from Bristol 
University, UK. Mr Lin is the son of Mr Andy Lim, a substantial 
shareholder and Executive Director of the Company.

8. Bo Johansson, 71
    Advisor to Chairman

Mr Johansson was appointed Advisor to Chairman of the Company 
on 16 April 2010. He is currently Managing Director of Viking 
Engineering Pte Ltd and was Chairman of Viking Airtech Pte Ltd 
since its incorporation until 2009. As a Certified Turbine and Gears 
Engineer Stal-Laval Turbin AB (now Siemens Sweden AB) since 
1969, Mr Johansson has extensive experience as a Specialist 
Engineer on main propulsion steam turbines, gears and control 
systems for various ship-owners, including Golar Management LNG, 
Shell, BP, British Gas, ExxonMobil, Chevron Shipping USA, Tanker 
Pacific, Bergesen Norway, Abu Dhabi Gas, Qatargas, MOL Japan, 
Sovcomflot Russia and others. He also guided Viking Engineering 
into the field of self-discharging ships and barges for bulk materials 
as agents for BMH Marine Sweden, now Cargotec Bulk.

1

5
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Executive
Management

1.  Andy Lim, 54 
    Chairman and Executive Director

2. Ong Choo Guan, 60 
    Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

3. Woo Peng Kong, 59
    Executive Director

4. Ng Yeau Chong, 45
    Chief Operating Officer

Mr Ng was appointed Chief Operating Officer of the Company on 
6 August 2010. Mr Ng has more than 20 years of professional 
experience covering Sales & Marketing, Program Management, 
and Operations & Training in both public and private sectors. An 
Overseas Merit Scholar (SAF), Mr Ng was with the Republic of 
Singapore Navy for more than 10 years. Prior to joining the Group, 
he served as Asia Consulting Solution Director (Oracle Consulting 
Services, 2007-2010), Vice President (UOB, 2000-2007), and 
Assistant Head (Spring Singapore 1999-2000). Mr Ng holds a 
Master of Arts from University of Oxford and a MBA (Accountancy) 
from Nanyang Technological University. Mr Ng is a Certified 
Financial Analyst (CFA), and a Financial Risk Manager (FRM).

5. Low Jooi Kok, 47
    Chief Financial Officer

Mr Low was appointed Chief Financial Officer of the Company 
on 2 March 2010. Mr Low has more than 20 years of commercial 
experience spanning sales, marketing and line-of-business 
executive management, financial management and operational 
management. He was Chief Financial Officer of IBM Singapore 
in 1998, and then Director of Business Partner Sales for ASEAN 
and South Asia till 2009. Prior to joining IBM, Mr Low was with Visa 
International, holding various appointments overseeing financial 
planning and management of strategic business investments for Visa 
within the Asia-Pacific region. Mr Low holds a Master of Business 
Administration from Southern Illinois University, Carbondale and is 
a Certified Public Accountant.

3

7
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6. Tay Mong Seng Jeffrey, 53
    Managing Director, Marshal Systems Pte Ltd

Mr Tay is the founder and Managing Director of Marshal Systems 
Pte Ltd, a leading system integrator preferred by internationally-
renowned companies in the offshore and marine industry. He began 
his career in the offshore and marine industry in 1981 with Singapore 
Slipway and Engineering, a subsidiary of Keppel Shipyard. In 
1983, he joined Kongsberg (Asia) to handle projects for Far East 
Levingston Shipbuilding which is now known as Keppel FELS. Mr 
Tay brings to the Group more than 29 years of industry experience 
and believes differentiation is the key to outshining competitors in 
the business world. Mr Tay received various training and certification 
in the areas of electrical, electronics, communication services, and 
also sales and marketing management.

7. Ong Li Yi Jason, 32
    Director (International Business)

Mr Ong was appointed Director (International Business) of the 
Company on 1 September 2010. Mr Ong has 10 years of international 
experience, having worked and lived abroad on 3 continents and 
5 cities since 2001. He was a management consultant with A.T. 
Kearney based in Chicago and Shanghai. During his time as a 
consultant, Mr Ong worked on a diverse range of projects spanning 
growth strategy, human resource development, operational 
improvements, and cost transformation, among others. He has 
travelled extensively throughout North America and Asia mostly 
working for large multinational corporation clients. Mr Ong holds a 
Master of Business Administration from INSEAD and a Bachelor of 
Business Administration from the University of Michigan Ross School 
of Business. He is the son of Mr Ong Choo Guan, an Executive 
Director of the Company.

1
2 4

5
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Financial
Highlights

Revenue
($ Million)
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Net Assets
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3-Year Trend

Net Profit After Tax
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Group Financial Result Summary

2011

95.2

26.5

28%

6.0

6%

Revenue

Gross Profit

Gross Margin

Net Profit After Tax

After-Tax Profit Margin

79.7

25.9

32%

11.4

14%

2010

37.6

7.1

19%

1.0

2%

2009
Financial Performance
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2011 2010

57.8
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Shareholders’ Equity

Net Current Assets

Cash & Equivalents

Financial Position
($ Millions)

118.1

38.2

79.9
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8.8

155.1

70.3

84.8
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Review of
Operations
by CEO

3i Strategy: 2010 - a year to invest, 2011 - a year to integrate

In FY2010, we built the business value chain of an integrated solution provider through investing in the various 
businesses that fit into our strategic blueprint. Having completed phase one of our 3i Strategy to invest, in FY2011, we 
embarked on the journey to integrate the various operational aspects of each individual business into a unified value 
proposition. We are pleased to report that we have achieved this milestone, and we want to thank our employees and 
various business partners and stakeholders for their steadfast commitment to this course and turning our vision into a 
reality. 

All Aboard.
We are committed,
we are together,
and we are ready.

“
”
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Marching towards a $100 million turnover business

We started the year setting ourselves a goal of achieving a $100 million turnover in FY2011 with our complete 
suite of business offerings for the O&M industry. The total Group turnover reached $95.2 million, an increase of 
19% compared to the year before, and this is primarily contributed by our O&M business units, which accounts 
for 60% of the revenue and almost the entire operating profit. Gross profit grew marginally year-on-year relative 
to the revenue growth due to the negative currency impact from the weakening US Dollar coupled with higher 
cost of purchases and labour cost.

The Group’s net profit after tax for the year under review was $6.0 million, a decrease of $5.4 million compared to 
the year before. This was largely due to a one-time impairment provision of $7.7 million relating to investment in 
an investee company. Taking this into account as well as other non-cash items, the Group’s operating earnings 
(“EBITDA”) – measured by earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation and normalised for 
acquisition-related accounting effects – was $9.2 million, approximately 70% higher than the profit before tax.
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Building an integrated business value proposition

Concurrent to driving the operational growth, we are also building for the future. We envision that we can present 
a more powerful value proposition to our stakeholders if we operate as one integrated business as opposed to 
being a sum of different units. We strongly believe that success is only possible when we have 100% commitment 
from top management, right down to each and every employee. Hence, as a first step, we housed all employees 
and business units under one roof, which would promote frequent interaction among staff, an aspect vital to the 
integration phase.

Today, we have shared services enjoyed by all business units, thereby eliminating redundancies and unequal 
standards, allowing an enlarged service scope and system utilisation, and improving governance and control. It 
further paves the way for easier implementation of future initiatives on one common platform.

Our customer facing personnel are now equipped with the relevant knowledge and expertise across all business 
and product offerings. They are in turn supported by strong product teams with specialised competencies. As a 
result, our customers will be able to work with the various business units within the Group, minimising coordination 
efforts while not compromising on our quality and service standards.

We are proud of our integration efforts and endeavour to continuously improve and innovate in order to stay 
competent to both our existing and prospective customers.
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Expanding our global footprint

Today, we are proud to say that the Group has become truly international as we foray into new markets which offer 
growth and business opportunities. We have expanded from four to eight offices located outside of Singapore in 
FY2011. Encouraged by the pipeline of opportunities in these countries, we have further cemented our overseas 
footprints by converting what used to be just overseas marketing operations (“OMO”) and representative offices to 
full-fledged operations in China, Malaysia, and Indonesia. Together with the extensive network of service stations 
in which we are wired into, we are able to support our clients worldwide.

Supported by the Singapore government, VOM now leads a consortium under the i-Partners program to conduct 
business development into Brazil. With the prospect of Brazil being a potentially large player in the global offshore 
industry, we view this as an important initiative to establish a presence in the country. Concurrently, we have also 
started bidding on some projects for customers in Brazil.

To profile our business and brand globally, we have actively participated in various industry-related trade 
exhibitions to further complement our coverage activities. In FY2011, we participated in five major trade exhibitions 
in Singapore, Asia-Pacific, Europe and the Middle-East.

Our overseas expansion is reaping early dividends as we were able to secure project orders from Vietnam, 
Indonesia, Malaysia, Australia, Middle East, and Russia, countries which we had little or no exposure to in the 
past. We are further encouraged by the visibility of the growing pipeline of projects in these countries and expect 
more business leads in the future.
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Gains contributed from other non-O&M businesses

Our other businesses in the distribution and retail of fast moving consumer goods and beauty-care products 
also contributed to the Group’s turnover. In an effort to ensure the financial efficiency of this business portfolio, 
we expanded our distribution retail network to 1,470 retailers and increased our brand portfolio by acquiring 
additional brands for distribution from the principals. On the retail front, we discontinued two of our loss-making 
beauty-care concept retail outlets. This will further ensure growth in our product portfolio as well as improve the 
bottom line – a move which will ensure a more profitable setup going forward.

On the investment front, we liquidated a large part of our holdings in quoted equities at a gain. Given the continued 
volatility of the stock market and having a substantial share of our net tangible assets in quoted equity holdings, 
we found it opportune and prudent to dispose of our shareholdings to lock in gains. The cash proceeds were 
used to repay borrowings previously used to fund the acquisitions, and would help lower our financing costs in 
the future. 

Our gains from investment activities were lowered by the impairment provision taken on an investment in Marine 
Accomm Pte Ltd, which went into receivership in June 2011 amid suspected financial irregularities. VOM has 
since filed a complaint with the Commercial Affairs Department.
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Healthy cashflow and financial position 

Net assets for the Group was $79.9 million and is marginally lower compared to the corresponding period last year, 
primarily due to the impairment charge on investment. Working capital for the Group improved year-on-year due to 
better turnover of inventory and receivables, as well as repayment of payment commitment out of proceeds from 
the disposal of quoted equities. Correspondingly, the cashflow from operating activities also improved year-on-
year. The overall negative cashflow resulted from the repayment of bank borrowings and payable commitments.

Overseas market to drive business growth

While the marine sector of the O&M industry continues to be challenging, the offshore sector is expected to stay 
vibrant – largely driven by increasing oil prices and demand. As we enter into the third phase of our 3i Strategy- to 
internationalise our business, we expect to perform well, underpinned by our regional expansion into emerging 
markets. 

In addition, we will re-channel our resources and focus on service repairs and refurbishment work, both locally 
and overseas. This is one of our business strategies in the slower marine sector where we see many customers 
requesting for such services in an effort to conserve capital and prolong the operation of their vessels.

Leveraging and harnessing our asset base

Our purchase of the property at 21/23 Kian Teck Road resulted in a gain whereby the fair market value is 
approximately 45% higher compared to the acquisition cost. While we focused on driving our O&M business 
forward, we also embarked on initiatives to leverage and further harness our existing assets. Given its current 
utilisation stands at approximately 20%, we intend to increase additional build-up space and build a value-added 
O&M hub, including research and development activities; thereby generating new income and business activities 
throughput.

We will continue to convert our remaining non-O&M business portfolio to generate profits and cash in FY2012. 
Subsequent to FY2011, we have further liquidated a portion of our quoted equity portfolio and unlocked gains to 
be recognised in the first quarter of FY2012. 

We remain optimistic that FY2012 will undoubtedly be another exciting year for Viking as we intensifiy our 
expansion plans beyond Singapore and continue to deliver results to our shareholders.

Ong Choo Guan
Chief Executive Officer & Executive Director
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Business
Strategy
Blueprint
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The Viking Business Strategy Blueprint developed in 
2009 serves to transform the former Novena Holdings 
Limited into a leading Integrated Solution Provider 
for the Global Offshore and Marine industry over a 
3-year period. 

The Transformation Blueprint seeks to swap passive 
investments into high growth and scalable business. The 
3i-Strategy of Invest, Integrate and Internationalise 
calls for acquisition of leading local businesses and 
Bolting-On complementary businesses to complete 
a comprehensive one-stop solution chain value 
proposition to customers. 

The Triple-Play Strategic Framework guides the 
Group’s modus operandi towards the 3-prong objectives 
of Maximising Shareholder Value, Operational 
Excellence and Infrastructural Optimisation. 

In 2010, we Invested; in 2011, we Integrated and in 
2012, we Internationalise our business. 

Strategy
Blueprint
Overview
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In 2010, we embarked on our transformation journey and 
executed the first phase of our 3i Strategy: 

Invest
This was a key strategic thrust that underpinned our 
overarching strategy of creating a value proposition of a 
one-stop integrated solution in mechanical, electrical and 
electronics engineering services for our customers. 

By the end of 2010, we had successfully completed the 
acquisition of three operating companies, namely Viking 
Airtech Pte Ltd, Promoter Hydraulics Pte Ltd and Marshal 
Systems Pte Ltd. These companies are leading industry 
players in their respective fields. Amalgamating these 
companies in our Group has endowed us with greater 
capabilities and competencies across a wider spectrum of 
services. 

Invest
3i Strategy

Building Wisely
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The offshore and marine business of Viking is made up 
of three operating companies – Viking Airtech Pte Ltd 
(“Viking Airtech”), Promoter Hydraulics Pte Ltd (“Promoter 
Hydraulics”) and Marshal Systems Pte Ltd (“Marshal 
Systems”).

Together, these businesses have the flexibility to operate 
as a standalone or integrated solution. With this capability,  
Viking and its subsidiaries have become the preferred 
solution provider for our customers’ needs. We have also 
cultivated a “customer first” attitude among our employees 
and work towards delivering satisfaction to our clients.

We are now able to harness the capabilities and 
competencies offered by these companies along these 
three main axes - Air Technology, Power Technology and 
Systems Technology.

Offshore 
and Marine 
Businesses

Share of Offshore and Marine Businesses

Marshal 
Systems

Promoter
Hydraulics

Viking 
Airtech
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Viking Airtech Pte Ltd 
is a leading turnkey specialist of end-to-end solutions 
in design, engineering, manufacturing, installation, 
supervision, testing and commissioning of Heating, 
Ventilation, Air-Conditioning and Refrigeration systems.

Promoter Hydraulics Pte Ltd 
is the largest supplier of hydraulic winches and power 
packs in South East Asia with a large range of readily 
available winch models. It also supplies related deck 
machinery to cater to customers’ overall design 
requirements.

Marshal Systems Pte Ltd 
is a leading system integrator for telecommunications 
system, fire and gas detection system, and control 
and instrumentation systems which provides seamless 
connection to customers’ offshore and marine structure.
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Viking Airtech provides customers with integrated 
energy-efficient solutions for optimal temperature 
control to ensure the efficient functioning of people, 
assets, and infrastructure under the most extreme 
conditions on board rigs and vessels on the high seas.

•   Strong endorsement from renowned equipment supplier – more than 
12 years of authorised sole-dealership and service station for Carrier 
marine products.

•  Employs cutting-edge technology in areas of energy-efficient, eco-
friendly, explosion proof and ruggedized systems.

•  Comprehensive range of solutions to meet varied customer 
requirements – air to water-cooled, direct expansion to chill water 
systems, conventional packaged unit to centralised mega chilled-
water systems.

•   Designed and built for customers who work under extreme ambient 
temperatures. Capable of meeting NORSOK and European standards, 
Middle-Eastern, Russian and Asian ambient conditions. More than 10 
years Det Norske Veritas (DNV) certified quality management system.

•  Supported by our inhouse assembly and fabrication plant, test 
laboratory, and an extensive international presence through our global 
network of service stations and full-fledged regional operations.

Air Technology 
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Promoter Hydraulics provides customers with cutting-
edge winching technology designed for maximum 
efficiency in load-handling management and heavy 
lifting operations under the most demanding weighting 
requirements and climatic conditions on board rigs and 
vessels on the high seas.

•  We are the largest supplier of hydraulic winches and power packs 
in SE Asia. Together with our air and electric winches, we offer a 
comprehensive suite of products for this product category. 

•  Every winch manufactured incorporates technologies from various 
reputable European suppliers.

•  We pride ourselves as a leading provider with the widest range of load 
capacity capability equipment 

       •  from 10 to 200 ton winches in single drum, double drum and water 
fall models in available stock.

       •  from 30KW – 300KW power packs with diesel engine and electric 
motor driven configuration.

Power
Technology 
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Marshal Systems provides customers with a safe 
working environment through our sensitive early-
warning risk management system that is capable 
of detecting calibrated temperature changes and 
hazardous elements, protecting people, assets and 
infrastructure on board rigs and vessels on the high 
seas.

•  Every fire and gas detection system is designed, engineered and built 
using tested and proven components from globally-renowned brands. 

•  These systems can be connected to other subsystems for greater 
integrated functionality.

•  Our systems can be customised to suit various environmental 
conditions and requirements, such as fixed configured hard-wired 
detectors and portable detectors.

Systems 
Technology
Risk-Centric 
Systems
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Marshal Systems provides customers with a broad 
spectrum of technically-superior “nerve centre” 
systems which facilitate total command and control of 
the people, equipment and infrastructure on board rigs 
and vessels on the high seas.

•  The sensitivity and reliability of controls system provide maximum 
clarity and accuracy for data feed, monitoring, reporting, and initiation 
of subsystems’ routines.

•  Wide connectivity and interoperability with other subsystems allows 
for efficient and centralised command and control.

•  Efficient and effective use of mechanical, electrical and electronics 
systems designed to maximise value.

•  Made with multiple redundancies mechanism to minimise risk of single 
point of failure.

Systems 
Technology
Dynamic 
Nerve Centre
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Marshal Systems provides customers with a full suite 
of communication systems designed for maximum 
coverage and uninterrupted connectivity on board rigs 
and vessels on the high seas. 

•  Solution engineered for maximum coverage using various 
communication media – voice, data, visual, mechanical, electronics, 
satellites, analog, digital and other streaming media.

•  Flexible design allows the solution system to be integrated into 
customers’ offshore and marine structures.

•  Wide range of products to cater to mass communications, point-to-
point communications, monitoring and navigation systems.

•  Ability to supply standalone items that complement customers’ third 
party solutions or complete end-to-end systems.

Systems 
Technology
Communication 
Automation Network  



32   
Viking Offshore and Marine Limited 

Annual Report 2011

In 2010, we outlined our strategy to integrate our 
business along three strategic thrusts:

•  Integrate geographically to accelerate the assimilation 
of people into our work culture and ethos

•  Streamline and standardise business processes to 
drive efficiency and minimise redundancies

•  Align our business modus operandi towards customer 
coverage and opportunity engagement

Becoming One

Integrate
3i Strategy
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We hope that this common working environment 
integrates our business by fostering teamwork and 
camaraderie in our people, and ultimately, a working 
community with shared values and aspirations.

We acquired a 133,000 square foot facility to house the offshore and 
marine business units under one roof. This facility is fully self-sufficient, 
complete with equipment storage facilities, office space, transportation 
services and even recreational facilities. 

Home of 
the Viking

21/23 Kian Teck Road
Singapore 628773
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Strength in 
Numbers

Maintaining a large pool of about 500 employees from 
diverse disciplines confers Viking with numerous 
strategic advantages.

For one, the sharing of best practices amongst various business 
teams would neither be practical nor feasible otherwise.

The size and diversity of the Group’s human resource base is crucial 
in creating a favourable environment for the cross-pollination of 
ideas as well as synergistic interactions within different business 
units. 

Our employees are also able to provide internal training and staff 
development programmes within the organisation. This ensures the 
availability of a skilled workforce at all times. 
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We have shifted from a product-centric business model 
to a market-centric business model. This paradigm 
shift has enabled Viking to present integrated solutions 
that transcend product categories and geographical 
boundaries to our valued customers.

This improved model applies to six targeted major markets where Viking 
is able to cross-sell and up-sell our diverse range of products and services 
to our customers.

Client 
Focused 
Coverage
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We believe in articulating clear and consistent 
messages about our value proposition.  

Through the effective use of different media channels, Viking presents 
itself as a singular brand, a brand that has become synonymous with 
quality and excellence. The use of common marketing collaterals via 
an integrated marketing communications platform within the Group is 
expected to bring about greater brand consistency as well as higher 
returns for our advertising dollar.

With the funding assistance from Spring Singapore, we have engaged 
a leading B2B Brand specialist, StrategiCom, to develop a strategic 
branding framework for the Group. This branding exercise will examine, 
validate and propose an overall brand architecture for Viking to harness 
and enhance the brand equity and congruence for the individual 
companies as well as the Group.

Multi-Brand 
One Voice
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By housing our people under one roof, we are able to 
deploy our resources more effectively, which in turn 
lowers our administrative cost. 

By sharing services such as a common IT infrastructure platform and 
financial functions, we are able to better manage our utilisation capacity 
and eliminate redundancies and inefficiencies. 

The streamlining of the back office support services also serves to give 
us better accountability of the business. On a side note, our non-core 
routine processing activities are outsourced, allowing us to enjoy greater 
economies of scale.

Shared 
Infrastructural 
Services
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Internationalise
3i Strategy

While Singapore yards continue to see order book 
growth, we are also seeing increasing prominence 
of other emerging markets. We aim to expand 
geographically to capitalise on the growth of these 
emerging markets in addition to enlarging our share of 
local orders.

Growing 
Abroad
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Marketing the Viking brand overseas brings us closer 
to potential new customers and partners in the supply 
chain. It also brings about the exchange of ideas with 
established industry players as well as opportunities 
for new business collaboration and partnership in 
Singapore and beyond.

To increase our visibility, we participated in 5 industry trade shows and 
exhibitions, generating almost 100 qualified leads and enquiries in the 
process. Our brand is also prominently featured in publications with an 
extensive overseas circulation. 

Promoting 
Viking 
Overseas



40   
Viking Offshore and Marine Limited 

Annual Report 2011

The growing prominence of emerging markets has 
presented excellent growth opportunities which we 
cannot overlook. Consequently, we have deployed our 
resources in seeking a foothold in these burgeoning 
markets. We are confident that exposure to these 
markets will yield significant returns in the long term.

With funding assistance from IE Singapore, we led a consortium under 
the i-Partners program to partake in opportunities in Brazil. We have 
also established our in-country presence in newly-targeted countries 
(Vietnam, Malaysia, and Indonesia) largely through our Overseas 
Marketing Office. 

Developing 
Overseas 
Markets
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Our on-ground operations of plants, fully-operated 
offices and satellite office contacts are supported by 
our extensive global service network with stations 
across every major city around the world.  

Our network of 2 plants, 9 offices, 4 satellite offices and 13 sales/service 
agencies gives our customers the confidence that their vessels or rigs 
will receive prompt attention regardless of their geographical location.

Leveraging 
Our Global 
Network

Plant / Offices

Satellite Offices / Service Agencies
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We have adopted a country-centric coverage structure 
in our operations. This structure allows us to offer 
holistic solutions that cut across product lines.

Our in-country sales channels have forged strategic alliances with 
third-party sales channels. We hope this initiative will enlarge our sales 
pipeline by helping us identify new prospects.

Coverage 
Expansion 
and 
Channels  
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International 
Business 
Portfolio

We are reaping early dividends from our 
internationalisation efforts in the emerging markets. We 
are also witnessing encouraging signs that our growth 
in these markets is sustainable.

The year-on-year growth in revenue from our overseas markets 
was 28%, a respectable achievement given the ‘soft landing’ that 
the Chinese economy is currently experiencing. Revenue growth in 
overseas markets ex-China was 156% for the same period. This result 
underscores the importance of ensuring that our expansion overseas 
remains well-diversified and broad-based in nature.
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Other
Business
Segments

Apart from being one of the leaders in the provision of 
integrated solutions to the offshore and marine sector, we also 
have other businesses. 

•  Distribution: Chuan Seng Leong (“CSL”) is major player in 
the distributorship of a variety of renowned brands in the fast 
moving consumer goods (“FMCG”) industry across a wide 
network of retailers in Singapore. 

•  Retail: Shine @ Spring is proud to be Singapore’s homegrown 
brand of beauty care chain stores which provides a dazzling 
array of beauty essentials and healthcare products. Through 
continuous product innovations, we have developed our 
very own brand of cosmetics and skincare products named 
Kitoko Kalani.

•  Asset Management: The Group also conducts asset 
investment and management activities, including a portfolio  
of quoted equities as well as real estate assets.

Distribution,
Retail and
Asset 
Management
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Distribution made efficient

Into its 36th year of business, CSL is now a leader in the 
distributorship of international household and personal 
care brands across a wide retail network of close to 
1,500 retailers.  

The brand principals have strong confidence in our CSL business 
team, who possess decades of experience in the FMCG distribution 
business. Through a cost-efficient logistic management system, the 
team is constantly increasing their distributorship channels islandwide 
to various major supermarkets, hypermarkets and retail shops, 
representing a 15% year-on-year growth in retail base.

Today, the company continues to strive towards maintaining itself as a 
major player in the FMCG distribution, expanding both its retail network 
and range of consumer essential products.

Distribution 
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The business of beauty

Shine @ Spring is every beauty-enthusiast’s dream 
of a one-stop beauty essentials shop, boasting a wide 
selection of luxury to over-the-counter beauty brands.

Located at five convenient heartland locations in Singapore, we are 
easily accessible to customers who want to buy their favourite brand of 
beauty essentials or healthcare products at reasonable prices. What’s 
more, our recently launched Beauté Spring online store offers a full 
range of beauty and skincare products handpicked and imported  from 
Japan, Korea and Taiwan. 

Our flagship in-house brand Kitoko Kalani is customised to suit Asian 
skin, and has been gaining popularity among local consumers after a 
successful branding campaign.  With a passion for Beauty, the brand 
continues to innovate in order to offer consumers a myriad of beauty 
care products at affordable prices.

Retail

•  Toa Payoh 
    Blk 183 Toa Payoh Central #01-272  
  Tel: 6251 5535

• Ang Mo Kio 
   Blk 705 Ang Mo Kio Ave 8 #01-2575 
  Tel: 6552 6883

• Bedok Central 
   Blk 208 New Upper Changi Rd #01-671 
  Tel: 6444 4544

• West Mall 1 
    Bukit Batok Central Link #02-20 
  Tel: 6862 2004

• Bugis 
  Bugis Village 247 Victoria Street #01-247 
  Tel: 6333 0535
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Asset 
Management

Rebalancing our portfolio

We have divested our sizeable exposure in quoted 
equities as part of our asset reallocation strategy. 
This reduces the volatility in the Group’s investment 
portfolio.

In FY2011, the Group successfully executed our exit strategy for some 
of our quoted equity investments at a gain. In addition, we acquired 
an industrial property at Kian Teck Road which is 45% higher in asset 
value compared to acquired cost. We have since housed all of our staff 
and business units there under one roof as part of our 3i-strategy. 

To generate higher returns on the property investment, the management 
is in preliminary discussions with other partners to extend the build-up, 
thereby maximising the return on unutilised plot-ratio. The proposed 
new build is estimated to be 150% bigger than the existing facility. The 
expansion will include an enterprise hub housing high value-added 
business activities, including research and development, for the O&M 
market.

* Artist impression of the proposed new facility.

Existing Facility

Proposed New Extension
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All Aboard.
We are committed,
we are together,
and we are ready.
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INTRODUCTION

Viking Offshore and Marine Limited (“VOM” or the “Company” or the “Group”) is firmly committed to observing and 
maintaining high standards of corporate governance in compliance with the principles and guidelines set out in the 
Code of Corporate Governance 2005 (“Code 2005”). The Company believes that its corporate conduct and growth 
must be supported by well-defined policies, transparent and consistent processes, a system of stringent internal 
checks and controls, and accountability.

Guided by the Code 2005, VOM adheres and apply them in both substance and form, and continually seek to 
modify, improve and keep current to its ever-changing business dynamics. The Company believes that only in doing 
so, Shareholders’ interests are safeguarded, and the Company is better able to deliver its longer-term strategic 
commitments of maximizing shareholder value and returns.

To attain this aim, our well-diversified and qualified Board works closely with our experienced Management, drawing 
upon close adherence to the principles and guidelines prescribed in the Code 2005, and other applicable rules and 
regulations.

This Report sets out our corporate governance framework and practices with specific reference to guidelines set out 
in the Code 2005.

BOARD MATTERS

Principle 1: Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the company. The Board is collectively 
responsible for the success of the company. The Board works with Management to achieve this and the Management 
remains accountable to the Board.

The Board sets the benchmark and is responsible for VOM’s corporate governance standards and policies. Its 
leadership responsibilities entail oversight on the Group’s business performance and operating and financial affairs, 
providing entrepreneurial leadership, setting its strategic direction and performance objectives, and setting long term 
goals for VOM and high standards of corporate governance. Specifically, the principal functions of the Board are to:

1. Approve the corporate direction and strategy of the Company and monitor the performance of the Management;

2. Approve the nomination of directors and appointment of key managerial personnel;

3. Approve the annual budget, major funding proposals and investment proposals, and ensuring the necessary 
financial and human resources are in place for the Company to meet its objectives;

4. Establish a framework of prudent and effective controls which enable risks to be properly assessed and 
managed;

5. Review the financial performance and necessary reporting compliance;

6. Set Company values and standards, and ensure that obligations to shareholders and other stakeholders are 
understood and met; and
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7. Assume responsibility for corporate governance.

Each director brings his skills, expertise, experience, insights and sound judgment to the Board, and individually and 
collectively, considers and acts in the best interest of VOM and its Shareholders at all times. Whilst doing so, the 
Board also sees to it that Management conducts business and affairs of the VOM Group with integrity and enterprise, 
in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and with the ultimate aim of enhancing shareholder value and 
achieving sustainable growth for the Group. As at 31 December 2011, the composition of the Board is as follows:

1. Mr Lim Andy, Chairman and Executive Director
2. Mr Ong Choo Guan, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
3. Mr Woo Peng Kong, Executive Director
4. Mr Lien Kait Long, Independent Director
5. Mr Tan Wee Peng Kelvin, Independent Director
6. Mr Lee Suan Hiang, Independent Director
7. Mr Lin Wei Daniel, Non-Executive Director

Delegation of Authority on certain Board Matters

To assist the Board to effectively discharge its oversight duties and functions, it delegates specific areas of 
responsibilities to three Board Committees namely; the Audit Committee, the Nominating Committee, and the 
Remuneration Committee, each of which is governed by clear terms of reference which have been approved by the 
Board. Minutes of all Board Committee meetings are circulated to Board members so that they are kept abreast of 
proceedings and matters discussed at such meetings. To address and manage possible conflicts of interest that may 
arise between Directors’ interests and those of the Group, the Company has put in place appropriate procedures 
including requiring such Directors to refrain from participating in meetings or discussions (or relevant segments 
thereof), in addition to abstaining from voting, on any matter in which they are so interested or conflicted.

The Board has delegated the day-to-day operations to the Management while reserving key matters for Board 
approval. Key functions include approving the consolidated financial statements for the Group, conflict of interest 
checks for directors, disposal of assets, strategic planning and material acquisitions, share issuances, dividends, 
and matters which require Board approval as specified under the Company’s Interested Person Transaction Policy.
In addition, the Company also appoints a Director to the Chairman position for each of the key subsidiaries. These 
are non-executive appointment and serves as the conduit between the Company’s Board and the subsidiary’s Board 
primarily for oversight in performance management as well as ensuring additional covers for corporate governance. 
As at 31 December 2011, the Directors holding Chairman appointment at the subsidiary Board are:

1. Mr Lee Suan Hiang, Chairman of Viking Airtech Pte Ltd
2. Mr Woo Peng Kong, Chairman of Promoter Hydraulics Pte Ltd
3. Mr Tan Wee Peng Kelvin, Chairman of Marshal Systems Pte Ltd 
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Meetings of the Board and Board Committees

The Board convenes regularly for scheduled meetings and any ad-hoc meetings are arranged when required; to 
review the key activities, financial performance, business plans, corporate strategies, potential acquisitions and 
divestments, and significant operational and/or management matters of the Group. During Board meetings, our 
Directors actively participate, discuss, deliberate and appraise the matters requiring its attention and decision. If 
Directors are unable to attend Board meetings physically, such meetings may be conducted via telephone, video 
conference or any other form of electronic or instantaneous communications.

The Directors, who are also Chairman of the subsidiary’s Board are given direct and full access to the Management 
team of the Group’s three main subsidiaries through scheduled monthly subsidiary Board meetings.

The number of Board meetings and Board Committee meetings held in the current financial year and the attendance 
of Directors at these meetings are as follows:

Attendance of Board Members Board
Audit 

Committee
Nominating 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Meetings held during the financial year 
ended 31 December 2011

4 4 2 1

Mr Lim Andy 4 NA NA NA
Mr Ong Choo Guan 4 NA NA NA
Mr Woo Peng Kong (1) 4 NA 1 1
Mr Chong Hon Kuan Ivan (2) 2 NA NA NA
Mr Lien Kait Long 4 4 NA 1
Mr Tan Wee Peng Kelvin 3 3 2 1
Mr Lee Suan Hiang 4 4 2 NA
Mr Lin Wei Daniel (3) 2 NA - -

Notes:
(1) Mr Woo Peng Kong was redesignated from an Independent Director to an Executive Director on 15 October 

2011. Accordingly, he also stepped down from all the Board Committees on the same day.
(2) Mr Chong Hon Kuan Ivan resigned from the Board on 13 May 2011. 
(3) Mr Lin Wei Daniel was appointed to the Board on 13 May 2011. He was appointed to the Nominating Committee 

and Remuneration Committee on 15 October 2011. 

Upon appointment, each new Director is put through an orientation program to familiarise new Directors with the 
Group’s business activities, strategic directions, policies, major impending projects as well as corporate governance 
practices of the Group. In addition, new Directors are also encouraged to attend the relevant courses and programs 
from the Singapore Institute of Directors (“SID”) to be acquainted with the role and responsibilities of a director in the 
context of a listed company.

Directors are continually and regularly updated on the Group’s businesses and the regulatory and industry-specific 
environments in which the entities of the Group operate. Updates on relevant legal, regulatory and accounting 
developments may be in writing or disseminated by way of briefings or presentations. In addition, the Audit Committee 
Chairman will regularly keep the Board abreast of changes and development within the accounting and financial 
reporting areas. During the year, briefings were also conducted for the Board and some directors also attended 
external briefings on the director’s disclosure obligations, recent developments in the laws on insider trading, and 
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the proposed changes to Code 2005 by the regulators. The Company also encourages the Directors to be members 
of the SID, and for them to receive regular journal updates and training from SID to stay abreast and be apprised of 
developments in financial, legal, regulatory requirements, and the business environment.

Principle 2: Board Composition and Guidance

There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to exercise objective judgment on 
corporate affairs independently, in particular, from Management. No individual or small group of individuals should 
be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision making.

The Board comprises seven members, and for a large part of the year 2011 (9 months) having a clear majority being 
independent directors. Current as at the date of this report, the number of independent directors is still more than 
one-third composition of the Board. The Company conducts an annual review of the size and composition of the 
Board to ensure that both aspects continue to meet the needs of the Group in managing the business as well as 
maintaining a strong independent element within the composition of the Board. The Board will continuously review 
this with a view to enhance corporate governance practices in tandem to proposed changes to Code 2005.

The Nominating Committee is of the view that the current size and composition is appropriate and conducive to 
the scope and nature of the Group’s business, and for facilitating effective exchanges and decision making. There 
exists active participation and engagement among the Directors in often dynamic and stimulating exchanges of 
views and opinions at both the Committee and Board meetings. No individual or group within the Board dominates 
or is able to dominate the discussion process and decision making. The Board proactively seeks to maintain a 
balanced mix of experiences, competences, and attributes among the Directors, and this is reflected in the diversity 
of the Board composition in terms of background and competencies. Such experiences and competencies include 
finance and accounting, sales and marketing, strategic planning, investment management, and other relevant 
industry knowledge, entrepreneurial and management experience, and familiarity with regulatory requirements and 
risk management. The Management is provided with full and direct access to the Board which also actively provides 
guidance and a broad range of views and perspectives.

On an annual basis, the Directors are each required to provide information on their current shareholding interests, 
areas of conflicts (if any), directorship in other companies; and declare their independence (for Independent Directors) 
and time commitment towards discharging of their responsibilities. The Nominating Committee will determine the 
independence of each Director based on the definitions and guidelines of independence set out in Code 2005. In 
respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2011, the Nominating Committee is satisfied with the independent 
status of the Independent Directors and the independent element on the Board is maintained.

The duties and responsibilities of the executive directors are clearly set out in their service agreements. The Company 
has an on-going budget for all directors to receive relevant training. Board members are encouraged to attend 
seminars and receive training in connection with their duties as directors in areas such as accounting and legal 
knowledge, particularly on latest developments to relevant laws, regulations and accounting standards.

Principle 3: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

There should be a clear division of responsibilities at the top of the company – the working of the Board and the 
executive responsibility of the company’s business – which will ensure a balance of power and authority, such that 
no one individual represents a considerable concentration of power.
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The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) positions are held by separate individuals. This is so that 
an appropriate balance of power and authority, with clear divisions of responsibilities and accountability, can be 
attained. This segregation of roles also facilitates a healthy, open exchange of views and opinions between the 
Board and Management in their deliberation of the business, strategic plans and key activities of the Company. The 
Chairman is not related to the CEO.

The Chairman bears the primary responsibility for the workings of the Board, ensuring its effective function and 
sets its agenda. He also ensures that the Board meetings are held whenever necessary; the Directors receive 
accurate, clear and timely information, encourages constructive relations between management and the Board, as 
well as between Executive and non-Executive Directors and facilitates the effective contribution of non-executive 
Directors; and ensures effective communication with shareholders. The Chairman also plays an instrumental role in 
charting corporate directions and strategies, developing business for the Group and providing the Group with strong 
leadership and vision. He is responsible for promoting high standards of corporate governance.

The CEO is primarily responsible for the day-to-day management of the operations and performance of the 
Group; and reports to the Board on the Group’s operations and performance. He has overall responsibility for the 
organisational effectiveness and the implementation of policies and decisions of the Board. The CEO works closely 
with the Chairman on formulating the Group’s operational strategies and matters to be tabled at the Board level.

The presence of a strong, independent and active participation of the Independent Directors ensures the proper 
functioning of the Board and good check and balance. All major decisions made by the Chairman and CEO are 
reviewed by the Audit Committee. Their performance and appointment to the Board is reviewed by the Nominating 
Committee and their remuneration packages are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee periodically. Both the 
Nominating Committee and Remuneration Committee comprise the Non-Executive Directors. As such, the Board 
believes that there are adequate safety measures in place against an uneven concentration of power and authority, 
and Chairman and CEO do not have unfettered powers of decisions.

Principle 4: Board Membership

There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment of new directors to the Board.

Nominating Committee

The majority (being two-thirds) of the members of this Committee, including the Chairman, are independent 
non-executive Directors. The Nominating Committee (“NC”) comprises:

1. Mr Lee Suan Hiang Independent Director Chairman
2. Mr Tan Wee Peng Kelvin Independent Director Member
3. Mr Lin Wei Daniel Non-Executive Director Member

The NC is guided by the Terms of Reference approved by the Board and set out the duties and responsibilities of 
this committee. The NC’s principal functions are to:

1. Establish procedures for and make recommendations to the Board on all Board and Committees appointments;

2. Determine orientation programs for new Directors, and recommend opportunities for the continued training of 
the Directors;
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3.  Review and make recommendations to the Board for the re-nomination of Directors, taking into consideration 
the individual director’s contribution and performance. The NC is able to determine if a Director has adequately 
and is able to continue carrying out his/her duties as a director of the Company. Internal guidelines have been 
set in place to address the competing time commitments faced when directors serve on multiple boards;

4. Assess a Director’s independence annually, bearing in mind the relevant provisions of the Code 2005 and all 
other salient factors;

5. Review the size and composition of the Board with the objective of achieving a balanced Board with a proper 
mix of experience and expertise;

6. Recommend to the Board the performance criteria and processes for appraisals to be used for the evaluation 
of individual Directors, as well as the effectiveness of the Board as a whole; The criteria and processes are 
subject to the Board’s approval; and

7. Review the appointment of relatives of directors and/or substantial shareholders to managerial positions.

In its annual review, the NC evaluate and affirm the independent status of the directors having considered the 
guidelines set out in the Code 2005. The NC has confirmed the status of the non-executive Directors of the Company 
as follows:

1. Mr Lee Suan Hiang Independent
2.  Mr Tan Wee Peng Kelvin Independent
3.  Mr Lien Kait Long Independent
4.  Mr Lin Wei Daniel Non-Independent

Although some of the Directors have multiple Board memberships, the NC has considered and is satisfied that each 
of them is able to and has adequately carried out his duties as a Director of the Company.

The Company’s Articles of Association (“Articles”) provides that at least one-third of its Directors shall retire from 
office and are subject to re-election at every Annual General Meeting (“AGM”). All Directors are required to retire 
from office at least once every three years. The NC is satisfied that the Directors who are retiring in accordance with 
the Articles at the forthcoming AGM are properly qualified for re-appointment by virtue of their skills, experience and 
contribution. Newly appointed Directors must also submit themselves for retirement and re-election at the next AGM 
immediately following their appointment. The shareholders approve the appointment or re-appointment of Board 
members at the AGM.

Description of Nominating Process of New Directors

The search and nominating process for new directors involves a review of the existing size and composition of the 
Board. In such reviews, the NC endeavours to ensure that the size of the Board is adequate and not unwieldy to 
interfere with efficiency in decision-making; and the composition of the Board is appropriately diverse with views 
and opinions for discussion and decision-making. The NC considers factors such as the ability of the potential 
candidate to contribute to discussions, deliberations and activities of the Board. In addition, the relevant experience, 
qualification, competence and attributes of the prospective candidates were evaluated in considering their 
appointment to the Board. In doing so, where necessary and appropriate, the NC may rely on its networking contacts 
and/or recommendations from fellow Board members to assist with identifying and shortlisting of candidates.
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Key Information regarding Directors

Key information of the Board members is set out in the “Board of Directors” section of this Annual Report.

Principle 5: Board Performance

There should be formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution by each 
director to the effectiveness of the Board.

The Board has established and implemented a formal process for assessing the effectiveness of the Board collectively 
and individually. Annually, the NC will lead the Board effectiveness review through an open face-to-face meeting 
where each predetermined attribute and criteria is discussed and challenged rigorously to reach a consensus on the 
assessment. Each of the attributes will be scored and instances are cited to demonstrate and substantiate against 
each attribute score as evidential support. Quantitative and qualitative factors are considered in developing the 
attributes which includes areas of evaluation with respect to Board functions, Board meetings, Board structure and 
communication. In addition, the Board is also measured on its effectiveness in formulating strategic plans for the 
Management and monitoring the progress and performance against the set objectives. The Board committees are 
also evaluated for their effectiveness against their respective terms of reference.

When considering the re-appointment of any director, the NC evaluates the performance of the director, with the 
aim of determining the director’s ability to continue to contribute effectively and demonstrate commitment to the 
role. This assessment will be done on an annual basis. The criteria adopted in the assessment includes whether the 
director will continue to demonstrate commitment to the role (including commitment of time for Board and Committee 
meetings, intensity of participation at meetings and special contributions).

Principle 6: Access to Information

In order to fulfill their responsibilities, Board members should be provided with complete, adequate and timely 
information prior to Board meetings and on an on-going basis.

In order for the Board to make an informed decision and to facilitate meaningful deliberated discussions during 
meetings of the Board and Board Committees, Management provides the Board with adequate and timely information 
on matters which require the Board’s decision or approval, or which the Board should have knowledge of. These 
include reports relating to the financial and operational performance of the Company, which are circulated to the 
Board prior to its meetings. Information provided also include background or explanatory information relating to 
matters to be brought before the Board, copies of disclosure documents, budgets, forecasts and internal financial 
statements. In respect of budgets, any material variance between the projections and actual results should also 
be disclosed and explained. For decisions and/or resolutions required on major business plans, the Management 
provides the Board with detailed Board papers, specifying relevant information and justifications for each proposal 
for which the Board approval is sought. Such information include relevant historical financial information coupled 
with future forecasts, opportunities and risk analyses, mitigation plans, and other key integral commercial issues 
requiring Board focus. In addition, the Board receives from Senior Management quarterly management accounts 
which present a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s performance, position and prospects. 
Besides the provide of such information to the Board, Senior Management also conduct presentations to discuss the 
information and encourage active exchanges of views and sharing.
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Attendance of Senior Management is also required at Board meetings to discuss business units’ performances and 
outlook, challenges, future key business initiatives, and provide additional insights into matters being discussed 
or respond to queries arising out of these meetings. In addition to Board meetings, the Board also has separate, 
independent and direct access to the Company’s executive management team and the Company Secretary. The 
Audit Committee members are also provided uninterrupted access to the Company’s Corporate Sponsor, External 
and Internal Auditors. Some of the Directors, including Independent Directors are appointed Chairman of the Group’s 
subsidiaries; and in this regard able to keep current and be apprised of the developments within the subsidiaries 
and the Group.

The Company Secretary attends all Board meetings, ensures that Board procedures are complied with, and provides 
guidance on corporate governance, and on legal and statutory compliance. Under the direction of the Chairman, 
the Company Secretary ensures that Board procedures and applicable rules and regulations are complied with. 
She also acts as a channel of communications for information flow and dissemination to and within the Board and 
its Committees, as well as between senior Management and non-executive Directors, and consolidates Directors’ 
feedback and evaluation.

The minutes of all Board meetings are circulated to the Board for review. The Directors have separate and independent 
access to the Company Secretary. The Board reviews and determines the appointment and removal of the Company 
Secretary. The Directors, whether collectively or individually, may, at the expense of the Company, seek and obtain 
independent professional advice necessary to discharge their duties effectively.

REMUNERATION MATTERS

Principle 7: Policy for Developing Remuneration Policies

There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on executive remuneration and for fixing 
the remuneration packages of individual directors. No director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.

Remuneration Committee

There is a formal and transparent procedure in place for developing policy on executive remuneration and for fixing 
the remuneration packages of each Director. Directors are not involved in deciding his own remuneration. The 
Remuneration Committee (“RC”) comprise entirely of non-executive Directors, the majority of whom, including the 
Chairman, are Independent Directors. The RC also provides oversight on executive Management’s remuneration 
packages and policy framework. The RC comprises of the following members:

1. Mr Tan Wee Peng Kelvin Independent Director Chairman
2.  Mr Lee Suan Hiang Independent Director Member
3.  Mr Lin Wei Daniel Non-Executive Director Member

The principal duties and responsibilities of the RC are to: 

a. Recommend for the entire Board’s approval an appropriate framework for remuneration (including but 
not limited to director’s fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options, and benefits in kind), and specific 
remuneration packages, of the Board and senior management to ensure that it is competitive and sufficient 
to attract, retain and motivate personnel of the required quality;
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b. Determine the policy for establishing the remuneration packages for executive directors and the CEO (or 
equivalent) and review the service contracts of such employees;

c.  Review the performance of key senior managers to enable the committee to determine their annual 
remuneration, bonus rewards, etc.

d.  Ensure accountability and transparency in the Company’s policies and procedures when determining the 
remuneration of the Directors and senior management; and

e.  Review all matters concerning the remuneration of non-executive directors to ensure that the remuneration is 
commensurate with the contribution and responsibilities of the directors.

The RC reviews the performance objectives (including weightage between quantitative financial performance 
figures as well as qualitative business development and management attributes). Directors’ fees are set according 
to remuneration framework. All non-executive Directors are paid Directors’ fees, subject to approval at the AGM. 

The RC may, from time to time, and where necessary or required, seek advice from external consultants in designing 
the remuneration framework and policies, and fixing the remuneration packages of individual Directors and 
executive Management of the Company. This is to ensure that competitive compensation and progressive policies, 
with appropriate mix of short and long term incentives, are in place to attract, retain and motivate competent and 
committed Management.

Principle 8: Level and Mix of Remuneration

The level of remuneration should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the directors needed to run the 
company successfully but companies should avoid paying more than is necessary for this purpose. A significant 
proportion of executive directors’ remuneration should be structured so as to link rewards to corporate and individual 
performance.

In making its recommendations to the Board on the level and mix of remuneration, the Remuneration Committee 
seeks to be competitive in order to attract, motivate and retain high-performing executives with to drive the Group’s 
businesses whilst operating within the Group’s risk parameters, so as to maximise long-term shareholder value. In 
its deliberation of remuneration level and mix, the RC takes into consideration industry practices and benchmarks 
against relevant industry players as well as comparable positional responsibilities to ensure that its remuneration 
practices are competitive. The Company adopts a performance-driven and meritocratic approach to compensation, 
with rewards linked to individual and corporate performance to align interests of Management with those of 
Shareholders.

The Company’s remuneration framework comprises a fixed component in the form of a basic salary, a variable 
component linked to the performance of the individual and the Company, and a long-term incentive. The executive 
Director’s and executive Management’s service contract is for a fixed period which is not excessively long. It also 
does not contain onerous removal clauses.

Long Term Incentive Plans

The RC also administers the Company’s share-based remuneration incentive plans; namely, the Viking Long Term 
Incentive Plan (“VLTP”), and the Viking Offshore and Marine Limited Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”).
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Through the VLTP and ESOS, the Company aims to foster a greater ownership culture within the Group by more 
directly aligning the interests and rewards of key executives with the interest of the shareholders, and to participate 
and share in the Group’s growth and success.

Under the terms of the ESOS and VLTP, all employees of the Group companies are eligible to participate in the 
incentive scheme, the Company plans to use these incentive schemes towards the remuneration mix of senior 
Management and senior executives. This will afford the Company greater flexibility and effectiveness in designing 
compensation packages in its efforts to attract, motivate and retain valued talented senior executives and to also 
reward them for the performance of the Company and that of the individual.

While the Company intends to use ESOS towards efforts to retain talented senior executives and Management, 
the VLTP is geared towards motivating senior executives and Management towards achievement of target-based 
performance objectives. The VLTP targets senior management in key positions who shoulder the responsibility 
of the Company’s performance as well as influence the growth and performance of the Company through high 
performance. It also serves as motivation to key senior Management in delivering high performance and aligning to 
enhancing longer-term shareholder value.

Under the VLTP, most of the grants of shares award will be conditional upon the achievement of pre-determined and 
agreed performance targets for the year for the individuals or collective group of individuals. Such share award is 
expected to be vested and exercised over a two or three year period depending on the quantum of shares award. 
These shares awards represent individual’s right to receive fully-paid shares of the Company when and if their 
predetermined conditions have been met. The number of shares to be released will vary with the achievement level 
of the individual employee.

In using the ESOS towards the retention of talented employees, the grants of option award is made based on 
the retention value assessed on the individual on which the options were granted. There are no predetermined 
performance targets on which the award is conditional upon, these options are expected to vest after twelve (12) 
months and exercisable within sixty (60) months from date of grant. 

The maximum number of Company’s shares which can be released under the combined limits of both the VLTP and 
ESOS will not exceed ten percent (10%) of the issued share capital of the Company.

Principle 9: Disclosure on Remuneration

Each company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policy, level and mix of remuneration, and the 
procedure for setting remuneration in the company’s annual report. It should provide disclosure in relation to its 
remuneration policies to enable investors to understand the link between remuneration paid to directors and key 
executives, and performance.

Remuneration of Directors and Key Executives

The remuneration of Directors and the key executives (who are not also Directors) of the Group, is set out below.
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Directors’ Remuneration

 Fee Salary Bonus Allowance
Between $500,001 and $750,000
Mr Lim Andy - 77% 10% 13%
Between $250,001 and $500,000
Mr Ong Choo Guan - 89% 11% -
Less than $250,000
Mr Woo Peng Kong (1) 43% 53% - 4%
Mr Chong Hon Kuan Ivan (2) - 100% - -
Mr Lien Kait Long 100% - - -
Mr Tan Wee Peng Kelvin 100% - - -
Mr Lee Suan Hiang 100% - - -
Mr Lin Wei Daniel (3) 100% - - -

Notes:
(1) Mr Woo Peng Kong was redesignated from an Independent Director to an Executive Director on 15 October 

2011.
(2) Mr Chong Hon Kuan Ivan resigned from the Board on 13 May 2011. 
(3) Mr Lin Wei Daniel was appointed to the Board on 13 May 2011. 

The director fees for all the Directors are pro-rated according to their appointment date for the year.

The remuneration of the top 5 executives that are not Directors of the Company falls within the following remuneration 
band: 

Top 5 Executives’ Remuneration

Number of Executives Fee Salary Bonus Allowance
Between $250,001 and $500,000
Ng Yeau Chong - 81% 19% -
Tay Mong Seng Jeffrey - 93% 7% -
Less than $250,000
Low Jooi Kok - 80% 10% 10%
Ong Li Yi Jason - 90% 5% 5%
Lee Lai Chuan - 73% 14% 13%

Save as disclosed above, there are no employees who are immediate family members of a director or the CEO, and 
whose remuneration exceeds S$150,000 during the year.

Directors’ Fees

The remuneration of non-executive Directors takes into account their level and quality of contribution and their 
respective responsibilities, including committees’ appointment holder, attendance and time spent at Board and/or 
Committee meetings. Directors are paid basic and attendance fees for attending Board meetings. Non-executive 
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Directors who serve on the respective Board Committees are paid additional basic and attendance fees for such 
services. Directors who assume Chairmanship appointment at the subsidiary level are paid an advisory fee by 
the subsidiary for performing such services. The Directors’ fees are pro-rated according to their appointment and 
retirement date for the year, where applicable. No Director decides his own fees. Our current Board fee structure is 
set out below.

Fees ($)
Board of Directors
● Non-Executive Directors 20,000
● Attendance at Board Meetings (per meeting) 1,000
Board Committees
● Audit Committee Chairman 10,000
● Audit Committee Member 5,000
● Nominating and Remuneration Committee Chairman 5,000
● Nominating and Remuneration Committee Member 3,000
Subsidiary Board
● Non-Executive Chairman 30,000

To ensure competitiveness, the Company conducts periodic reviews of Directors’ remuneration to benchmark its 
Directors’ fees against the amounts paid by other comparable listed companies. Following the review, it is proposed 
that adjustments be made to the Board Committee’s fee quantum with effect from the next financial year as set out 
below. There will be no change to the current Board basic fees and attendance fees.

Current 
Basic Fee ($)

Proposed 
Basic Fee ($)

Audit Committee

Chairman 10,000 12,000
Member 5,000 6,000
Nominating & Remuneration Committee 

Chairman 5,000 10,000
Member 3,000 5,000

It remains the practice of the Company to pay Directors’ fees throughout the year during their respective tenure of 
service. In this regard, the Company will be seeking shareholders’ approval at the AGM of the Company on 30 April 
2012, for the payment of Directors’ fees proposed for the financial year ending 31 December 2012 amounting to 
$230,000 (2011: $224,000).

For better alignment with shareholders’ interest, Directors and key executives of the Company are encouraged to 
purchase the Company’s shares from the open market and to hold such shares on a long term basis, subject to their 
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. Independent Directors may purchase and hold Company’s shares 
provided their independence remain uncompromised during the period and at any point in time. All shareholdings 
of the Company’s shares by Directors and key executives will be declared in a timely manner and fully disclosed in 
compliance with regulations and reporting requirements.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Principle 10: Accountability 

The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the company’s performance, position and 
prospects.

The Company prepares its financial statements in accordance with the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
(“SFRS”) prescribed by the Accounting Standards Council. Effective 1 January 2011, the Company disseminates 
quarterly, half-year and full-year financial results and other related material information of the Group to Shareholders 
via announcements to the SGX-ST and, where appropriate, press releases, and media and analyst briefings. In 
communicating and disseminating its results, the Company aims to present a balanced and clear assessment of 
the Group’s performance, position and prospects. In addition, where appropriate and necessary, details on the 
Group’s diverse business operations are also discussed to provide shareholders and public with clarity and better 
understanding of its business portfolio.

Principle 11: Audit Committee

The Board should establish an Audit Committee with written terms of reference which clearly set out its authority 
and duties.

On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee (“AC”) undertakes the monitoring and review of the system of internal 
controls. Amongst others, the primary responsibilities are to assist the Board in providing oversight over the Company’s 
performance in areas of internal controls, financial and accounting practices, operational and compliance controls, 
and corporate and financial risk management. Significant findings are reported to the Board and recommended 
remedial plans implemented towards improving overall controls and risk management posture of the Company.

The AC is guided by established Terms of Reference endorsed by the Board which sets out its duties and 
responsibilities. It is fully empowered to investigate any matter within the Terms of Reference, and has full access 
to and the cooperation of the Management, as well as the full discretion to invite any Director or executive officers 
of the Management to attend its meetings, or provide such information/documents as it may require, and assist in 
its investigation.

The AC comprises the following non-executive Directors:

1. Mr Lien Kait Long Independent Director Chairman
2. Mr Tan Wee Peng Kelvin Independent Director Member
3. Mr Lee Suan Hiang Independent Director Member

All the members of the AC, including the Chairman, are non-executive Independent Directors. The members of the 
AC possess the necessary and appropriate attributes and qualifications. Their individual and collective wealth of 
experience and expertise on accounting and financial management enables them to effectively carry out their duties 
and discharge their responsibilities competently. The Board is satisfied that the AC has reasonable resources and 
competencies to perform its functions and to provide effective oversight over the Group’s internal controls and risk 
management. 
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The principal duties, responsibilities and activities of the AC are to: 

1. Review the audit plans of the internal and external auditors of the Company and ensure the adequacy of the 
Group’s system of accounting controls and the co-operation given by the Company’s management to the 
external and internal auditors;

2. Review the quarterly, half-yearly and annual financial statements and the auditors’ report of the Group and 
the Company before submitting to the Board of Directors; such reviews will also include the review of the 
significant financial reporting issues and judgments so as to ensure the integrity of the financial statements of 
the Company and any formal announcements relating to the Group’s financial performance;

3. Review, at least annually, with the management and the internal auditor the adequacy of the Group’s 
internal financial controls, operational and compliance controls, and risk management policies and systems 
established by the management;

4. Reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function; including the audit plans for 
the year;

5. Review legal and regulatory matters that may have a material impact on the financial statements, related 
compliance policies and programs and any reports received from regulators;

6. Review the cost effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of the external auditors;

7. Review the nature and extent of non-audit services provided by the external auditors;

8. Review the currency of the whistle-blowing policies and the reported incidents, including the appropriate 
investigations and ensuring appropriate follow-up actions, where necessary;

9. Making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external 
auditor, and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor; and

10. Review interested person transactions in accordance with the requirements of the listing rules of the Singapore 
Exchange.

The AC also meets with internal and external auditors without the presence of the Management at every half-yearly 
intervals to obtain feedback on the competency and adequacy of the finance function and to ascertain if there 
are any material weakness in control efficiencies in the Group’s financial reporting and operational systems. 
Besides scheduled meeting, the external auditors and the AC Chairman have direct and open access channels of 
communication.

The AC confirms that the Company and the Group complies with Catalist Listing Rule 712, 715 and 716.

The AC reviews and makes recommendations to the Board for approval by shareholders, the appointment,  
re-appointment and removal of the Company’s external auditors. It also reviews and approves the remuneration 
and terms of engagement of the external auditors. The AC also reviews the independence of the external auditor 
annually. Having reviewed all non-audit services provided by the external auditors to the Group, the AC is satisfied 
that the nature and extent of such services would not affect the independence of the external auditors. During the 
year, the Company pays no more than S$70,000 to the Company auditors for all non-audit related services, and this 
primarily relates to consulting on corporate taxation matters.
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The AC also conducts a review of Interested Person Transactions (“IPT”) to ensure that there are no improper 
activities of the Company. The Company do not have any IPT that are entered into pursuant to shareholders’ mandate 
approved at the AGM. Accordingly, the AC is satisfied that there are no material IPTs which warrant disclosure or 
further discussion, and there are no impropriety in this area.

Code of Conduct

The Directors, officers and employees of the Company are required to observe, uphold and maintain high standards 
of integrity and propriety in carrying out their roles and responsibilities, and to comply with applicable laws and 
regulations as well as the Group’s human resource and finance processes. Similarly, such behaviour and conduct is 
expected of our employees in their dealings with fellow employees, customers, suppliers and business associates.
The Company has in place a whistle-blowing framework where employees of the Company may raise concerns 
about possible corporate improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters in confidence. To ensure an 
independent investigation of such matters and appropriate follow-up action is taken, all whistle-blowing reports are 
sent to the AC Chairman and/or members who are also Independent Directors. Details of Whistle-Blowing policy and 
arrangements have been made available to all employees. As a step-up to its corporate governance initiative, during 
the year, the Company made further enhancements to the Whistle-blowing policy and framework which incorporated 
greater areas of reportable impropriety and clarity, including foreign language translation to embrace a greater ethnic 
composition of its employee population.

Principle 12: Internal Controls

The Board should ensure that the Management maintains a sound system of internal controls to safeguard the 
Shareholders’ investments and the company’s assets.

The AC reviews the Group’s system of internal controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls, 
and risk management policies and systems established by Management. This ensures that such system is sound 
and adequate to provide reasonable assurance of the integrity, effectiveness and efficiency of the Company in 
safeguarding Shareholders’ investments and the Company’s assets.

The Board notes that no system of internal control can provide absolute assurance against the occurrence of material 
errors, poor judgments in decision-making, human error, fraud or other irregularities. In assessing the adequacy of 
the Company’s internal controls framework, the Board ensures a balanced approach of risk management, controls 
mechanism commensurate with the risk profile of the processes and business operations.

The importance and emphasis placed by the Group on internal controls is underpinned by the fact that the satisfactory 
posture of the business unit’s internal control is one of the key performance indicators for Management, and takes 
into account the findings of both internal and external auditors and the progress of resolution of such highlighted 
areas of improvements.
 
When forming an opinion on the adequacy of the internal controls of the Group, the Board takes into consideration 
the findings and results from the internal auditor and management letter points raised by the external auditors 
identified in the course of the statutory audit, and analysing them in the context of the nature and size of the Group’s 
operations and businesses. While the Management continuously review and improve systems of internal controls, 
the Board with the concurrence of the AC, is of the view that the system of internal control (including financial, 
operational and compliance controls, and risk management systems) maintained by the Company’s management 
provides reasonable assurance against material financial misstatements or loss, and includes the safeguarding of 
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shareholders’ investments and the Company’s assets, the maintenance of proper accounting records, the reliability 
of financial information, compliance with appropriate legislation, regulation and best practice, and the identification 
and management of business risks. 

Principle 13: Internal Audit

The company should establish an internal audit function that is independent of the activities it audits.

The Board recognises that it is its responsibility to maintain a system of internal control processes to safeguard 
shareholders’ investments and the Group’s business and assets. Periodic review and testing of the system of internal 
controls is an important exercise to ensure that the control mechanism in place is working in the intended manner 
for which it is designed for. While the importance of working internal controls cannot be discounted, the Board also 
recognised that the size of the Group may not warrant and will not be a cost-effective or efficient solution to have an 
internal audit function and team within the organisational setup.

Accordingly, the Group will achieve the objective of an internal audit function through engaging of an outside 
reputable professional accounting firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP to perform an internal audit on the business 
operations. The internal auditor meets or exceeds the standards set by nationally or internationally recognised 
professional bodies including the Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by The Institute of 
Internal Auditors. The scope of the internal audit as well as the terms of engagement is determined by the AC. All 
such internal audit reports, including findings and recommendations, are communicated to the AC for review and 
concurrence, with the Management provided with similar report for implementation and follow-up actions. Key audit 
findings and recommendations are tabled for discussion at the AC meetings, and the timeliness and progress of 
implementing the corrective or improvement actions are measured and reported.

The AC reviews at least annually the internal audit report and approves the annual internal audit plans to ensure 
the adequacy and effectiveness of this alternate internal audit function. The AC will implement the changes when 
the Group’s operations and size grows to a point whereby a staffed internal audit team will be required. Considering 
the above condition and solution, the AC and the Board is reasonably assured that the objective of an internal audit 
function can and is achieved through a balanced and measured manner. The AC has reviewed the internal audit plan 
and the reported audit findings for FY2011; and is satisfied that the internal audit functions have been adequately 
carried out.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Principle 14: Communication with Shareholders

Companies should engage in regular, effective and fair communication with Shareholders.

The Company aims to provide fair, relevant, comprehensive and timely information regarding the Group’s performance 
and progress, and other pertinent information to shareholders and investment community to enable them to make 
informed investment decisions. The Board is mindful of its obligation to provide timely and fair disclosure of any 
material information in accordance with the Corporate Disclosure Policy of the Singapore Exchange.

The Company engaged an outside professional investor relations firm to plan, coordinate and implement its investor 
relations initiatives focusing on communications between the Company’s Management and its shareholders, as 
well as the investment community. In addition, the Company’s Management is also active in regular dialogues with 
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investors, analysts, fund managers and the media/press community. Material price sensitive and other pertinent 
information of interest to these communities and the general public are communicated and/or made publicly available 
on a timely basis. Material information is simultaneously disseminated to the SGX-ST, and where relevant, the press 
and posted on the Company’s website at www.vikingom.com. Results and annual reports are announced or issued 
within the mandatory period and are available on the Company’s website.

In addition to regulatory required information disclosures, the Company also makes available briefing materials to the 
analysts and media, and other materials prepared for select group briefings and roadshows are also provided to the 
public to ensure equal information access and general availability. Contact details and channels of communications 
with shareholders and public remain open and relevant information is duly updated and conveyed via the Company’s 
websites and email channels.

Principle 15: Participation of Shareholders

Companies should engage greater shareholder participation at AGMs, and allow Shareholders the opportunity to 
communicate their views on various matters affecting the company.

The Board welcomes the view of shareholders on matters affecting the Company, whether at shareholders’ meetings 
or on an ad hoc basis. The Board encourages active shareholder participation in general shareholders meetings, 
including AGMs and EGMs. It believes that general meetings are opportune forum and suitable platform for 
shareholders and the Board and Management of the Company to engage in active exchange of ideas. In addition, 
the Company holds such shareholders meetings onsite at its premises in order to provide shareholders with greater 
opportunity to understand and appreciate the Company’s business operations.

The Company sends its Annual Report and Notice of AGM to all shareholders. The Notice will also be published 
in either The Straits Times or The Business Times newspapers and will be made available on SGXNET and the 
Company website. Separate resolutions are proposed for substantially separate issues at the meeting. At its AGM, 
shareholders have the opportunity to raise questions to the Board and senior Management, and clarify with them any 
issues they may have relating to the resolutions to be passed. Board members and senior Management are required 
to attend shareholders’ meetings and are on hand to address any questions raised. The Company’s external auditors 
are also present to address shareholders’ queries on the conduct of audit and the preparation and content of the 
auditors’ report, where necessary and appropriate.

DEALINGS IN SECURITIES
Listing Rule 1207 sub-Rule (19)

In line with Listing Rule 1207(19) of the SGX-ST Listing Manual regarding the Dealings in Securities, the Company 
issues a quarterly circular to its Directors, officers and employees reminding them of the restrictions on dealings in 
listed securities of the Group during the period commencing (i) two weeks before the announcement of quarterly 
results and (ii) one month before announcement of full-year results, and ending on the date of such announcements. 
Directors, officers and employees are also directed to refrain from dealing in listed securities of the Group at any time 
they are in possession of unpublished price sensitive information, or on short-term considerations.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group regularly reviews and improves its business and operational activities to take into account the risk 
management perspective. The Group seeks to identify areas of significant business risks as well as appropriate 
measures to control and mitigate these risks.

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted an internal policy in respect of transactions with interested persons and has set out the 
procedures for review and approval of the Company’s interested person transactions. 

The AC and the Board reviews all transactions conducted with interested person to satisfy themselves that 
transactions are carried out at arm’s length and under normal commercial terms, and the terms of the transactions 
are not prejudicial to the interests of the Company or its minority shareholders.

Name of Interested Person

Aggregate value of all interested 
person transactions during 

the financial year (excluding 
transactions less than $100,000 

and transactions conducted under 
shareholders’ mandate pursuant to 

Rule 920) 

Aggregate value of all interested 
person transactions conducted 
under shareholders’ mandate 

pursuant to Rule 920 (excluding 
transactions less than $100,000) 

NIL There are no transactions to be 
disclosed meeting this criteria

There are no Shareholders’ 
mandate pursuant to Rules 920

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

There were no material contracts entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries involving the interests of its CEO, 
Directors or controlling shareholders.

SPONSOR

No fees relating to non-sponsorship activities or services were paid to the Company’s sponsor for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2011.
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The directors are pleased to present their report to the members together with the audited consolidated financial 
statements of Viking Offshore and Marine Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) and 
the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 
2011.

1. Directors

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:

Lim Andy
Ong Choo Guan
Woo Peng Kong
Lin Wei Daniel  
Lien Kait Long
Tan Wee Peng Kelvin
Lee Suan Hiang

2. Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares, debentures and warrants

 Except as disclosed below, neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company 
a party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the 
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares, debentures or warrants of the Company 
or any other body corporate.

3. Directors’ interests in shares and debentures

 The following directors, who held office at the end of the financial year, had, according to the register of 
directors’ shareholdings required to be kept under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, 
an interest in shares and share options of the Company and related corporations (other than wholly-owned 
subsidiaries) as stated below:

Direct Interest Deemed Interest

Name of director

At the 
beginning of 
financial year 

or date of 
appointment 

At the end 
of financial 

year

At 21 
January 

2012

At the 
beginning of 
financial year 

or date of 
appointment 

At the end 
of financial 

year

At 21 
January 

2012

Ordinary shares of the 
Company

Lim Andy 3,500,000 1,540,000 1,540,000 126,141,000  156,944,000 156,944,000
Ong Choo Guan 20,400,000 20,900,000 20,900,000 – 50,000 50,000
Lien Kait Long 300,000 500,000 500,000 – – –
Tan Wee Peng Kelvin 300,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 – – –
Lee Suan Hiang – 2,000,000 2,000,000 – – –

Directors’ Report
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3. Directors’ interests in shares and debentures (cont’d)

Direct Interest Deemed Interest

Name of director

At the 
beginning of 
financial year 

or date of 
appointment 

At the end 
of financial 

year

At 21 
January 

2012

At the 
beginning of 
financial year 

or date of 
appointment 

At the end 
of financial 

year

At 21 
January 

2012

Share options of the 
Company 

Lim Andy 3,500,000 3,500,000 3,500,000 – – –
Ong Choo Guan 2,500,000 2,500,000 – 500,000 500,000 500,000
Lien Kait Long 300,000 300,000 300,000 – – –
Tan Wee Peng Kelvin 300,000 300,000 300,000 – – –
Lee Suan Hiang 300,000 300,000 300,000 – – –

Warrants

Lim Andy 29,535,250 29,535,250 29,535,250 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000

Except as disclosed in this report, no other director who held office at the end of the financial year had an 
interest in shares, share options, warrants or debentures of the Company or of related corporations, either at 
the beginning of the financial year, or date of appointment if later, or the end of the financial year.

4. Directors’ contractual benefits

 Except as disclosed in the financial statements, since the end of the previous financial year, no director of the 
Company has received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of a contract made by the Company 
or a related corporation with the director, or with a firm of which the director is a member, or with a Company 
in which the director has a substantial financial interest.

5. Options

 The Company had an employee share option scheme known as “The Novena Holdings Limited Share Option 
Scheme” (the “Novena Scheme”), for the granting of non-transferable options to eligible senior executives and 
employees. The Novena Scheme expired on 3 December 2010 and the options granted under the Novena 
Scheme will expire by 18 August 2012.

 At an extraordinary general meeting held on 3 November 2010, shareholders approved the Viking Offshore 
and Marine Limited Share Option Scheme (the “VOM Scheme”) for the granting of non-transferable options 
that are settled by physical delivery of the ordinary shares of the Company, to eligible group employees and 
directors.

  The Remuneration Committee (the “Committee”) administering the Novena Scheme and VOM Scheme 
comprises three directors, Tan Wee Peng Kelvin, Lee Suan Hiang and Lin Wei Daniel.

Directors’ Report
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5. Options (cont’d)

 Details of all the options to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company pursuant to the Schemes as at 31 
December 2011 are as follows:

Grant date Expiry date Exercise price (S$) Number of options

15 January 2010 14 January 2012 0.197 4,100,000
30 June 2010 29 June 2012 0.200 1,500,000
19 August 2010 18 August 2012 0.198 4,700,000
20 December 2010 19 December 2015 0.200 2,000,000
Total 12,300,000

Details of the options to subscribe for ordinary shares of the Company granted to directors of the Company 
pursuant to the Novena Scheme are as follows: 

Name of participant

Options 
granted 
during 

financial 
year

Aggregate options 
granted since 

commencement of 
Scheme to end of 

financial year

Aggregate 
options 

exercised since 
commencement 

of Scheme to end 
of financial year

Aggregate 
options 

outstanding 
as at end of 

financial year

Lim Andy – 7,000,000 3,500,000 3,500,0001

Ong Choo Guan – 2,500,000 – 2,500,0002

Lien Kait Long – 600,000 300,000 300,0001

Tan Wee Peng Kelvin – 600,000 300,000 300,0001

Lee Suan Hiang – 300,000 – 300,0001

Total – 11,000,000 4,100,000 6,900,000

1  These options are exercisable between the periods from 15 January 2011 to 18 August 2012 at 
exercise prices ranging from S$0.197 to S$0.200 if the vesting conditions are met. 

2 These options expired on 14 January 2012.
 

No options were granted to directors of the Company pursuant to the VOM Scheme during the financial year.

Since the commencement of the Schemes till the end of the financial year: 

• No options have been granted to the controlling shareholders of the Company and their associates 
other than a director, Lim Andy.

• No participant other than a director, Lim Andy mentioned above have received 5% or more of the total 
options available under the Schemes.

• No options that entitle the holder to participate, by virtue of the options, in any share issue of any other 
corporation have been granted.

• No options have been granted at a discount.

Directors’ Report
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6. Performance share 

 The Viking Long Term Incentive Plan (the “VLTP”) was approved by the shareholders at an extraordinary 
general meeting held on 15 December 2011 and is administered by the Committee. Persons eligible to 
participate in the VLTP are selected Group Employees (including Group Executive Directors) and Group 
Non-Executive Directors at the absolute discretion of the Committee. 

 The awards under the VLTP (the “Awards”) give the right to a participant to receive fully-paid ordinary shares 
free of charge, upon the participant achieving the prescribed performance targets and upon expiry of the 
prescribed vesting period. 

 The performance targets to be set shall take into account both the medium-term to long-term corporate 
objectives of the Group and the individual performance of the participant and will be aimed at sustaining 
long-term growth. The corporate objectives shall cover market competitiveness, business growth and 
productivity growth. In addition, the participant’s length of service with the Group, achievement of past 
performance targets, value-add to the Group’s performance and development and overall enhancement to 
shareholder value, amongst others, will be taken into account. 

 No Awards were granted since the commencement of the VLTP.

7. Warrants

 At the end of the financial year, details of the outstanding warrants are as follow:

Date of 
issue

Warrants 
outstanding 
at 1.1.2011 

Warrants 
issued

Warrants 
exercised

Warrants 
expired

Warrants 
outstanding 
at 31.12.2011 

Date of 
expiration

21.01.2010 105,794,416 – – – 105,794,416  18.01.2013
 
 Each warrant issued on 21 January 2010 entitles the warrant holder to subscribe for one new ordinary share 

in the Company at the exercise price of $0.22 per share. The warrants do not entitle the holders of the 
warrants, by virtue of such holdings, to any rights to participate in any share issue of any other company.

8. Audit Committee

 The Audit Committee (“AC”) carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Singapore 
Companies Act, Cap. 50, including the following:

• Review the audit plans of the internal and external auditors of the Company and ensure the adequacy of 
the Group’s system of accounting controls and the co-operation given by the Company’s management 
to the external and internal auditors;

• Review the quarterly, half-yearly and annual financial statements and the auditors’ report of the Group 
before submitting to the Board of Directors; such reviews will also include the review of the significant 
financial reporting issues and judgments so as to ensure the integrity of the financial statements of the 
Company and any formal announcements relating to the Group’s financial performance;

Directors’ Report
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8. Audit Committee (cont’d)

• Review, at least annually, with the management and the internal auditor the adequacy of the Group’s 
internal financial controls, operational and compliance controls, and risk management policies and 
systems established by the management;

• Reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function; including the audit 
plans for the year;

• Review legal and regulatory matters that may have a material impact on the financial statements, 
related compliance policies and programs and any reports received from regulators;

• Review the cost effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of the external auditors;

• Review the nature and extent of non-audit services provided by the external auditors;

• Review the currency of the whistle-blowing policies and the reported incidents, including the appropriate 
investigations and ensuring appropriate follow-up actions, where necessary;

• Making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external 
auditor, and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor; and

• Review interested person transactions in accordance with the requirements of the listing rules of the 
Singapore Exchange.

 The AC, having reviewed all non-audit services provided by the external auditors to the Group, is satisfied that 
the nature and extent of such services would not affect the independence of the external auditors. The AC has 
also conducted a review of interested person transactions.

 The AC convened four meetings during the year and the attendances are disclosed in the Report on Corporate 
Governance. The AC has also met with internal and external auditors, without the presence of the Company’s 
management, at least once a year.

 Further details regarding the AC are disclosed in the Report on Corporate Governance.

9. Auditors

 Ernst & Young LLP have expressed their willingness to accept reappointment as auditors.

On behalf of the board of directors:

                                                                           
Lim Andy     Ong Choo Guan
Director    Director

19 March 2012

Directors’ Report
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We, Lim Andy and Ong Choo Guan, being two of the directors of Viking Offshore and Marine Limited, do hereby state 
that, in the opinion of the directors,

(a) the accompanying balance sheets, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, statements of changes 
in equity, and consolidated cash flow statement together with the notes thereto are drawn up so as to give 
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2011, and 
the results of the business, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and the changes in equity of the 
Company for the year then ended; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its 
debts as and when they fall due.

On behalf of the board of directors:

                                                                           
Lim Andy  Ong Choo Guan
Director Director

19 March 2012

Statement by Directors
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Report on the consolidated financial statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Viking Offshore and Marine Limited (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), which comprise the balance sheets of the Group and the 
Company as at 31 December 2011, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated cash 
flow statement of the Group and the statements of changes in equity of the Group and the Company for the year then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance 
with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standards, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable 
assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are 
properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss 
accounts and balance sheets and to maintain accountability of assets.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Independent Auditors’ Report
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011 
To the members of Viking Offshore and Marine Limited
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Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes 
in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial 
Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 
31 December 2011 and the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and the changes in equity of the 
Company for the year ended on that date.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those 
subsidiaries incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the 
provisions of the Act.

Ernst & Young LLP
Public Accountants and 
Certified Public Accountants 
Singapore

19 March 2012

Independent Auditors’ Report
For the financial year ended 31 December 2011 
To the members of Viking Offshore and Marine Limited (cont’d)
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Note 2011
$

2010
$

(Restated)

Revenue 4 95,226,908 79,717,741
Cost of sales (68,751,820) (53,849,489)
Gross profit 26,475,088 25,868,252
Other items of income
Other income 6(a) 14,195,539 5,547,608
Interest income – fixed deposits 2,708 5,442
Gain on bargain purchase 13 3,163,414 4,014,932
Other items of expense
Marketing and distribution expenses (3,352,853) (2,811,145)
Administrative expenses (21,041,319) (15,391,220)
Other operating expenses 6(b) (13,026,477) (4,263,265)
Finance costs 8 (1,039,853) (407,555)
Profit before tax 6 5,376,247 12,563,049
Taxation 9 648,066 (1,189,478)
Profit for the year, net of tax 6,024,313 11,373,571

Other comprehensive income: 
Net change in fair value reserve of available-for-sale  

financial assets (19,239,024) 4,501,201
Foreign currency translation 337,199 (232,211)

Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, net of tax (18,901,825) 4,268,990

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (12,877,512) 15,642,561

Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company 5,934,555 11,256,282
Non-controlling interests 89,758 117,289

6,024,313 11,373,571

Total comprehensive (loss)/income attributable to:
Owners of the Company (12,967,270) 15,525,272
Non-controlling interests 89,758 117,289

(12,877,512) 15,642,561

Earnings per share (cents)
-  Basic 10 1.02 2.08
-  Diluted 10 1.02 2.08

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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Group Company
Note 2011

$
2010

$
(Restated)

2011
$

2010
$

(Restated)
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 11  18,071,557  3,130,612  189,279  208,459
Intangible assets 12 36,719,056 40,067,329 – –
Investment in subsidiaries 13  –  –  93,950,944  83,870,944
Quoted equity investments 14  2,198,584  27,776,171  2,185,209  27,738,721
Unquoted equity investments 15 – 2,707,792 – 2,707,792
Deferred tax assets 9 10,925 10,925 – –

 57,000,122  73,692,829  96,325,432  114,525,916
Current assets
Inventories 16  27,598,300  31,285,371  –  –
Trade receivables 17  13,796,291  18,480,348  –  –
Prepayments 154,500 240,623 8,697 54,632
Other receivables and deposits 18  2,871,822  9,371,500  1,044,224  8,096,055
Non-current asset held for sale 11 – 2,572,845 – –
Due from customers on contracts 19 7,247,236 3,208,138 – –
Due from subsidiaries (non-trade) 25  –  –  –  220,000
Quoted equity investments 14  –  272,115  –  272,115
Cash and short-term deposits 20  9,405,382  16,008,513  12,725  1,026,654

 61,073,531  81,439,453  1,065,646  9,669,456
Current liabilities
Trade payables 21  7,514,483  6,433,328  –  –
Bills payable 27  771,178  575,523  –  –
Due to customers on contracts 19 1,236,702 1,394,877 – –
Other payables and accruals 23  6,188,134  34,648,433  2,713,472  28,992,347
Tax payable  2,150,360  3,517,513  840,000  840,000
Deferred rental 24  199,714  199,714  –  –
Lease obligations 26  68,622  92,230  –  –
Term loans 27  7,220,125  14,759,227  1,596,125  14,759,227
Unearned revenue 22  552,626  514,802  –  –
Due to subsidiaries (non-trade) 25  –  –  32,244,129  9,227,303
Bank overdrafts 27  205,641  2,677,079  205,641  2,677,079

 26,107,585  64,812,726  37,599,367  56,495,956
Net current assets/(liabilities) 34,965,946 16,626,727 (36,533,721) (46,826,500)
Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liability 9  4,849,993  4,868,826  24,918  24,918
Deferred rental 24  233,001  432,715  –  –
Lease obligations 26  197,064  214,585  –  –
Term loans 27  6,797,997  –  –  –

 12,078,055  5,516,126  24,918  24,918

Net assets 79,888,013 84,803,430 59,766,793 67,674,498

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 29 79,338,578 70,088,644 79,338,578 70,088,644
Reserves (391,121) 13,863,988 (19,571,785) (2,414,146)

78,947,457 83,952,632 59,766,793 67,674,498
Non-controlling interests 940,556 850,798 – –
Total equity 79,888,013 84,803,430 59,766,793 67,674,498

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Balance Sheets 
As at 31 December 2011
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Note Attributable to owners of the Company

Non-
controlling
interests Total equity

2011
Group

Share 
capital 

(Note 29)
Accumulated 

profits

Other 
reserves
(Note 30)

Total 
reserves

$ $ $ $ $ $

At 1 January 2011 – as restated 70,088,644 (3,726,118) 17,590,106 13,863,988 850,798 84,803,430

Profit for the year – 5,934,555 – 5,934,555 89,758 6,024,313
Other comprehensive income
Net change in fair value reserve of 

available-for-sale financial assets 30(b) – – (19,239,024) (19,239,024) – (19,239,024)
Foreign currency translation – – 337,199 337,199 – 337,199
Other comprehensive loss for the 

year, net of tax – – (18,901,825) (18,901,825) – (18,901,825)
Total comprehensive loss for the 

year – 5,934,555 (18,901,825) (12,967,270) 89,758 (12,877,512)

Contributions by and distribution to 
owners

Grant of equity-settled share 
options 30 – – 403,364 403,364 – 403,364

Dividends on ordinary shares 31 – (1,691,203) – (1,691,203) – (1,691,203)
Issuance of shares in relation to 

acquisition 13 9,249,934 – – – – 9,249,934
Expiry of equity-settled share option 30 – 30,900 (30,900) – – –
Total transactions with owners in 

their capacity as owners 9,249,934 (1,660,303) 372,464 (1,287,839) – 7,962,095
At 31 December 2011 79,338,578 548,134 (939,255) (391,121) 940,556 79,888,013

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements

Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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Note Attributable to owners of the Company

Non-
controlling
interests Total equity

2010
Group

Share 
capital 

(Note 29)
Accumulated 

profits

Other 
reserves
(Note 30)

Total 
reserves

$ $ $ $ $ $

At 1 January 2010 – as previously 
stated 44,828,114 (13,561,249) 13,069,189 (492,060) 733,509 45,069,563

Profit for the year – as previously 
stated – 12,570,557 – 12,570,557 117,289 12,687,846

Finalisation of purchase price 
allocation exercise 39 – (1,314,275) – (1,314,275) – (1,314,275)

Profit for the year – as restated – 11,256,282 – 11,256,282 117,289 11,373,571

Other comprehensive income
Net change in fair value reserve of 

available-for-sale financial assets 30(b) – – 4,501,201 4,501,201 – 4,501,201
Foreign currency translation – – (232,211) (232,211) – (232,211)
Other comprehensive income for 

the year, net of tax – – 4,268,990 4,268,990 – 4,268,990
Total comprehensive income for 

the year – as restated – 11,256,282 4,268,990 15,525,272 117,289 15,642,561

Contributions by and distribution to 
owners

Grant of equity-settled share 
options 30 – – 522,312 522,312 – 522,312

Dividends on ordinary shares 31 – (1,556,151) – (1,556,151) – (1,556,151)
Issue of new shares – exercise of 

warrants 29 1,727,573 – – – – 1,727,573
Issue of warrants 29 2,992,772 – – – – 2,992,772
Exercise of equity-settled share 

option 29 650,185 – (135,385) (135,385) – 514,800
Issuance of shares in relation to 

acquisition 13 19,890,000 – – – – 19,890,000
Expiry of equity-settled share option 30 – 135,000 (135,000) – – –
Total transactions with owners in 

their capacity as owners 25,260,530 (1,421,151) 251,927 (1,169,224) – 24,091,306
At 31 December 2010 – as restated 70,088,644 (3,726,118) 17,590,106 13,863,988 850,798 84,803,430

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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Note Attributable to owners of the Company Total equity

2011
Company

Share 
capital 

(Note 29)
Accumulated 

profits

Other 
reserves
 (Note 30)

Total 
reserves

$ $ $ $ $

At 1 January 2011 – as restated 70,088,644 (20,242,883) 17,828,737 (2,414,146) 67,674,498

Profit for the year – 3,345,149 – 3,345,149 3,345,149
Other comprehensive income
Net change in fair value reserve of 

available-for-sale financial assets 30(b) – – (19,214,949) (19,214,949) (19,214,949)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, 

net of tax – – (19,214,949) (19,214,949) (19,214,949)
Total comprehensive loss for the year – 3,345,149 (19,214,949) (15,869,800) (15,869,800)

Contribution by and distribution to owners
Grant of equity-settled share options 30 – – 403,364 403,364 403,364
Dividends on ordinary shares 31 – (1,691,203) – (1,691,203) (1,691,203)
Issuance of shares in relation to 

acquisition
13

9,249,934 – – – 9,249,934
Expiry of equity-settled share option 30 – 30,900 (30,900) – –
Total transactions with owners in their 

capacity as owners 9,249,934 (1,660,303) 372,464 (1,287,839) 7,962,095
At 31 December 2011 79,338,578 (18,558,037) (1,013,748) (19,571,785) 59,766,793

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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Note Attributable to owners of the Company Total equity

2010
Company

Share 
capital 

(Note 29)
Accumulated 

profits

Other 
reserves
 (Note 30)

Total 
reserves

$ $ $ $ $

At 1 January 2010 – as previously stated 44,828,114 (21,541,999) 13,069,189 (8,472,810) 36,355,304

Profit for the year – as previously stated – 2,797,445 – 2,797,445 2,797,445
Finalisation of purchase price allocation 

exercise
39

– (77,178) – (77,178) (77,178)
Profit for the year – as restated – 2,720,267 – 2,720,267 2,720,267

Other comprehensive income
Net change in fair value reserve of available-

for-sale financial assets 30(b) – – 4,507,621 4,507,621 4,507,621
Other comprehensive income for the year, 

net of tax – – 4,507,621 4,507,621 4,507,621
Total comprehensive income for the year 

– as restated – 2,720,267 4,507,621 7,227,888 7,227,888

Contribution by and distribution to owners
Grant of equity-settled share options 30 – – 522,312 522,312 522,312
Dividends on ordinary shares 31 – (1,556,151) – (1,556,151) (1,556,151)
Issue of new shares – exercise of warrants 29 1,727,573 – – – 1,727,573
Issue of warrants 29 2,992,772 – – – 2,992,772
Exercise of equity-settled share option 29 650,185 – (135,385) (135,385) 514,800
Issuance of shares in relation to acquisition 13 19,890,000 – – – 19,890,000
Expiry of equity-settled share option 30 – 135,000 (135,000) – –
Total transactions with owners in their 

capacity as owners 25,260,530 (1,421,151) 251,927 (1,169,224) 24,091,306
At 31 December 2010 – as restated 70,088,644 (20,242,883) 17,828,737 (2,414,146) 67,674,498

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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Note 2011
$

2010
$

(Restated)
Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before taxation 5,376,247 12,563,049

Adjustments for:
  Amortisation of intangible assets 12 3,352,765 2,953,747
  Intangible assets written off 12 1,500 –
  Amortisation of deferred rental 24 (199,714) (199,714)
  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 11 1,596,373 687,358
  Property, plant and equipment written off 11 119,461 –
  Grant of equity-settled share options 30(c) 403,364 522,312
  Fair value (gain)/loss on quoted equity investments 6(a)/(b) (49,973) 258,069
  Gain on disposal of quoted equity investments 6(a) (10,273,278) (2,931,585)
  Impairment loss on unquoted equity investments 6(b) 2,707,792 –
  Impairment loss on inventories 6(b) 44,202 –
  Impairment loss on other receivables 6(b) 5,030,135 68,635
  Net reversal of impairment on trade receivables 6(a) (20,034) –
  Trade receivables written off 6(b) 22,375 –
  Other receivables written off – 35,867
  Gain on disposal of plant and equipment and
   non-current asset held for sale 6(a) (851,509) (339,193)
  Interest expense 8 1,039,853 407,555
  Interest income (2,708) (5,442)
  Gain on bargain purchase 13(c)/(a) (3,163,414) (4,014,932)
  Exchange differences arising from the translation of foreign
   subsidiaries – (198,346)

Operating profit before working capital changes 5,133,437 9,807,380
Changes in working capital:
  Inventories 3,642,870 1,908,657
  Trade receivables 4,681,716 (3,523,484)
  Other receivables, deposits and prepayments (441,207) (1,651,614)
  Due from customers on contracts (3,720,165) 622,642
  Trade payables 1,081,155 59,599
  Unearned revenue 37,824 (2,552)
  Bills payable 195,657 (54,230)
  Other payables and accruals (2,634,816) 1,578,107
  Due to customers on contracts (158,175) (4,425,617)

Cash flows generated from operations 7,818,296 4,318,888
Interest paid (707,068) (330,377)
Interest received 2,708 5,442
Income taxes paid (2,402,749) (1,328,980)

Net cash flows generated from operating activities 4,711,187 2,664,973

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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Note 2011
$

2010
$

(Restated)
Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 11 (1,678,378) (429,400)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and 

non-current asset held for sale 3,694,273 2,559,931
Purchase of quoted equity investments (213,751) (95,001)
Proceeds on disposal of quoted equities investments 17,147,679 10,089,777
Purchase of unquoted equity investment 15 – (6,500,000)
Additions to intangible assets (973) (100,372)
Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries A (26,075,991) (21,225,137)
Proceeds from a shareholder of an investee company  18 1,000,000 –
Deposit paid for acquisition of a company 13(c) – (1,008,000)
Cash used in investing activities (6,127,141) (16,708,202)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from bank borrowings 14,636,125 14,759,227
Repayment of bank borrowings (15,377,230) (1,826,600)
Net proceeds from issuance of warrants – 2,992,772
Proceeds from the exercise of warrants – 1,727,573
Proceeds from the exercise of share option – 514,800
Fixed deposits (secured) (124,930) 2,489,298
Payment of dividends (1,691,203) (1,556,151)
Payment of lease obligations (283,429) (71,006)
Due to a director – 1,000,000
Cash (used in)/generated from financing activities (2,840,667) 20,029,913

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (4,256,621) 5,986,684
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 13,051,983 7,065,299
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 20 8,795,362 13,051,983

Note A:

Net cash outflow/(inflow) from:
   Viking Airtech Pte Ltd 13(d) – 13,386,294
   Promoter Hydraulics Pte Ltd 13(a) 8,000,000 9,762,771
   Marshal Systems Pte Ltd 13(b) 9,015,101 (1,923,928)
   Viking Facilities Management & Operations 
    Pte. Ltd. 13(c) 9,060,890 –
Net cash outflow on acquisition of subsidiaries 26,075,991 21,225,137

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 
For the year ended 31 December 2011
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
- 31 December 2011

1. Corporate information

The Company is a limited liability Company incorporated and domiciled in Singapore and is listed on the 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (SGX-ST).

The Company’s registered office and principal place of business is located at 21 Kian Teck Road, Singapore 
628773.

The principal activities of the Company are the provision of management and other services to related 
companies and investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 13 to the 
financial statements.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

 The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity 
of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (FRS).

 The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting 
policies below.

 The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars (SGD or $).

2.2 Changes in accounting policies

 The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except in the current 
financial year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised standards and Interpretations of FRS (“INT 
FRS”) that are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011. The adoption of these 
standards and interpretations did not have any effect on the financial performance or position of the Group 
and the Company.

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective  

 The Group has not adopted the following standards and interpretations that have been issued but not yet 
effective:

Description

Effective for annual 
periods beginning on 

or after

Amendments to FRS 107 Disclosures – Transfers of Financial Assets 1 July 2011
Amendments to FRS 101 – Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed Dates for 
First-time Adopters

1 July 2011

Amendments to FRS 12 Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets 1 January 2012
Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income 1 July 2012
Revised FRS 19 Employee Benefits 1 January 2013
Revised FRS 27 Separate Financial Statements 1 January 2013



85   
Viking Offshore and Marine Limited 

Annual Report 2011

Notes to the Financial Statements 
- 31 December 2011

2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d)

Description

Effective for annual 
periods beginning on 

or after

Revised FRS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 1 January 2013
FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements 1 January 2013
FRS 111 Joint Arrangements 1 January 2013
FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 1 January 2013
FRS 113 Fair Value Measurements 1 January 2013

 Except for the Amendments to FRS 1, Revised FRS 27, FRS 110, FRS 112 and FRS 113, the directors expect 
that the adoption of the standards and interpretations above will have no material impact on the financial 
statements in the period of initial application. The nature of the impending changes in accounting policy on 
adoption of the Amendments to FRS 1, Revised FRS 27, FRS 110, FRS 112 and FRS 113 are described 
below.

Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income

The Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) is effective for 
financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012.

The Amendments to FRS 1 changes the grouping of items presented in OCI. Items that could be reclassified 
to profit or loss at a future point in time would be presented separately from items which will never be 
reclassified. As the Amendments only affect the presentations of items that are already recognised in OCI, 
the Group does not expect any impact on its financial position or performance upon adoption of this standard.

FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements and Revised FRS 27 Separate Financial Statements (Revised)

FRS 110 and the Revised FRS 27 are effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

FRS 110 establishes a single control model that applies to all entities (including special purpose entities). 
The changes introduced by FRS 110 will require management to exercise significant judgment to determine 
which entities are controlled, and therefore are required to be consolidated by the Group, compared with the 
requirements that were in FRS 27. Therefore, FRS 110 may change which entities are consolidated within a 
group. The Revised FRS 27 was amended to address accounting for subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities 
and associates in separate financial statements. 

The Group does not expect adoption of these standards to have material impact to the financial statements. 
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2.3 Standards issued but not yet effective (cont’d)

FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

FRS 112 is effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

FRS 112 is a new and comprehensive standard on disclosure requirements for all forms of interests in other 
entities, including joint arrangements, associates, special purpose vehicles and other off balance sheet 
vehicles. FRS 112 requires an entity to disclose information that helps users of its financial statements to 
evaluate the nature and risks associated with its interests in other entities and the effects of those interests 
on its financial statements. The Group is currently determining the impact of the disclosure requirements. As 
this is a disclosure standard, it will have no impact to the financial position and financial performance of the 
Group when implemented in 2013.

FRS 113 Fair Value Measurements

FRS 113 is effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

FRS 113 provides a single source of guidance for all fair value measurements. FRS 113 does not change 
when an entity is required to use fair value, but rather provides guidance on how to measure fair value under 
FRS/IFRS when fair value is required or permitted by FRS. The Group does not expect the adoption of this 
standard to have material impact to the financial statements. 

2.4 Basis of consolidation and business combinations

(a) Basis of consolidation

Basis of consolidation from 1 January 2010

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries as at the end of the reporting period. The financial statements of the subsidiaries used 
in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same reporting date 
as the Company. Consistent accounting policies are applied to like transactions and events in similar 
circumstances.

All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from 
intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains 
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. 

Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit 
balance.
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2.4 Basis of consolidation and business combinations (cont’d)

(a) Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

Basis of consolidation from 1 January 2010 (cont’d)

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an 
equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

- De-recognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at their carrying 
amounts at the date when controls is lost;

- De-recognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;
- De-recognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
- Recognises the fair value of the consideration received;
- Recognises the fair value of any investment retained;
- Recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss;
- Re-classifies the Group’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive 

income to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.

Basis of consolidation prior to 1 January 2010

Certain of the above-mentioned requirements were applied on a prospective basis. The following 
differences, however, are carried forward in certain instances from the previous basis of consolidation:

- Acquisition of non-controlling interests, prior to 1 January 2010, were accounted for using the 
parent entity extension method, whereby, the difference between the consideration and the 
book value of the share of the net assets acquired were recognised in goodwill.

- Losses incurred by the Group were attributed to the non-controlling interest until the balance 
was reduced to nil. Any further losses were attributed to the Group, unless the non-controlling 
interest had a binding obligation to cover these. Losses prior to 1 January 2010 were not 
reallocated between non-controlling interest and the owners of the Company.

- Upon loss of control, the Group accounted for the investment retained at its proportionate share 
of net asset value at the date control was lost. The carrying value of such investments as at 1 
January 2010 have not been restated.

(b) Business combinations

Business combinations from 1 January 2010

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. Identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at 
the acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the 
costs are incurred and the services are received. 

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for 
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of 
embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.
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2.4 Basis of consolidation and business combinations (cont’d)

(b) Business combinations (cont’d)

Basis of consolidation from 1 January 2010 (cont’d)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed 
to be an asset or liability, will be recognised in accordance with FRS 39 either in profit or loss or as a 
change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it is not 
remeasured until it is finally settled within equity.

In business combinations achieved in stages, previously held equity interests in the acquiree are 
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date and any corresponding gain or loss is recognised in 
profit or loss. 

The Group elects for each individual business combination, whether non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree (if any) is recognised on the acquisition date at fair value, or at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the business combination, the 
amount of non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any), and the fair value of the Group’s previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), over the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets 
and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The accounting policy for goodwill is set out in Note 2.8(a). In 
instances where the latter amount exceeds the former, the excess is recognised as gain on bargain 
purchase in profit or loss on the acquisition date. 

Business combinations prior to 1 January 2010

In comparison to the above mentioned requirements, the following differences applied:

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method. Transaction costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition formed part of the acquisition costs. The non-controlling interest (formerly 
known as minority interest) was measured at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net 
assets.

Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted for as separate steps. Adjustments to 
those fair values relating to previously held interests are treated as a revaluation and recognised in 
equity. Any additional acquired share of interest did not affect previously recognised goodwill.

When the Group acquired a business, embedded derivatives separated from the host contract by the 
acquiree were not reassessed on acquisition unless the business combination resulted in a change 
in the terms of the contract that significantly modified the cash flows that otherwise would have been 
required under the contract.

Contingent consideration was recognised if, and only if, the Group had a present obligation, the 
economic outflow was more likely than not and a reliable estimate was determinable. Subsequent 
adjustments to the contingent consideration were recognised as part of goodwill.
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2.5 Transactions with non-controlling interests

Non-controlling interest represents the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to owners 
of the Company, and are presented separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and 
within equity in the consolidated balance sheet, separately from equity attributable to owners of the Company.

Changes in the Company owners’ ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control 
are accounted for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of the controlling and 
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any 
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair value of the 
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

2.6 Foreign currency

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars, which is also the 
Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items 
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. 

(a) Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the 
Company and its subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at 
exchange rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet 
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items 
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when 
the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items 
at the balance sheet date are recognised in profit or loss except for exchange differences arising on 
monetary items that form part of the Group’s net investment in foreign operations, which are recognised 
initially in other comprehensive income and accumulated under foreign currency translation reserve in 
equity. The foreign currency translation reserve is reclassified from equity to profit or loss of the Group 
on disposal of the foreign operation. 

(b) Consolidated financial statements

 For consolidation purpose, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into SGD at 
the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period and profit or loss are translated at the 
exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transactions. The exchange differences arising on the 
translation are taken directly to a separate component of equity as foreign currency translation reserve. 
On disposal of a foreign operation, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in equity relating to that 
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

 In the case of a partial disposal without loss of control of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, 
the proportionate share of the cumulative amount of the exchange differences are re-attributed to 
non-controlling interest and are not recognised in profit or loss. For partial disposals of associates 
or jointly controlled entities that are foreign operations, the proportionate share of the accumulated 
exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss. 
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2.7 Property, plant and equipment

All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Such cost includes the cost of replacing 
part of the property, plant and equipment and borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of a qualifying property, plant and equipment. The accounting policy for borrowing 
costs is set out in Note 2.22. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset 
if, and only if, it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and 
the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

Subsequent to recognition, property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and any accumulated impairment losses. When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required 
to be replaced in intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives 
and depreciation, respectively. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the 
carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. 
All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use and is computed on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the asset as follows:

Leasehold buildings – 24 years
Computers and office equipment – 3 to 6 years
Furniture and fittings – 3 to 6 years
Motor vehicles – 6 years
Renovation – 3 to 8 years
Air-conditioners – 8 years
Machinery – 5 to 10 years

Assets under construction are not depreciated as these assets are not yet available for use.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-end, and adjusted 
prospectively, if appropriate. 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset is included in 
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised.
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2.8 Intangible assets

(a) Goodwilll

 Goodwill is initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less 
any accumulated impairment losses.

 For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit 
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree 
are assigned to those units. 

 The cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually 
and whenever there is an indication that the cash-generating unit may be impaired. Impairment is 
determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit (or 
group of cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. 
Impairment losses recognised for goodwill are not reversed in subsequent periods. 

 Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that cash-generating 
unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying 
amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill 
disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative fair values of the operations 
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 

 Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of foreign operation on or after 1 January 
2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operations and are recorded in the functional 
currency of the foreign operations and translated in accordance with the accounting policy set out in 
Note 2.6.

 Goodwill and fair value adjustments which arose on acquisitions of foreign operation before 1 January 
2005 are deemed to be assets and liabilities of the Company and are recorded in SGD at the rates 
prevailing at the date of acquisition.

(b) Other intangible assets

 Intangible assets acquired separately are measured initially at cost. The cost of intangible assets 
acquired in a business combination is their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial 
acquisition, intangible assets are measured at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised 
development costs, are not capitalised and expenditure is reflected in profit or loss in the year in which 
the expenditure is incurred.

 The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.
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2.8 Intangible assets (cont’d)

(b) Other intangible assets (cont’d)

 Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised over the estimated useful lives and assessed for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation 
period and the amortisation method are reviewed at least at each financial year-end. Changes in the 
expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in 
the asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are 
treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite 
useful lives is recognised in profit or loss in the expense category consistent with the function of the 
intangible asset. 

 Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives or not yet available for use are tested for impairment 
annually, or more frequently if the events and circumstances indicate that the carrying value may 
be impaired either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not 
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is reviewed annually to 
determine whether the useful life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful 
life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis. 

 Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit 
or loss when the asset is derecognised. 

(i) Customer relationships

 Customer relationships were acquired in business combination and relate to relationships with 
both local and overseas shipyards and are amortised over their useful lives ranging 5 to 10 
years.

 (ii) Orderbook and projects in progress

 Orderbooks and projects in progress were acquired in business combination and are amortised 
over their useful lives ranging 1 to 2 years.

(iii) Software

 An acquired software is initially capitalized at cost which includes the purchase price (net of any 
discounts and rebates) and other directly attributed cost of preparing the asset for its intended 
use. These costs are amortised to the income statement using the straight-line method over 
their estimated useful lives of 10 years. 

 
(iv) Club membership

 Club membership was acquired separately and is amortised on a straight line basis over its 
finite useful life of 28 years.
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2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If 
any such indication exists, or when annual impairment assessment for an asset is required, the Group makes 
an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. 

An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less costs to 
sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash 
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or group of assets. Where the carrying amount 
of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is 
written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows expected 
to be generated by the asset are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair 
value less costs to sell, recent market transactions are taken into account, if available. If no such transactions 
can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation 
multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded subsidiaries or other available fair value indicators. 

The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations which are prepared 
separately for each of the Group’s cash-generating units to which the individual assets are allocated. These 
budgets and forecast calculations are generally covering a period of five years. For longer periods, a long-term 
growth rate is calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in profit or loss in those expense categories 
consistent with the function of the impaired assets, except for assets that are previously revalued where the 
revaluation was taken to other comprehensive income. In this case the impairment is also recognised in other 
comprehensive income up to the amount of any previous revaluation.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any 
indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such 
indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount. A previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying 
amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase cannot exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised previously. 
Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is measured at revalued amount, in which case 
the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. 

2.10 Associates

 An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a joint venture, in which the Group has significant influence. 
An associate is equity accounted for from the date the Group obtains significant influence until the date the 
Group ceases to have significant influence over the associate.

 The Group’s investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity method, 
the investment in associates is carried in the balance sheet at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the 
Group’s share of net assets of the associates. Goodwill relating to associates is included in the carrying 
amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor tested individually for impairment. Any excess of the 
Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable asset, liabilities and contingent liabilities over 
the cost of the investment is included as income in the determination of the Group’s share of results of the 
associate in the period in which the investment is acquired. 
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2.10 Associates (cont’d)

The profit or loss reflects the share of the results of operations of the associates. Where there has been a 
change recognised in other comprehensive income by the associates, the Group recognises its share of such 
changes in other comprehensive income. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between 
the Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associates.

The Group’s share of the profit or loss of its associates is shown on the face of profit or loss after tax and 
non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of associates.

When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group 
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the 
associate. 

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional 
impairment loss on the Group’s investment in its associates. The Group determines at the end of each 
reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If 
this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable 
amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the amount in profit or loss. 

The financial statements of the associates are prepared as of the same reporting date as the Company.  
Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group. 

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained 
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of 
significant influence and the fair value of the aggregate of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal 
is recognised in profit or loss. 

2.11 Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies so 
as to obtain benefits from its activities.  

In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less 
any impairment losses.

2.12 Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of financial 
assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. 
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2.12 Financial assets (cont’d)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial 
assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are 
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near 
term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not 
designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by FRS 39. Derivatives, including 
separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as 
effective hedging instruments. 

 
 The Group has not designated any financial assets upon initial recognition at fair value through profit 

or loss.

 Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at 
fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the financial assets are recognised 
in profit or loss. Net gains or net losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include 
exchange differences, interest and dividend income. 

 Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for as separate derivatives and recorded at fair 
value if their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contracts 
and the host contracts are not held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss. These 
embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 
Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies 
the cash flows that would otherwise be required.

(b) Loans and receivables

 Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market are classified as loans and receivables. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables 
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and losses 
are recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, and 
through the amortisation process.

(c) Available-for-sale financial assets

 Available-for-sale financial assets include equity and debt securities. Equity investments classified 
as available-for sale are those, which are neither classified as held for trading nor designated at fair 
value through profit or loss. Debt securities in this category are those which are intended to be held for 
an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to 
changes in the market conditions. 
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2.12 Financial assets (cont’d)

(c) Available-for-sale financial assets (cont’d)

 After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Any 
gains or losses from changes in fair value of the financial asset are recognised in other comprehensive 
income, except that impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary instruments 
and interest calculated using the effective interest method are recognised in profit or loss. The 
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from 
equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment when the financial asset is derecognised. 

 
Investments in equity instruments whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost 
less impairment loss.

 Derecognition

 A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired. 
On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of 
the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive 
income is recognised in profit or loss.

2.13 Impairment of financial assets

 The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial 
asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

(a) Assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first assesses whether objective evidence 
of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for 
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence 
of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes 
the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses 
them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment 
loss is, or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at amortised cost has 
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 
interest rate. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss 
is the current effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an 
allowance account. The impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired financial assets is reduced 
directly or if an amount was charged to the allowance account, the amounts charged to the allowance 
account are written off against the carrying value of the financial asset. 
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2.13 Impairment of financial assets (cont’d)

(a) Assets carried at amortised cost (cont’d)

To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has 
incurred, the Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial 
difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments. 

 If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its 
amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

(b) Financial assets carried at cost

 If there is objective evidence (such as significant adverse changes in the business environment where 
the issuer operates, probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the issuer) that 
an impairment loss on financial assets carried at cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is 
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such 
impairment losses are not reversed in subsequent periods.

(c) Available-for-sale financial assets

 In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, objective evidence of impairment 
include (i) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor, (ii) information about significant changes 
with an adverse effect that have taken place in the technological, market, economic or legal environment 
in which the issuer operates, and indicates that the cost of the investment in equity instrument may not 
be recovered; and (iii) a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its 
costs. ‘Significant’ is to be evaluated against the original cost of the investment and ‘prolonged’ against 
the period in which the fair value has been below its original cost.   

 If an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its 
acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any 
impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss, is transferred from other comprehensive income 
and recognised in profit or loss. Reversals of impairment losses in respect of equity instruments are not 
recognised in profit or loss; increase in their fair value after impairment are recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income.

 In the case of debt instruments classified as available-for-sale, impairment is assessed based on 
the same criteria as financial assets carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded for 
impairment is the cumulative loss measured as the difference between the amortised cost and the 
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in profit or loss. 
Future interest income continues to be accrued based on the reduced carrying amount of the asset, 
using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the 
impairment loss. The interest income is recorded as part of finance income. If, in a subsequent year, 
the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the increases can be objectively related to an event 
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed in 
profit or loss. 
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2.14 Cash and cash equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash at bank and on hand and fixed deposits which are subject to 
an insignificant risk of changes in value. These also include bank overdrafts that form an integral part of the 
Group’s cash management.

2.15 Inventories

 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs incurred in bringing the inventories 
to their present locations and conditions are accounted for as follows: 

- Raw materials: purchase costs determined on a weighted average basis;
- Finished goods and work-in-progress: costs of direct materials and labour and a proportion of 

manufacturing overheads based on normal operating capacity. These costs are assigned on a weighted 
average basis.

 Where necessary, allowance is provided for damaged, obsolete and slow moving items to adjust the carrying 
value of inventories to the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary 
to make the sale.

2.16 Contract revenue

The Group principally operates fixed price contracts. Contract revenue and contract costs are recognised 
as revenue and expenses respectively by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the 
end of the reporting period (the percentage of completion method), when the outcome of a contract can be 
estimated reliably.

The outcome of a contract can be estimated reliably when: (i) total contract revenue can be measured 
reliably; (ii) it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the contract will flow to the entity; (iii) the 
costs to complete the contract and the stage of completion can be measured reliably; and (iv) the contract 
costs attributable to the contract can be clearly identified and measured reliably so that actual contract costs 
incurred can be compared with prior estimates.

When the outcome of a contract cannot be estimated reliably (principally during early stages of a contract), 
contract revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable 
and contract costs are recognised as expense in the period in which they are incurred.

An expected loss on the contract is recognised as an expense immediately when it is probable that total 
contract costs will exceed total contract revenue.

In applying the percentage of completion method, revenue recognised corresponds to the total contract 
revenue (as defined below) multiplied by the actual completion rate based on the proportion of total contract 
costs (as defined below) incurred to date and the estimated costs to complete.
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2.16 Contract revenue (cont’d)

Contract revenue - Contract revenue corresponds to the initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract and 
any variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments to the extent that it is probable that they will 
result in revenue; and they are capable of being reliably measured.

Contract costs - Contract costs include costs that relate directly to the specific contract and costs that are 
attributable to contract activity in general and can be allocated to the contract. Costs that relate directly 
to a specific contract comprise: site labour costs (including site supervision); costs of materials used in 
construction; depreciation of equipment used on the contract; costs of design, and technical assistance that 
is directly related to the contract.

The Group’s contracts are typically negotiated for a single asset or a group of assets which are closely 
interrelated or interdependent in terms of their design, technology and function. In certain circumstances, the 
percentage of completion method is applied to the separately identifiable components of a single contract or 
to a group of contracts together in order to reflect the substance of a contract or a group of contracts.

Assets covered by a single contracts are treated separately when:

- The separate proposals have been submitted for each asset

- Each asset has been subject to separate negotiation and the contractor and customer have been able 
to accept or reject that part of the contract relating to each asset

- The costs and revenues of each asset can be identified

A group of contracts are treated as a single contract when:

- The group of contracts is negotiated as a single package; the contracts are so closely interrelated that 
they are, in effect, part of a single project with an overall profit margin

- The contracts are performed concurrently or in a continuous sequence

2.17 Provisions

General

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no 
longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is 
reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre tax 
rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase 
in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.
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2.17 Provisions (cont’d)

Warranty provisions

 Provisions for warranty-related costs are recognised when the product is sold or service provided. Initial 
recognition is based on historical experience. The initial estimate of warranty-related costs is revised annually.

2.18 Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial 
recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus in the case of financial liabilities not at fair value 
through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss includes financial liabilities held for trading and financial 
liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Financial liabilities are classified 
as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. This category includes 
derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in 
hedge relationships. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are 
designated as effective hedging instruments.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair 
value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the financial liabilities are recognised in profit 
or loss. 

The Group has not designated any financial liabilities upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or 
loss.

Other financial liabilities

After initial recognition, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are 
derecognised, and through the amortisation process. 

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different 
terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is 
treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the 
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
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2.19 Deferred rental

 Deferred rental relates to the difference between the selling price and the fair value of the property under a 
sale and leaseback transaction. This is amortised on a straight line basis over the term of the lease.

2.20 Unearned revenue

 Unearned revenue relates to service packages entered into with customers to the extent that services have 
not been rendered and revenue has not been recognised.

2.21 Deferred revenue

 The Group operates the customer loyalty programme which allows customers to accumulate points when 
they purchase products in the Group’s stores. The points can be redeemed for free or discounted goods from 
the Group’s stores.

 Deferred revenue represents consideration received from the sale of goods that is allocated to the points 
issued under the customer loyalty programme that are expected to be redeemed but are still outstanding as 
at the balance sheet date. 

2.22 Borrowing costs

 Borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of a qualifying asset if they are directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when 
the activities to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and 
borrowing costs are incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets are substantially completed for 
their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur.  Borrowing costs 
consists of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. 

2.23 Employee benefits

(a) Defined contribution plan

 As required by law, the Singapore companies in the Group make contributions to the state pension 
scheme, the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”). CPF contributions are recognised as compensation 
expense in the same period as the employment that gives rise to the contributions.

(b) Employee leave entitlement

 Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.  The estimated 
liability for leave is recognised for services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

 (c) Pension scheme

   The subsidiary in the People’s Republic of China contributes to defined contribution pension schemes. 
Contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the 
scheme.
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2.23 Employee benefits (cont’d)

(d) Employee share option plan

 Employees (including senior executives) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share options 
as consideration for services rendered. The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees 
is measured by reference to the fair value of the options at the date on which the options are granted 
which takes into account market conditions and non-vesting conditions. This cost is recognised in 
profit or loss, with a corresponding increase in the employee share option reserve, over the vesting 
period. The cumulative expense recognised at each reporting date until the vesting date reflects the 
extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of options 
that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period represents the movement in 
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

 No expense is recognised for options that do not ultimately vest, except for options where vesting is 
conditional upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as vested irrespective of whether 
or not the market condition or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance 
and/or service conditions are satisfied. In the case where the option does not vest as the result of a 
failure to meet a non-vesting condition that is within the control of the Group or the employee, it is 
accounted for as a cancellation. In such case, the amount of the compensation cost that otherwise 
would be recognised over the remainder of the vesting period is recognised immediately in profit or 
loss upon cancellation. The employee share option reserve is transferred to retained earnings upon 
expiry of the share options. When the options are exercised, the employee share option reserve is 
transferred to share capital if new shares are issued, or to treasury shares if the options are satisfied 
by the reissuance of treasury shares.

2.24 Leases

 The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the 
arrangement at inception date: whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific 
asset or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is not explicitly specified 
in an arrangement.

 For arrangements entered into prior to 1 January 2005, the date of inception is deemed to be 1 January 2005 
in accordance with the transitional requirements of INT FRS 104.

(a) As lessee

 Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of the leased item, are capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased 
asset or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.  Any initial direct costs are also 
added to the amount capitalised. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and 
reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance 
of the liability.  Finance charges are charged to profit or loss. Contingent rents, if any, are charged as 
expenses in the periods in which they are incurred. 

 Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset and 
the lease term, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the 
lease term. 
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2.24 Leases (cont’d)

(a) As lessee (cont’d)

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term. The aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction 
of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

(b) As lessor

 Leases where the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are 
classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added 
to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same bases as 
rental income.  The accounting policy for rental income is set out in Note 2.26(g). Contingent rents are 
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

2.25 Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell. Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for 
sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through 
continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset or 
disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to 
the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the 
date of classification. A component of the Group is classified as a “discontinued operation” when the criteria 
to be classified as held for sale have been met or it has been disposed of and such a component represents 
a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations or is part of a single coordinated plan to 
dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations.

In profit or loss of the current reporting period, and of the comparative period of the previous year, all income 
and expenses from discontinued operations are reported separately from income and expenses from 
continuing operations, down to the level of profit after taxes, even when the Group retains a non-controlling 
interest in the subsidiary after the sale. The resulting profit or loss (after taxes) is reported separately in profit 
or loss.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets once classified as held for sale are not depreciated or 
amortised. 

2.26 Revenue

 Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and 
the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is made. Revenue is measured at the 
fair value of consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment 
and excluding taxes or duty. The Group assesses its revenue arrangements to determine if it is acting as 
principal or agent. The Group has concluded that it is acting as a principal in all of its revenue arrangements. 
The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:
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2.26 Revenue (cont’d)

(a) Sale of goods

 Revenue from sale of goods is recognised upon the transfer of significant risk and rewards of ownership 
of the goods to the customer, usually on delivery of goods. Revenue is not recognised to the extent 
where there are significant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due, associated costs 
or the possible return of goods.

(b) Contract revenue

 Revenue from contract is recognised in accordance with Note 2.16.

(c) Rendering of services

 Service income is recognised when services are rendered.

(d) Management fee

 Management fee income is recognised when management services are rendered.

(e) Dividend income

 Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

(f) Interest income

 Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

(g) Rental income

 Rental income on the sublet of a leased property is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease 
terms. The aggregate costs of incentives provided to leases are recognised as a reduction of rental 
income over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

2.27 Income tax

(a) Current income tax

 Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount 
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to 
compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting 
period, in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income. 

 Current taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates to items recognised 
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable 
tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.
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2.27 Income tax (cont’d)

(b) Deferred tax

 Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the end of the reporting 
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences, except:

- where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an 
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

- in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused 
tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and 
unused tax losses can be utilised except: 

- where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from 
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; 
and 

- in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the 
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and 
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part 
of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of 
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable 
profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of each reporting period. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or 
loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination is 
adjusted against goodwill on acquisition. 
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2.27 Income tax (cont’d)

(b) Deferred tax (cont’d)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set 
off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same 
taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for separate 
recognition at that date, would be recognised subsequently if new information about facts and 
circumstances changed. The adjustment would either be treated as a reduction to goodwill (as long as 
it does not exceed goodwill) if it incurred during the measurement period or in profit or loss.

(c) Sales tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax except:

- Where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or service is not recoverable from the 
taxation authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of 
the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

- Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included. 

 The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part 
of receivables or payables in the balance sheet.

2.28 Segment reporting

 For management purposes, the Group is organised into operating segments based on their products 
and services which are independently managed by the respective segment managers responsible for the 
performance of the respective segments under their charge. The segment managers report directly to the 
management of the Company who regularly review the segment results in order to allocate resources to the 
segments and to assess the segment performance. Additional disclosures on each of these segments are 
shown in Note 38, including the factors used to identify the reportable segments and the measurement basis 
of segment information.

2.29 Share capital and share issue expenses

 Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares are recognised as share capital in equity. Incremental costs 
directly attributable to the issuance of ordinary shares are deducted against share capital.

2.30 Government grants 

 Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will 
be received and all attached conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it 
is recognised in profit or loss over the periods necessary to match them on a systematic basis, to the costs, 
which it is intended to compensate.  Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred 
capital grant on the balance sheet and is amortised to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant 
asset by equal annual instalments.
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2.31 Contingencies

A contingent liability is:

(a)  a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 
the Group; or

(b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:

 (i)   It is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to 
settle the obligation; or 

 (ii) The amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

 A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only 
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 
the Group. 

 Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the balance sheet of the Group, except for contingent 
liabilities assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and which the fair values can be 
reliably determined.

2.32 Related parties

A related party is defined as follows:

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group and Company if that person:

 (i) Has control or joint control over the Company;

 (ii) Has significant influence over the Company; or

 (iii)  Is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or Company or of a parent of the 
Company.

(b) An entity is related to the Group and the Company if any of the following conditions applies:

 (i)  The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

 (ii)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of 
a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

 (iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
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2.32 Related parties (cont’d)

 (iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

 (v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Company 
or an entity related to the Company. If the Company is itself such a plan, the sponsoring 
employers are also related to the Company;

 (vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a); 

 (vii)  A person identified in (a) (i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates

 The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities at 
the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes 
that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future 
periods.

(a) Judgements made in applying accounting policies

 In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following 
judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which has the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognised in the financial statements: 

(i) Impairment of available-for-sale investments

 The Group reviews its debt securities classified as available-for-sale investments at each balance 
sheet date to assess whether they are impaired. The Group also records impairment charges on 
available-for-sale equity investments when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in 
the fair value below their cost. The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires 
judgement. In making this judgement, the Group evaluates, among other factors, historical 
share price movements and the duration and extent to which the fair value of an investment 
is less than its cost. For the financial year ended 31 December 2011, no impairment loss was 
recognised for available-for-sale financial assets (2010: $Nil).
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3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates (cont’d)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

(i) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

 Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated 
useful lives. Management estimates the useful lives of these property, plant and equipment to 
be within 3 to 24 years.  The carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and equipment at 31 
December 2011 was $18,071,557 (2010: $3,130,612). Changes in the expected level of usage 
and technological developments could impact the economic useful lives and the residual values 
of these assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.

(ii) Income taxes

 The Group has exposure to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement 
is involved in determining the Group-wide provision for income taxes. There are certain 
transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the 
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on 
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters 
is different from the amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the 
income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. The 
carrying amount of the Group’s tax payables and deferred tax liabilities/assets at 31 December 
2011 are disclosed in the balance sheets. 

(iii) Impairment of non-financial assets

 An impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds 
its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in 
use. The fair value less costs to sell calculation is based on available data from binding sales 
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less 
incremental costs for disposing the asset. The value in use calculation is based on a discounted 
cash flow model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next five years and do 
not include restructuring activities that the Group is not yet committed to or significant future 
investments that will enhance the asset’s performance of the cash generating unit being tested. 
The recoverable amount is most sensitive to the discount rate used for the discounted cash flow 
model as well as the expected future cash inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation 
purposes. Further details of the key assumptions applied in the impairment assessment of 
goodwill and other intangible assets are disclosed in Note 12 to the financial statements.
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3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates (cont’d)

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

(iv) Impairment of loans and receivables

 The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a 
financial asset is impaired. To determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment, the 
Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties 
of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments.

 
 Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash flows are 

estimated based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. 
The carrying amount of the Group’s loans and receivable at the balance sheet date is disclosed 
in Note 35 to the financial statements.

(v) Employee share options

 The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the 
fair value of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. Estimating fair value 
for share-based payment transactions requires determining the most appropriate valuation 
model, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This estimate also requires 
determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the expected life of the 
share option, volatility and dividend yield and making assumptions about them. The assumptions 
and models used for estimating fair value for share-based payment transactions are disclosed 
in Note 5.

(vi) Contract revenue

 The Group recognises contract revenue by reference to the stage of completion of the contract 
activity at the end of each reporting period, when the outcome of a contract can be estimated 
reliably. The stage of completion is measured by reference to the proportion that contract 
costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated total contract costs. Significant 
assumptions are required to estimate the total contract costs and the recoverable variation 
works that will affect the stage of completion. The estimates are made based on past experience 
and knowledge of the project engineers. The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising 
from contracts at the end of each reporting period are disclosed in Note 19 to the financial 
statements.

(vii) Fair value of financial instruments

 Where the fair values of financial instruments recorded on the balance sheet cannot be derived 
from active markets, they are determined using valuation techniques including the discounted 
cash flow model. The inputs to these models are derived from observable market data where 
possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required in establishing fair 
values. The judgments include considerations of liquidity and model inputs regarding the future 
financial performance of the investee, its risk profile, and economic assumptions regarding the 
industry and geographical jurisdiction in which the investee operates. Changes in assumptions 
about these factors could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments. The valuation of 
financial instruments is described in more detial in Note 34.
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3. Significant accounting judgements and estimates (cont’d)

 (b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

(viii) Warranty claims 

 The Group gives 12 months warranty for certain contracts. Management estimates the related 
provision for future warranty claims based on management’s best estimates which may differ 
from future claims. Factors that could impact the estimated claim information include the success 
of the Group’s productivity and quality initiatives, as well as parts and labour cost.

(ix) Economic useful lives of intangible assets

 Intangible Assets with finite life are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated 
economic useful lives. The economic useful lives of intangible assets with finite life are disclosed 
in Note 2.8. The carrying amount of the Group’s intangible assets at 31 December 2011 are 
disclosed in Note 12. Changes in the expected level of returns of intangible assets, technological 
developments and development of new material could impact the economic useful lives and 
the residual values of these intangible assets, therefore future amortisation charges could be 
revised.

4. Revenue

Group
2011 2010

$ $

Sale of goods 51,546,599 44,135,756
Project revenue 39,063,043 32,416,524
Service income 4,019,775 2,117,629
Rental of equipment 565,794 492,545
Dividend income 31,697 555,287

95,226,908 79,717,741

5. Employee benefits

Group
2011 2010

$ $

Salaries and bonuses 13,305,167 9,386,623
Central Provident Fund contributions 1,073,758 604,286
Share-based payments (Employee share option plans) 403,364 522,312
Other short-term benefits 1,345,344 658,772

16,127,633 11,171,993

 These include the amount shown as directors’ and other key management personnel compensation in Note 
32(b).
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5. Employee benefits (cont’d)

Employee share option plans

The Novena Holdings Limited Share Option Scheme (the “Novena Scheme”) and The Viking Offshore and 
Marine Limited Share Option Scheme (the “VOM Scheme”)

Selected employees, as determined by the committee administering the Schemes, are entitled to a grant of 
options. The options will vest if the employee remains in service for a period of one year from the date of grant. 
The exercise price of the options ranges from $0.117- $0.200. The contractual life of the options is between 
2 - 5 years. There are no cash settlement alternatives. 

There has been no cancellation or modification to the Novena Scheme and VOM Scheme during both 2011 
and 2010. The Novena Scheme, which had a life of 10 years, expired on 3 December 2010. The VOM 
Scheme has a 10 years life from 4 December 2010 to 3 December 2020.

The expense recognised in profit or loss for employee services received during the year ended 31 December 
2011 is $403,364, (2010: $522,312) and comprise solely equity-settled options.

Movement of share options during the financial year

The following are the number and weighted average exercise prices (“WAEP”) of, and movements in share 
options during the year.

No. WAEP No. WAEP
2011 2011

$

2010 2010

$

Outstanding at 1 January 12,800,000 0.198 5,200,000 0.117
- Granted – – 12,800,000 0.198
- Forfeited (500,000) 0.198 (800,000) 0.117
- Exercised – – (4,400,000) 0.117
Outstanding at 31 December 12,300,000 0.198 12,800,000 0.198

Exercisable at 31 December * 12,300,000 0.198 – –

 *  4,100,000 options (including 2,500,000 options held by director Ong Choo Guan) expired on 14 January 
2012.

The weighted exercise price for options outstanding at the end of the year was $0.198 (2010: $0.198). The 
weighted average remaining contractual life for these options is 0.96 years (2010: 1.7 years).
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5. Employee benefits (cont’d)

Fair value of share options granted

The fair value of share options as at the date of grant is estimated by the Group using the Black-Scholes 
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. No share option 
was granted during the year ended 31 December 2011. The inputs to the model used for the year ended 31 
December 2010 is shown below. 

2010

Dividend yield (%) 0%
Expected volatility (%) 65%
Risk-free interest rate (% p.a.) 2.25%
Expected life of option (years) 1.5
Weighted average share price ($) 0.198

The expected life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise 
patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative 
of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome. No other features of the option grant 
were incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

6. Profit from operations

 This is determined after charging/crediting the following: 

Group
2011 2010

$ $
(a) Other income includes:

 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 
 and non-current asset held for sale 851,509 339,193
Net fair value gain on quoted equity investments
-  Available-for-sales financial assets (transferred from equity on  

  disposal) 10,273,278 2,931,585
-  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 49,973 –
Rental income 1,613,684 1,176,404
Government grant 142,529 109,717
Net reversal of impairment on trade receivables 20,034 –
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6. Profit from operations (cont’d)

Group
2011 2010

$ $
(Restated)

(b) Other operating expenses include:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,596,373 687,358
Amortisation of intangible assets 3,352,765 2,953,747
Other receivables written off – 35,867
Fair value loss on quoted equity investment – 258,069
Trade receivables written-off 22,375 –
Impairment loss on other receivables 5,030,135 68,635
Impairment loss on unquoted equity investment (Note 15) 2,707,792 –
Impairment loss on inventories 44,202 –
Foreign exchange loss, net 25,559 343,275

(c) Other disclosure items:

Audit fees paid to:
- Auditors of the Company 236,000 246,000
- Other auditors 7,282 15,975
Non-audit fees paid to:
- Auditors of the Company 68,100 62,100
- Other auditors 1,114 2,426
Employee benefits (Note 5) 16,127,633 11,171,993
Operating lease expenses 2,974,179 2,812,731

7. Directors’ remuneration

 Number of directors of the Company in remuneration bands

2011 2010

$500,000 and above 1 1
$250,000 to $499,000 1 1
0 to $250,000 6 5

8 7
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8. Finance costs

Group
2011 2010

$ $
(Restated)

Interest expense on:
-  bank loans, overdrafts and facilities 547,329 318,185
-  lease obligations 26,957 11,358
-  acquisition of subsidiary 332,785 77,178
-  other payables 79,561 –
-  others 53,221 834

1,039,853 407,555

9. Taxation

 The major components of income tax expense for the year ended 31 December 2011 and 2010 are:

Group
2011 2010

$ $
(Restated)

Current income tax
-  current year 1,404,363 2,216,576
-  over provision in respect of previous years (381,721) (158,366)

Deferred income tax
-  over provision in respect of previous years (40,000) 99,778
-  movement of temporary differences (1,630,708) (968,510)
Tax (credit)/expense (648,066) 1,189,478
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9. Taxation (cont’d)

 The reconciliation of the tax (credit)/expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the applicable 
corporate tax rates for the years ended 31 December 2011 and 2010 are as follows:

Group
2011 2010

$ $
(Restated)

Profit before tax 5,376,247 12,563,049

Tax at the domestic rates applicable to profits in the countries where the 
Group operates 2,188,150 2,322,670

Adjustments:
Non-deductible expenses/charges 1,718,562 520,759
Income not subject to tax (2,524,663) (693,337)
Effect of partial tax exemption (155,550) (116,614)
Deferred tax assets not recognised 170,486 286,699
Utilisation of deferred tax assets not recognised in previous year – (34,221)
Overprovision in respect of previous years (421,721) (158,366)
Movement of temporary differences (1,630,708) (968,510)
Others 7,378 30,398

Tax (credit)/expense (648,066) 1,189,478

Unrecognised tax losses

 The Group has unutilised tax losses of approximately $3,709,000 (2010: $2,707,000) available for offset 
against future taxable profits, subject to the agreement of the tax authorities and compliance with relevant 
provisions of the tax legislation of the respective countries in which the subsidiaries operate. The potential 
deferred tax assets arising from these unutilised tax losses have not been recognised in the financial 
statements in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy in Note 2.
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9. Taxation (cont’d)

Group

Deferred taxation at 31 December relates to the following:

Consolidated balance sheet Consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income

2011
$

2010
$

2011
$

2010
$

(Restated) (Restated)
Deferred tax asset
Provisions 10,925 10,925 – –
Total deferred tax asset 10,925 10,925

Deferred tax liability
Differences in depreciation (284,881) (324,881) (40,000) 99,778
Fair value adjustments on acquisition 

of subsidiaries (4,565,112) (4,543,945) (1,630,708) (968,510)
Total deferred tax liability (4,849,993) (4,868,826)

Deferred income tax (1,670,708) (868,732)
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10. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to owners of the 
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to owners of 
the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year plus 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the existing 
warrants of the Company into ordinary shares.

The following tables reflect the profit and loss and share data used in the computation of basic and diluted 
earnings per share for the years ended 31 December:

Group
2011 2010

$ $
(Restated)

Net profit attributable to owners of the Company 5,934,555 11,256,282

Number of shares
2011 2010

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
  computation of basic earnings per share 583,869,779 540,245,124

Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary
  shares for the computation of diluted earnings
  per share 583,869,779 540,245,124

As at year end, 12,300,000 (2010: 12,800,000) share options granted to employees under the existing 
employee share option plans and warrants of 105,794,416 (2010: 105,794,416), have not been included in 
the calculation of diluted earnings per share because they are anti-dilutive. 

 Since the end of the financial year, no directors or senior executives have exercised the options to acquire 
ordinary shares (2010: Nil). There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential 
ordinary shares since the reporting date and before the completion of these financial statements.
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11. Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold 
buildings

Computers 
and office 
equipment

Furniture 
and fittings

Motor 
vehicles Renovation

Air 
conditioners Machinery Total

Group $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Cost
At 1.1.2010 2,878,599 1,031,966 294,011 732,570 1,329,281 185,814 403,069 6,855,310
Additions – 144,119 74,941 112,077 128,763 52,600 – 512,500
Disposals (2,878,599) (11,799) – (45,282) (22,351) (33,334) – (2,991,365)
Acquisition of subsidiaries 3,363,833 931,342 522,854 1,400,914 518,559 175,270 1,305,384 8,218,156
Reclassified to non-current 

asset held for sale (3,363,833) – – – – – – (3,363,833)
Exchange difference – (4,105) (739) (10,680) – – (7,618) (23,142)
At 31.12.2010 and 1.1.2011 – 2,091,523 891,067 2,189,599 1,954,252 380,350 1,700,835 9,207,626
Additions – 283,004 204,178 304,442 930,928 86,904 111,222 1,920,678
Disposals – (21,850) (6,900) (665,518) – – (120,390) (814,658)
Acquisition of subsidiary 15,430,375 32,311 1,385 – 252,308 24,380 1,599 15,742,358
Written off – (44,141) (66,496) (68,392) (519,897) (165,420) – (864,346)
Exchange difference – 5,648 998 8,618 28 – 8,338 23,630
At 31.12.2011 15,430,375 2,346,495 1,024,232 1,768,749 2,617,619 326,214 1,701,604 25,215,288

Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment loss

At 1.1.2010 721,524 944,400 294,011 601,448 1,144,138 151,629 195,523 4,052,673
Charge for the year 77,156 132,394 144,635 165,732 109,297 25,378 32,766 687,358
Disposals (721,525) (5,838) – (6,471) (3,459) (33,334) – (770,627)
Acquisition of subsidiaries 713,833 729,655 225,494 582,346 282,085 156,488 213,886 2,903,787
Reclassified to non-current 

asset held for sale (790,988) – – – – – – (790,988)
Exchange difference – (1,438) (317) (2,630) – – (804) (5,189)
At 31.12.2010 and 1.1.2011 – 1,799,173 663,823 1,340,425 1,532,061 300,161 441,371 6,077,014
Charge for the year 544,013 212,762 96,925 246,614 274,841 44,109 177,109 1,596,373
Disposals (21,314) (864) (446,396) – – (76,165) (544,739)
Acquisition of subsidiary 678,205 14,585 368 – 53,142 2,965 320 749,585
Written off – (44,123) (66,116) (68,392) (400,906) (165,348) – (744,885)
Exchange difference – 3,219 548 4,646 (8) – 1,978 10,383
At 31.12.2011 1,222,218 1,964,302 694,684 1,076,897 1,459,130 181,887 544,613 7,143,731

Net carrying amount
At 31.12.2011 14,208,157 382,193 329,548 691,852 1,158,489 144,327 1,156,991 18,071,557

At 31.12.2010 – 292,350 227,244 849,174 422,191 80,189 1,259,464 3,130,612
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11. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Computers 
and office 
equipment

Renovation, 
Furniture and 

fittings
Air 

conditioners Total
$ $ $ $

Company

Cost

At 1.1.2010 98,441 133,176 56,648 288,265
Additions – 118,860 – 118,860
Disposal (6,251) (16,099) – (22,350)
At 31.12.2010 and 1.1.2011 92,190 235,937 56,648 384,775
Additions 32,175 – – 32,175
At 31.12.2011 124,365 235,937 56,648 416,950

Accumulated depreciation

At 1.1.2010 63,818 37,628 19,401 120,847
Charge for the year 12,972 37,863 8,093 58,928
Disposal – (3,459) – (3,459)
At 31.12.2010 and 1.1.2011 76,790 72,032 27,494 176,316
Charge for the year 9,557 33,705 8,093 51,355
At 31.12.2011 86,347 105,737 35,587 227,671

Net carrying amount

At 31.12.2011 38,018 130,200 21,061 189,279

At 31.12.2010 15,400 163,905 29,154 208,459
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11. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Assets held under finance leases

During the financial year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment amounting to $1,920,678 (2010: 
$512,500) of which $242,300 (2010: $83,100) was acquired by means of finance leases. Cash payment of 
$1,678,378 (2010: $429,400) were made to purchase property, plant and equipment. 

The carrying amount of motor vehicles and machinery held by the Group under finance leases as at 31 
December 2011 was $267,086 (2010: $312,887) and $43,710 (2010: $17,225), respectively. 

Leased assets are pledged as security for the related finance lease liabilities.

Assets pledged as security

In addition to assets held under finance leases, the Group’s leasehold property with a carrying amount of 
$14,208,157 (2010: non-current asset held for sale $2,572,845) is subject to a first charge for loans and 
borrowings (Note 27).

Non-current asset held for sale

As at 31 December 2010, leasehold property with a carrying amount of $2,572,845 was presented in the 
balance sheet as non-current asset held for sale. The sale of the leasehold property was completed on 29 
September 2011 for a consideration of $3,250,000. A gain on disposal of $677,155 is recognised in profit or 
loss for the current financial year. The related charge was released and term loans repaid.
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12. Intangible assets

Goodwill
Customer

relationships

Orderbook
and projects
in progress Software

Club
Membership Total

$ $ $ $ $ $

Group

Cost
As at 1.1.2010 – – – – – –
Acquisition of subsidiaries 31,600,743 8,140,000 3,090,000 19,199 71,500 42,921,442
Additions – – – 100,372 – 100,372
Exchange differences – – – (229) – (229)
As at 31.12.10 and 1.1.2011 31,600,743 8,140,000 3,090,000 119,342 71,500 43,021,585
Finalisation of purchase price 

allocation exercise (Note 
13(b) and Note 39) (2,329,592) 1,508,000 823,000 – – 1,408

As at 31.12.10 and 1.1.2011 – 
as restated 29,271,151 9,648,000 3,913,000 119,342 71,500 43,022,993

Additions – – – 973 – 973
Written off – – – – (1,500) (1,500)
Exchange differences – – – 7,735 – 7,735
At 31.12.2011 29,271,151 9,648,000 3,913,000 128,050 70,000 43,030,201

Accumulated amortisation 
and impairment

As at 1.1.2010 – – – – – –
Acquisition of subsidiaries – – – 2,094 – 2,094
Amortisation – 953,900 1,632,000 4,847 – 2,590,747
Exchange differences – – – (177) – (177)
As at 31.12.10 and 1.1.2011 – 953,900 1,632,000 6,764 – 2,592,664
Finalisation of purchase price 

allocation exercise (Note 39) – 28,000 335,000 – – 363,000
As at 31.12.10 and 1.1.2011 – 

as restated – 981,900 1,967,000 6,764 – 2,955,664
Amortisation – 1,436,900 1,891,000 12,158 12,707 3,352,765
Exchange differences – – – 2,716 – 2,716
At 31.12.2011 – 2,418,800 3,858,000 21,638 12,707 6,311,145

Net carrying amount
Balance at 31.12.2010 –  

as restated 29,271,151 8,666,100 1,946,000 112,578 71,500 40,067,329

Balance at 31.12.2011 29,271,151 7,229,200 55,000 106,412 57,293 36,719,056
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12. Intangible assets (cont’d)

Customer relationships and orderbook and projects in progress

Customer relationship and orderbook and project in progress were acquired in the business combination in 
prior year. The economic useful lives of customer relationships and orderbook and projects in progress as 
determined by the Group are disclosed in Note 2.8. The average remaining amortisation period of customer 
relationship and orderbook and project in progress is 7 years (2010: 6 years).

Impairment testing of goodwill, customer relationship and orderbook and projects in progress

Goodwill arising from business combinations has been allocated to two cash-generating units (“CGU”) for 
impairment testing as follows:

– Offshore and Marine Heating, Ventilation and Air-Conditioning segment (“O&M HVAC”)
– Offshore and Marine Telecommunication segment (“O&M Tele”)

The carrying amounts of goodwill, customer relationship and orderbook and projects in progress allocated to 
each CGU as at 31 December are as follows:

O&M HVAC O&M Tele Total
$ $ $

2011
Goodwill 20,876,918 8,394,233 29,271,151
Customer relationships 6,232,200 997,000 7,229,200
Orderbook and projects in progress – 55,000 55,000

27,109,118 9,446,233 36,555,351

2010 (Restated)
Goodwill 20,876,918 8,394,233 29,271,151
Customer relationships 7,186,100 1,480,000 8,666,100
Orderbook and projects in progress 1,458,000 488,000 1,946,000

29,521,018 10,362,233 39,883,251

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been determined based on value in use which is based on 
cash flow projections from financial budgets approved by management covering a 5-year period. The pre-tax 
discount rate applied to the 5-year cash flow projections and the forecasted growth rates used to extrapolate 
cash flow projections beyond the 5-year period are as follows:

O&M HVAC O&M Tele

Growth rates 1.0% 1.0%
Pre-tax discount rates 10.5% 10.5%



124   
Viking Offshore and Marine Limited 

Annual Report 2011

Notes to the Financial Statements 
- 31 December 2011

12. Intangible assets (cont’d)

Impairment testing of goodwill, customer relationships and orderbook and projects in progress (cont’d)

The calculations of value in use for the CGUs are most sensitive to the following assumptions:

Budgeted gross margins – Gross margins are based on budgeted margins expected to be achieved in the 
next 5 years. 

Growth rates – The forecasted growth rates are based on published industry research and do not exceed the 
long-term average growth rate for the industries relevant to the CGUs. 

Pre-tax discount rates – Discount rates represent the current market assessment of the risks specific to each 
CGU, regarding the time value of money and individual risks of the underlying assets which have not been 
incorporated in the cash flow estimates. The discount rate calculation is based on the specific circumstances 
of the Group and its operating segments and derived from its weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”). 
The WACC takes into account both debt and equity. The cost of equity is derived from the expected return on 
investment by the Group’s investors. The cost of debt is based on the interest bearing borrowings the Group is 
obliged to service. Segment–specific risk is incorporated by applying individual beta factors. The beta factors 
are evaluated annually based on publicly available market data. 

Amortisation expense

The amortisation of customer relationships, orderbook, project in progress and software are included in the 
“Other operating expenses” line items in the statement of comprehensive income (Note 6(b)).

Impairment losses

There was no impairment loss recognised during the financial year.

13. Investment in subsidiaries

 Company
2011 2010

$ $
(Restated)

Unquoted equity shares, at cost 91,460,570 12,715,432
Acquisition during the year 10,080,000 78,745,138

101,540,570 91,460,570
Less:  Impairment losses (7,589,626) (7,589,626)

93,950,944 83,870,944
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13. Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

The Company and the Group had the following subsidiaries as at 31 December:

Name 
Country of 

incorporation Principal activities
Proportion (%) of 

ownership interest
2011 2010

Held by the Company

Novena Investment 
Pte Ltd*

Singapore Investment holding 100 100

Viking HVAC Pte Ltd* Singapore Dormant 100 100

Shine @ Spring Pte Ltd* Singapore Retail of beauty and
personal care products

100 100

Fasta International Pte Ltd * Singapore Dormant 100 100

Chuan Seng Leong Pte Ltd * Singapore Distribution and wholesale 
of household, beauty and 
personal care products

80 80

Promoter Hydraulics Pte Ltd* Singapore Manufacture and repair of 
marine engines and ship parts; 
retail and rental of marine 
equipment, marine accessories 
and parts

100 100

Viking Airtech Pte Ltd* Singapore Design, manufacture, 
project management, and 
commissioning of heating, 
ventilation, air conditioning 
systems, and refrigeration 
systems

100 100

Marshal Systems Pte Ltd* Singapore Contractors for electronic and 
electrical engineering works

100 100

Viking Facilities Management & 
Operations Pte. Ltd. (f.k.a. Yeo & 
Chiang Private Limited)*

Singapore Facilities management 100 –
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13. Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Name 
Country of 

incorporation Principal activities
Proportion (%) of 

ownership interest
2011 2010

Held by subsidiaries

B.S.P. Global Pte Ltd * Singapore Dormant 100 100

Niclas International Pte Ltd * Singapore Retailer, importer and
distributor of beauty and
personal care products

100 100

Viking Airtech Yantai Co, Ltd ** People’s 
Republic of 
China

Marine Air Conditioning, 
Manufacture, Installation & 
Design of Marine Refrigerating 
Equipment Maritime HVAC & R 

100 100

Viking Airtech Sdn Bhd ** Malaysia Specializes in marine & 
offshore turkey HVAC & R 
systems

100 100

Viking Airtech (Shanghai) Co, Ltd** People’s 
Republic of 
China

Design, manufacture, 
project management, and 
commissioning of heating, 
ventilation, air conditioning 
systems, and refrigeration 
systems

100 –

PT Viking Airtech ** Indonesia Design, manufacture, 
project management, and 
commissioning of heating, 
ventilation, air conditioning 
systems, and refrigeration 
systems 

100 –

* Audited by Ernst & Young LLP, Singapore.
** Audited by other firms of auditors

Impairment testing of investment in subsidiaries

There was no impairment loss recognised during the financial year (2010: $Nil).
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13. Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Acquisition of subsidiaries

(a) On 18 August 2010, the Company acquired 100% equity interest in Promoter Hydraulics Pte Ltd 
(“PHPL”). Upon the acquisition, PHPL became a subsidiary of the Group. 

 
 The purchase price allocation (“PPA”) of the acquisition of PHPL in the financial year ended 31 

December 2010 were provisional as the valuation exercise was not completed at the date the 2010 
financial statement were authorised for issue. The final valuation of the inventories was completed 
during the current financial year and showed that the total fair value at the date of acquisition was 
$26,264,932, a decrease of $935,807 compared to the provisional value.

 The 2010 comparative information has been restated to reflect this adjustment. The inventories and 
deferred tax liabilities value decreased by $1,127,479 and $191,672 respectively. There was also a 
corresponding reduction in the gain on bargain purchase of $935,807.  

   
 The restated fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of PHPL as at the date of acquisition 

were:

2010 2010

Fair value 
recognised as 

restated 

Provisional 
fair value as 
previously 

stated
$ $

Non-current asset
Property, plant and equipment 1,602,145 1,602,145

Current assets
Inventories 27,047,755 28,175,234
Trade receivables 1,399,252 1,399,252
Other receivables and deposits 454 454
Tax recoverable 64,742 64,742
Cash and cash equivalent 237,229 237,229
Total assets 30,351,577 31,479,056

Current liabilities
Trade payables (862,626) (862,626)
Other payables and accruals (205,606) (205,606)

Non-current liability
Deferred tax liabilities (3,018,413) (3,210,085)
Total liabilities (4,086,645) (4,278,317)

Total identifiable net assets at fair value 26,264,932 27,200,739
Less: Gain on bargain purchase (4,014,932) (4,950,739)
Total purchase consideration 22,250,000 22,250,000
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13. Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Acquisition of subsidiaries (cont’d)

$

Consideration for 100% of PHPL

Cash paid 10,000,000
Equity instruments to be issued 4,250,000
Deferred cash settlement 8,000,000

22,250,000

The effect of acquisition on cash flows is as follows:

Total consideration for 100% equity interest acquired 22,250,000
Less: Non-cash consideration (4,250,000)
Less: Cash and cash equivalent of subsidiary acquired (237,229)
Less: Net cash outflow in prior year (9,762,771)
Net cash outflow during the year 8,000,000

(i) In connection with the acquisition of the 100% equity interest in PHPL, 19,906,000 new ordinary 
shares as part of the total purchase consideration were issued to the vendor on 15 January 
2011 at a fair value of $0.2135 each.  An amount of $8,000,000 of the deferred cash settlement 
was paid on 15 January 2011.

(ii) The fair valuation of the identifiable net assets of PHPL has been finalised during the year. The 
acquisition of the 100% equity interest in PHPL on 18 August 2010 resulted in the recognition 
of a gain on bargain purchase of $4,014,932. Accordingly, the comparative figures have been 
restated retrospectively. 

(b) On 1 December 2010, the Company acquired the 100% equity interest in Marshal  Systems Pte Ltd 
(“MSPL”). Upon the acquisition, MSPL became a subsidiary of the Group. 

 
 The purchase price allocation (“PPA”) of the acquisition of MSPL in the financial year ended 31 

December 2010 were provisional as the result of the PPA exercise was not completed at the date 
the 2010 financial statement were authorised for issue. During the current financial year, the Group 
engaged PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP to perform the PPA exercise on the assets and liabilities of 
MSPL. The final PPA report was completed during the financial year and showed that the total fair 
value at the date of acquisition was $8,210,905, an increase of $1,934,730 compared to the provisional 
value.

 The 2010 comparative information has been restated to reflect this adjustment. Intangibles assets of 
$2,331,000 was identified and the deferred tax liabilities value increased by $396,270. There was also 
a corresponding reduction in goodwill of $2,329,592, to give a total goodwill arising on the acquisition 
of $8,394,233. The amortisation expenses on the intangibles assets from the acquisition date to 31 
December 2010 increased by $363,000. 
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13. Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Acquisition of subsidiaries (cont’d)

(b) The restated fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of MSPL as at the date of acquisition 
were: 

2010 2010

Fair value 
recognised as 

restated

Provisional 
fair value as 
previously 

stated 
$ $

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 387,970 387,970
Intangible assets (Note 11) 2,331,000 –

Current assets
Inventories 13,303 13,303
Due from customers on contracts 1,334,131 1,334,131
Trade receivables 2,257,767 2,257,767
Other receivables and deposits 138,961 138,961
Cash and cash balances 4,923,928 4,923,928
Total assets 11,387,060 9,056,060

Current liabilities
Due to customers on contracts (318,027) (318,027)
Trade payables (1,268,633) (1,268,633)
Other payables and accruals (283,149) (283,149)
Lease obligations (52,645) (52,645)
Current income tax liability (700,846) (700,846)

Non-current liabilities
Lease obligations (89,185) (89,185)
Deferred tax liabilities (463,670) (67,400)
Total liabilities (3,176,155) (2,779,885)

Total identifiable net assets at fair value 8,210,905 6,276,175
Goodwill arising from acquisition 8,394,233 10,723,825
Total purchase consideration 16,605,138 17,000,000
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13. Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Acquisition of subsidiaries (cont’d)

$

Consideration for 100% of MSPL (Restated)

Cash paid 3,000,000
Equity instruments to be issued 4,742,316
Deferred cash settlement 8,862,822

16,605,138

The effect of acquisition on cash flows is as follows:

Total consideration for 100% equity interest acquired 16,605,138
Less: Non-cash consideration (4,742,316)
Less: Cash and cash equivalent of subsidiary acquired (4,923,928)
Less: Net cash inflow in prior year 1,923,928
Add : Imputed interest on deferred payment 152,279
Net cash outflow during the year 9,015,101

(i) In connection with the acquisition of the 100% equity interest in MSPL, 31,211,000 new ordinary 
shares as part of the total purchase consideration were issue to the vendor. The remaining 
balance of the purchase consideration made up of deferred cash settlement of $8,862,822 and 
imputed interest of $152,279 was paid during the year.

(ii) The fair valuation of the identifiable net assets of MSPL has been finalised during the year. 
The acquisition of the 100% equity interest in MSPL on 1 December 2010 resulted in the 
recognition of goodwill of $8,394,233. Accordingly, the comparative figures have been restated 
retrospectively. 
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13. Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Acquisition of subsidiaries (cont’d)
 
(c )  On 7 March 2011, the Company acquired 100% equity interest in Viking Facilities Management & 

Operations Pte. Ltd. (“VFMO”, formally known as Yeo & Chiang Private Limited). Upon the acquisition, 
VFMO became a subsidiary of the Group. The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of 
VFMO as at the acquisition date were:

Fair value 
recognised

$

Non-current asset
Property, plant and equipment 14,992,773

Current assets
Other receivables and deposits 11,129
Cash and cash equivalents 11,110
Total assets 15,015,012

Current liabilities
Other payables and accruals (106,767)
Current income tax liability (12,954)

Non-current liability
Deferred tax liabilities (1,651,877)
Total liabilities (1,771,598)

Total identifiable net assets at fair value 13,243,414
Less: Gain on bargain purchase (3,163,414)
Total purchase consideration 10,080,000
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13. Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Acquisition of subsidiaries (cont’d)

$
Consideration for 100% of VFMO

Cash paid 10,080,000

The effect of acquisition on cash flows is as follows:

Total consideration for 100% equity interest acquired 10,080,000
Less: Prepaid deposits in prior year (1,008,000)
Less: Cash and cash equivalent of subsidiary acquired (11,110)
Net cash outflow on acquisition 9,060,890

 (i)  In connection with the acquisition of the 100% equity interest in VFMO, deposits of $1,008,000 
was paid to vendor on signing of the sales and purchase agreement in year 2010. The remaining 
balance of $9,072,000 was paid in cash to the vendor in January 2011.

(ii) VFMO derive rental income solely from the leasehold building which are currently occupied 
by the wholly owned subsidiaries within the Group. The impact to the profit or loss from the 
utilisation of the leasehold building owned by VFMO cannot be derived easily as this would 
require significant judgement and assumption to estimate. 

(iii) Transaction costs related to the acquisition of $75,160 have been recognised in the “Administrative 
Expenses” line item in the Group’s statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 
December 2011.

(iv) The acquisition of 100% equity interest in VFMO on 7 March 2011 resulted in the recognition of 
a gain on bargain purchase of $3,163,414.
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13. Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Acquisition of subsidiaries (cont’d)
 
(d)  On 12 January 2010, the Company acquired 100% equity interest in Viking Airtech Pte Ltd (“VAT”). 

Upon the acquisition, VAT and its subsidiaries became subsidiaries of the Group. 

  The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of VAT and its subsidiaries arising from the 
acquisition were finalised in prior year based on a valuation carried out by PricewaterhouseCoopers 
LLP and the fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities at the acquisition date were:

Fair value 
recognised

$

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 3,324,254
Financial assets, available for sale 43,870
Intangible assets 11,318,605
Deferred tax asset 10,925

Current assets
Inventories 1,038,084
Due from customers on construction contracts 2,496,649
Trade receivables 9,411,246
Other receivables and deposits 390,564
Cash and cash equivalents 20,100,057
Total assets 48,134,254

Current liabilities
Due to customers on construction contracts (5,502,467)
Trade payables (3,069,470)
Other payables and accruals (15,999,568)
Lease obligations (7,713)
Term loan (59,750)
Current income tax liability (1,193,458)
Provisions (160,299)

Non-current liabilities
Lease obligations (26,271)
Term loan (908,184)
Deferred tax liabilities (2,193,992)
Total liabilities (29,121,172)

Total identifiable net assets at fair value 19,013,082
Goodwill arising from acquisition 20,876,918
Total purchase consideration 39,890,000
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13. Investment in subsidiaries (cont’d)

Acquisition of subsidiaries (cont’d)

$
Consideration for 100% of VAT

Cash paid 20,000,000
Equity instruments issued 19,890,000

39,890,000

The effect of acquisition on cash flows were as follows:

Total consideration for 100% equity interest acquired 39,890,000
Less: Equity instruments issued (19,890,000)
Less: Cash and cash equivalent of subsidiary acquired (20,100,057)
Add: Cash restricted for use in the subsidiary acquired 13,486,351
Net cash outflow on acquisition 13,386,294

(i) In connection with the acquisition of the 100% equity interest in VAT, an amount of $20,000,000 
was paid in cash to the vendor and 102,000,000 ordinary shares were issued at a fair value of 
$0.195 each.

(ii) The acquisition of the 100% equity interest in VAT on 12 January 2010 resulted in goodwill 
recognised of $20,876,918.

14. Quoted equity investments

Group 
2011 2010

$ $
Non-current

Available-for-sale financial assets 2,198,584 27,776,171

Current

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss – 272,115

Quoted equity investments pledged as security

The Group’s quoted equity investments amounting to $950,000 (2010: $21,105,000) has been pledged as a 
security for loans and borrowings (Note 27). Under the terms and conditions of the loans and borrowings, the 
Group is prohibited from disposing these investments or subjecting it to further charges without furnishing a 
replacement security of similar value.
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15. Unquoted equity investments

Group and Company
2011 2010

$ $

Unquoted equity investments, at cost 2,707,792 2,707,792
Impairment loss (2,707,792) –

– 2,707,792

Unquoted equity investment represents equity interest of 19.86% in Marine Accomm Pte Ltd (“MAPL”). 

In prior year, the Company acquired 55% interest in MAPL. The original cost of acquisition amounted to 
$7.5 million of which $6.5 million was paid. Subsequent to the acquisition and before the end of the previous 
financial year, the Company disposed off 35.14% interest in MAPL at cost for a consideration of $4.792 
million. This amount was recorded in the other receivables as at 31 December 2010 (Note 18).

The results of MAPL have not been consolidated or equity accounted into the Group’s results as the Company 
had not been able to exercise effective control or significant influence over MAPL. This includes management’s 
inability to govern the financial and operating polices or exercise significant influence over MAPL so as to 
obtain benefits from its activities.  

During the year, in view of developments stated in Note 40, the Company recorded full impairment of the 
investment in MAPL.

16. Inventories

Group
2011 2010

$ $
(Restated)

Balance sheet:
Raw materials 3,979,075 2,126,941
Work-in-progress 5,326,148 6,915,600
Finished goods 18,293,077 22,242,830

27,598,300 31,285,371

Statement of comprehensive income:
Inventories recognised as an expense in cost of sales 62,944,969 51,749,330
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17. Trade receivables

Group
2011

$
2010

$

Trade receivables 13,806,182 18,638,695
Allowance for doubtful debts (9,891) (158,347)

13,796,291 18,480,348

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 90 days terms. They are recognised at 
their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.

At the end of the reporting period, trade receivable arising from export sales amounting to $1,458,350 (2010: 
$1,922,521) are arranged to be settled via letters of the credit issued by reputable bank in countries where 
the customers are based. 

Trade receivables denominated in foreign currencies at 31 December are as follows:

Group
2011

$
2010

$

United States Dollar 2,382,923 3,303,102
Euro 176,929 149,241
Malaysian Ringgit 87,842 –

Receivables that are past due but not impaired

The Group has trade receivables amounting to $6,785,366 (2010: $5,757,998) that are past due at the 
balance sheet date but not impaired. These receivables are unsecured and the analysis of their ageing at the 
balance sheet date is as follows: 

Group
2011 2010

$ $

Trade receivables past due but not impaired:
  Less than 30 days 1,525,757 376,644
  30 to 60 days 517,011 1,724,691
  61-90 days 1,180,106 685,706
  More than 90 days 3,562,492 2,970,957

6,785,366 5,757,998
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17. Trade receivables (cont’d)

Receivables that are impaired

The Group’s trade receivables that are impaired at the balance sheet date and the movement of the allowance 
accounts used to record the impairment are as follows:

Group
Collectively impaired Individually impaired
2011

$
2010

$
2011

$
2010

$

Trade receivables – nominal
  amounts – – 9,891 158,347
Less: Allowance for impairment – – (9,891) (158,347)

– – – –

Movement in allowance accounts:

At 1 January – – 158,347 28,766
Acquired via acquisition – – – 158,347
Charge for the year – – 9,891 –
Reversal of allowance for impairment – – (29,925) –
Written off – – (128,422) (28,766)
At 31 December – – 9,891 158,347

 Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the balance sheet date relate to debtors 
that are in significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments. These receivables are not secured 
by any collateral or credit enhancements.

18. Other receivables and deposits

Group Company
2011

$
2010

$
2011

$
2010

$

Deposits 738,983 1,630,307 29,048 1,057,148
Other receivables 5,031,609 5,609,828 3,817,285 4,838,907
Due from investee company 2,200,000 2,200,000 2,200,000 2,200,000
Allowance for doubtful debts (5,098,770) (68,635)  (5,002,109) –

2,871,822 9,371,500 1,044,224 8,096,055

Other receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 90 days terms. Included in other 
receivables is $3,792,208 (2010: $4,792,208) due from a shareholder of Marine Accomm Pte Ltd (“MAPL”) 
(Note 15). The amount due from investee company (MAPL) is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 
demand. 

During the year, an allowance for doubtful debt of $2,792,000 and $2,200,000 was made for amount due from 
a shareholder of MAPL and amount due from MAPL, respectively, net of other payables of $1,000,000 (2010: 
$1,000,000) (Note 23). 
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19. Gross amount due from/(to) customers for contracts work-in-progress

Group
2011 2010

$ $

Contract costs incurred to date 38,751,886 16,128,678
Recognised profits less recognised losses to date 13,875,670 6,387,337

52,627,556 22,516,015
Progress billing (46,617,022) (20,702,754)

6,010,534 1,813,261

Represented as:

Gross amount due from customers on contracts 7,247,236 3,208,138
Gross amount due to customers on contracts (1,236,702) (1,394,877)

6,010,534 1,813,261

Advances received on contracts (Note 23) 832,948 1,407,538

20. Cash and short-term deposits

Group Company
2011

$
2010

$
2011

$
2010

$

Cash at banks and on hand 8,901,042 15,328,518 12,725 1,026,654
Short-term deposits 
- Secured 404,379 99,961 – –
- Unsecured 99,961 400,544 – –
Pledged deposits – 179,490 – –
Cash and short-term deposits 9,405,382 16,008,513 12,725 1,026,654

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made for 
varying periods of between 7 days to 12 months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, 
and earn interest at short-term deposit rates ranging from 0.05% to 0.3% (2010: 0.1% to 1%) per annum.
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20. Cash and short-term deposits (cont’d)

Cash and short-term deposits denominated in foreign currencies at 31 December are as follows:

Group
2011 2010

$ $

United States Dollar 2,359,355 4,857,427
Chinese Renminbi 154,925 243,247
Malaysian Ringgit 347,317 57,265
Euro 23,159 342,279

Secured short-term deposits are pledged to secure performance guarantees, bank loans, bills payable and 
bank overdrafts granted by the banks.

 For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following 
at the end of the reporting period:

Group
2011 2010

$ $

Cash and short-term deposits 9,405,382 16,008,513
Short-term deposits (secured) and pledged deposits (404,379) (279,451)
Bank overdrafts (Note 27) (205,641) (2,677,079)
Cash and cash equivalents 8,795,362 13,051,983

21. Trade payables

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 - 90 days terms.

Trade payable denominated in foreign currencies at 31 December are as follows:

Group
2011

$
2010

$

United States Dollar 962,724 920,893
Norwegian Krone 160,405 –
Hong Kong Dollar – 83,373
Chinese Renminbi 90,619 70
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22. Unearned revenue

 Unearned revenue relates to service packages entered into with customers to the extent that services have 
not been rendered and revenue has not been recognised.

23. Other payables and accruals

Group Company
2011

$
2010

$
2011

$
2010

$
(Restated) (Restated)

Accrued operating expenses 2,553,719 2,321,521 333,391 312,181
Deferred revenue 8,167 102,010 – –
Customers’ deposits – 571,070 – –
Advance payments from customers 

(Note 19) 832,948 1,407,538 – –
Other payables 1,793,300 3,124,531 1,380,081 1,825,028
Deferred purchase considerations – 25,855,138 – 25,855,138
Due to a director 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
Rental deposits received – 266,625 – –

6,188,134 34,648,433 2,713,472 28,992,347

Other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30 - 90 days terms. Included in other 
payables is an amount due to a shareholder of MAPL of $1,000,000 (2010: $1,000,000) (Note 18).

The amount due to a director is unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand and is expected to be settled 
in cash.

Deferred purchase consideration in prior year relating to the purchase of PHPL (Note 13(a)) and MSPL (Note 
13(b)) were unsecured and the balance relating to the purchase of PHPL was non-interest bearing and the 
balance relating to the purchase of MSPL borne interest at 8% per annum. These were settled during the 
current financial year.
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24. Deferred rental

Group
2011

$
2010

$

Cost
At 1 January and 31 December 1,398,000 1,398,000

Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January (765,571) (565,857)
Amortisation during the year (199,714) (199,714)
At 31 December (965,285) (765,571)

Net Book Value
Current 199,714 199,714
Non-current 233,001 432,715
At 31 December 432,715 632,429

In 2007, a subsidiary in the Group entered into an agreement for sale and leaseback of a property. Deferred 
rental relates to the difference between the selling price and the fair value of the property. This difference is 
amortised over the lease term of the property of 7 years on a straight line basis.

25. Due from/(to) subsidiaries (non-trade) 

Except as disclosed below, these balances are unsecured, interest-free, are repayable on demand and are 
expected to be settled in cash.

Due from subsidiary (non-trade)

In prior year, an amount of $220,000 due from a subsidiary was unsecured, bear interest at 3% per annum, 
repayable on demand and was to be settled in cash. The amount was fully repaid during the year.

Due to subsidiaries (non-trade)

Included in the amount due to subsidiaries during the year is an amount of $4,800,000 (2010: $Nil) which is 
in relation to a term loan drawn down by a subsidiary (Note 27(a) Loan C). The interest on the term loan is 
recharged back to the Company. The term loan bears interest at rates ranging from 2.87% to 2.94% (2010: 
Nil%) per annum.
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26. Lease obligations

Group
Minimum

lease
payments Interest

Present
value of

payments
$ $ $

2011
1 year to 5 years 219,695 (30,018) 189,677
Later than 5 years 8,943 (1,556) 7,387

228,638 (31,574) 197,064
Not later than 1 year 79,791 (11,169) 68,622

308,429 (42,743) 265,686

2010
1 year to 5 years 211,038 (26,111) 184,927
Later than 5 years 35,670 (6,012) 29,658

246,708 (32,123) 214,585
Not later than 1 year 110,000 (17,770) 92,230

356,708 (49,893) 306,815

Obligations under finance lease are secured by a charge over the leased asset (Note 11).

Lease terms range from 1 to 5 years with options to purchase at the end of the lease term. Lease terms do not 
contain restrictions concerning dividends, additional debt or further leasing. The average discount rate implicit 
in the Group’s lease obligations are 4.33% to 7.67% (2010: 5.1% to 6.86%) per annum.
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27. Loans and borrowings

(a) Term loans - secured

Group Company
2011 2010 2011 2010

$ $ $ $

Current liabilities
Short-term loans:
     -  Loan A –   9,711,672          –   9,711,672
     -  Loan B –   5,047,555          –   5,047,555
     -  Loan C 4,800,000          –          –          –

4,800,000 14,759,227          – 14,759,227

Current portion of long-
     term loans:
     -  Loan D 1,596,125          – 1,596,125          –
     -  Loan E    824,000          –          –          –

2,420,125          – 1,596,125          –

Total current liabilities 7,220,125 14,759,227 1,596,125 14,759,227

Non-current liabilities
Long-term loans:
Later than one year but not 
     later than five years
        -   Loan E 4,120,020 – – –
Later than five years
        -   Loan E 2,677,977 – – –
Total non-current liabilities 6,797,997 – – –

Loan A and B

The above SGD short term loans were fully repaid during the year. The loans bear interest ranging 
from 2.44% to 2.65% per annum and were secured by a first legal mortgage on the subsidiary’s 
building and a pledge of the Company’s quoted equities.

Loan C

The SGD term loans bear interest ranging from 2.87% to 2.94% (2010: Nil%) per annum and are 
repayable on demand. The loans are secured by a fixed and floating charge over the subsidiary’s 
assets and corporate guarantee of the Company.

Loan D

The SGD term loan bears interest rate of 5.75% (2010: Nil%) per annum and is repayable on demand. 
The loan is secured by deed of guarantee and indemnity for all monies from the subsidiaries.
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27. Loans and borrowings (cont’d)

(a) Term loans – secured (cont’d)

Loan E

 The SGD term loan bear interest at 1.65% per annum above the cost of funds at the bank. During the 
financial year, interest was charged at an average effective rate of 2.02% (2010: Nil%) per annum. The 
loan is secured by a first legal mortgage on the subsidiary’s leasehold properties (Note 11). The loan 
is repayable in 120 monthly instalments commencing on 7 April 2011.

(b) Bank overdrafts

 Quoted equity investments are pledge to secure bank overdrafts (Note 14). Bank overdrafts bear 
interest ranging from 2.5% to 6.25% (2010: 2.5% to 6.25%) per annum.

(c) Bills payable

 The interest rate of bills payable ranges from 2.17% to 3.25% (2010: 2.13% to 2.64%) per annum. 
These bills mature within 1 to 4 months from year end.

28. Investment in associate

Group
2011

$
2010

$
(a) Investment in associate comprise: 

Unquoted equity shares, at cost – –
Share of reserves – –
Carrying amount – –

 (b) Details of the associate company at the end of the financial year are as follows:

Name 
Country of 

incorporation Principal activities
Proportion (%) of 

ownership interest
2011 2010

Shenzhen Calo Enersave 
Furniture Co. Ltd *

People’s Republic 
of

China

Manufacture and retail 
of office, household and 
custom-made furniture

26 26

*  Audited by Yuehua Certified Public Accountants Co. Ltd, Shenzhen, PRC in prior years. The 
associate company is not significant as defined under Listing Rule 718 of the Singapore 
Exchange Listing Manual. 

In the current year and prior years, financial information is not available to the Group from its associate 
company as it has been dormant and in the process of liquidation. All investment in the associate 
company has been fully written off in prior years.  
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29. Share capital

Group and Company
2011

No. of shares
2010

No. of shares
2011

$
2010

$
Issued and fully paid ordinary 

shares

At 1 January 551,172,333 423,177,666 70,088,644 44,828,114
Issue of new shares:

- Issuance of shares in relation to  
   acquisitions (Note 13(a)/(b)) 51,117,000 102,000,000 9,249,934 19,890,000

- Exercise of equity-settled share  
   options – 4,400,000 – 650,185

- Issue of warrants – – – 2,992,772
- Exercise of warrants – 21,594,667 – 1,727,573

At 31 December 602,289,333 551,172,333 79,338,578 70,088,644

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All 
ordinary shares carry one vote per share without restriction. The ordinary shares have no par value.
 
In prior year, the Company issued 21,594,667 shares at $0.08 each upon the exercise of warrants. As at 
31 December 2010, 139,976 warrants which carried the right to subscribe for one new share each in the 
Company at an exercise price of $0.08 for each new share had expired. No warrants were exercised and no 
warrants had expired during the year. 

During the year, no warrants were issued by the Company (2010: 105,794,416). As at the end of the financial 
year, there were 105,794,416 (2010: 105,794,416) warrants outstanding, expiring 18 January 2013.

The Company has employee share option plans under which options to subscribe for the Company’s ordinary 
shares have been granted to employees of the Group (Refer to Note 5 for details). 

30. Other reserves

Group Company
2011

$
2010

$
2011

$
2010

$

Foreign currency translation  
reserve (a) 104,988 (232,211) – –

Fair value adjustment  
reserve (b) (1,843,641) 17,395,383 (1,813,146) 17,401,803

Share options reserve (c) 799,398 426,934 799,398 426,934
Closing balance at  

31 December (939,255) 17,590,106 (1,013,748) 17,828,737
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30. Other reserves (cont’d)

(a) Foreign currency translation reserve

  The foreign currency translation reserve relates to exchange differences arising from the translation of 
the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries whose functional currencies are different from that of 
the Group’s presentation currency.

Group Company
2011

$
2010

$
2011

$
2010

$

At 1 January 232,211 – – –
Net effect of exchange
   differences (337,199) 232,211 – –
At 31 December (104,988) 232,211 – –

(b) Fair value adjustment reserve

 Fair value adjustment reserve records the cumulative fair value changes of available-for-sale financial 
assets until they are derecognised or impaired.

Group Company
2011

$
2010

$
2011

$
2010

$

At 1 January 17,395,383 12,894,182 17,401,803 12,894,182
-  Fair value (loss)/gain (8,965,746) 7,432,786 (8,941,671) 7,439,206
-  Transfer to profit or loss 
      upon disposal (10,273,278) (2,931,585) (10,273,278) (2,931,585)

At 31 December * (1,843,641) 17,395,383 (1,813,146) 17,401,803

*   Approximately 66% of the available-for-sale financial assets were disposed subsequent to the 
end of the financial year at a gain and the negative fair value adjustment reserve was reversed.
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30. Other reserves (cont’d)

(c) Share options reserve

Group Company
2011

$
2010

$
2011

$
2010

$

At 1 January 426,934 175,007 426,934 175,007
Grant of equity-settled share 

options 403,364 522,312 403,364 522,312
Exercise of equity-settled 

share option – (135,385) – (135,385)
Expiry of equity-settled share 

option (30,900) (135,000) (30,900) (135,000)
At 31 December 799,398 426,934 799,398 426,934

31. Dividends

Group and Company
2011 2010

$ $

Declared and paid during the year

Dividends on ordinary shares
-  Final exempt (one-tier) dividend for 2010: 0.3 cents per share  

   (2009: 0.3 cents per share) 1,691,203* 1,556,151*

Proposed but not recognised as a liability as at 31 December

Dividends on ordinary shares, subject to shareholders’
   approval at the AGM:
-  Final exempt (one-tier) dividend for 2011: 0.2 cents per share  

   (2010: 0.3 cents per share) 1,204,579 1,653,517

* The difference between the proposed dividend and the amount declared and paid is due to the increase 
in the number of ordinary shares subsequent to year end.
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32. Related party information

(a) Sale and purchase of goods and services

 In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, significant 
transactions with related parties on terms agreed between the parties, were as follows:

Group Company
2011

$
2010

$
2011

$
2010

$

Income
Management service income 

from subsidiaries – – 2,577,723 800,000
Dividend from a subsidiary – – 2,000,000 2,500,000
Sale of property, plant and 

equipment to a company 
in which a director is also a 
director and a shareholder – 10,000 – 10,000

Rental of office premise to a 
company in which a director 
is also a director and a 
shareholder 61,328 – 61,328 –

Interest on loan to a 
subsidiary – – 1,150 –

Expenses
Rental of office premise from 

subsidiary – – 58,800 –
Rental of office premise 

from a company in which 
a director is also a director 
and a shareholder – 28,783 – 28,783

Services provided by  
subsidiary – – 20,050 –

Consultancy services provided 
by a company in which a 
director is also a director 
and a shareholder 18,000 28,000 18,000 28,000

Interest on loan from a 
subsidiary – – 97,334 –

Company related to a director

 One of the directors of the Company holds a controlling interest in Blue Ocean Capital Partners 
(“BOCP”). In 2011, BOCP provided consultancy services to the Group. Net balance due from BOCP 
amounted to $2,849 as at balance sheet date (2010: $nil).

 One of the directors is the founder and Chairman of Tembusu Partners Pte Ltd (“Tembusu”). In prior 
year, the Group sold property, plant and equipment to Tembusu and Tembusu provided consultancy 
services to the Group. There is no such transaction during the current year and no balance is due to 
Tembusu as at 31 December 2011 (2010: $11,770).
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32. Related party information (cont’d)

(b) Compensation of key management personnel 

Group 
2011

$
2010

$

Short-term employee benefits 2,352,000 1,781,222
Central Provident Fund contributions 53,903 54,586
Total compensation paid to key management 
  personnel 2,405,903 1,835,808

Comprise amounts paid to:
-  Directors of the Company 1,408,639 1,237,264
-  Other key management personnel 997,264 598,544

2,405,903 1,835,808

The remuneration of key management personnel are determined by the remuneration committee 
having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.

Directors’ interests in employee share option plan

During the financial year:

- Nil (2010: 7,200,000) share options were granted to six of the Company’s directors under the 
Novena share option scheme (Note 5) at an exercise price of $nil (2010: $0.197 to S$0.198) 
each. 

- Nil (2010: 4,400,000) Novena share options were exercised at a price of $0.117 each, with a 
total cash consideration of $nil (2010: $514,800). 

At the balance sheet date, the total number of outstanding share options granted by the Company to 
directors under the Scheme amounted to 7,200,000 (2010: 7,200,000).

Directors’ interests in warrants

In prior year, one of the directors exercised 3,500,000 warrants at an exercise price of $0.08 to subscribe 
for 3,500,000 new ordinary shares. There is no exercise of warrants to subscribe new ordinary shares 
during the year.
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33. Commitments

(a) Operating lease commitments – as lessee

 The Group has entered into commercial leases for a building, retail outlets and office premises. These 
leases have remaining average tenure of between 1 to 21 years with options for renewal. The Group 
is not restricted from subleasing the property and certain of its retail outlets to third parties.

 Future minimum lease payments payable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December 
are as follows:

Group 
2011 2010

$ $

-  Not later than 1 year 4,832,911 3,707,819
-  1 year through 5 years 6,260,253 6,607,710
-  Later than 5 years 6,636,816 75,394

17,729,980 10,390,923

(b) Operating lease commitments – as lessor

 The Group has entered into commercial leases on a leased property. These non-cancellable leases 
have remaining non-cancellable lease terms of 1 to 3 years.

 Future minimum rental receivables under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December are as 
follows:

Group 
2011 2010

$ $

-  Not later than 1 year 1,866,641 1,014,507
-  1 year through 5 years 1,321,839 1,792,446

3,188,480 2,806,953
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34. Fair value of financial instruments

(a) Fair value of financial instruments that are carried at fair value

 The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value 
hierarchy:

Quoted prices 
in active 

markets for 
identical 

instruments

Significant 
other 

observable 
inputs

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs Total
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Group
2011
Financial assets:
Quoted equity investments (Note 14)

-  Available-for-sale financial assets 2,198,584 – – 2,198,584

2010
Financial assets:
Quoted equity investments (Note 14)

-  Available-for-sale financial assets 27,776,171 – – 27,776,171
-  Financial assets at fair value  

   through profit or loss  272,115 – – 272,115
28,048,286 – – 28,048,286

Fair value hierarchy

The Group classify fair value measurement using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of 
the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy have the following levels:

	 Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
	 Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 

asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices), and    

	 Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 
(unobservable inputs) 

There have been no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the financial years ended 2011 and 
2010. 

Quoted equity investments (Note 14) 

Fair value is determined by direct reference to their bid price quotations in an active market at the 
balance sheet date. 
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34. Fair value of financial instruments (cont’d)

(b) Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying 
amounts are reasonable approximation of fair value

Cash and cash equivalents, other current financial assets and liabilities and non-current loans and 
borrowings at floating rate

The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities are the reasonable approximation of fair 
values, either due to their short-term nature or that they are floating rate instruments that are re-priced 
to market interest rates on or near the balance sheet date.

(c) Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose carrying 
amounts are not reasonable approximation of fair value

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities by classes that are not carried at fair value and whose 
carrying amounts are not the reasonable approximation of fair values are as follows:

Group
2011 2010

Carrying
amount Fair value

Carrying
amount Fair value

Financial assets/(liabilities) $ $ $ $

Obligation under finance 
leases (265,686) (277,888) (306,815) (318,635)

Unquoted equity investment, 
at cost – – 2,707,792 *

*  Fair value information has not been disclosed for the Group’s investment in unquoted equity 
investment that are carried at cost because fair value cannot be measured reliably. Unquoted 
equity investment represents 19.86% (2010: 19.86%) of total ordinary shares in Marine Accomm 
Pte Ltd which has been fully impaired in the current financial year. 

Fair value of obligations under finance leases

The fair values as disclosed in the table above are estimated by discounting expected future cash flows 
at market incremental lending rates for similar types of lending, borrowing or leasing arrangements at 
the end of the reporting period. 
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35. Classification of financial assets and liabilities

Group Company
2011

$
2010

$
2011

$
2010

$
(Restated) (Restated)

Fair value through profit or loss
Assets
Quoted equity investments – 272,115 – 272,115

Loans and receivables
Due from subsidiaries  

(non-trade) – – – 220,000
Trade receivables 13,796,291 18,480,348 – –
Other receivables and deposits 2,076,680 9,124,681 1,044,224 8,096,055
Cash and short-term deposits 9,405,382 16,008,513 12,725 1,026,654

25,278,353 43,613,542 1,056,949 9,342,709

Financial liabilities at amortised 
cost

Trade payables 7,514,483 6,433,328 – –
Bills payable 771,178 575,523 – –
Other payables and accruals 5,347,019 32,301,190 2,713,472 28,992,347
Lease obligations 265,686 306,815 – –
Term loans 14,018,122 14,759,227 1,596,125 14,759,227
Due to subsidiary (non-trade) – – 32,244,129 9,227,303
Bank overdrafts 205,641 2,677,079 205,641 2,677,079

28,122,129 57,053,162 36,759,367 55,655,956

Available-for-sale financial assets
Quoted equity investments 2,198,584 27,776,171 2,185,209 27,738,721
Unquoted equity investments – 2,707,792 – 2,707,792

2,198,584 30,483,963 2,185,209 30,446,513
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36. Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group and the Company are exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and the use of financial 
instruments. The key financial risks include credit risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk, foreign currency risk and 
market price risk. The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies and procedures for the management 
of these risks, which are executed by the Board of Directors. The Audit Committee provides independent 
oversight to the effectiveness of the risk management process.

 The following sections provide details regarding the Group’s and Company’s exposure to the above-mentioned 
financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of these risks.

(a)  Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instruments should a counterparty 
default on its obligations. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk arise primarily from 
trade and other receivables. For other financial assets (including quoted equity investments and cash 
and cash equivalents), the Group and the Company minimise credit risk by dealing exclusively with 
high credit rating counterparties. 

The Group’s objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses incurred due to 
increased credit risk exposure. The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. 
It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit 
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the 
result that the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant. For transactions that do not occur in 
the country of the relevant operating unit, the Group does not offer credit terms without the approval of 
the Assistant General Manager. 

Exposure to credit risk 

At the balance sheet date, the Group’s and the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk are 
represented by the carrying amount of each class of financial assets recognised in the balance sheets.

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy debtors with 
good payment record with the Group. Cash and cash equivalents are placed with reputable financial 
institutions. 

Financial assets that are either past due or impaired 

Information regarding financial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in Note 17 
(Trade receivables).
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36. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(a)  Credit risk (cont’d)

Credit risk concentration profile

The Group determines concentrations of credit risk by monitoring the country and industry sector 
profile of its trade receivables on an on-going basis. The credit risk concentration profile of the Group’s 
trade receivables at the balance sheet date is as follows:

 2011 2010
$ % of total $ % of total

Group

By country:
Singapore 11,380,187 83% 15,980,712 86%
People’s Republic of China 575,929 4% 1,219,299 7%
Vietnam 1,020,348 7% 856,857 5%
Malaysia 287,548 2% 173,569 1%
Others 532,279 4% 249,911 1%

13,796,291 100% 18,480,348 100%

By industry sectors:
Retail and distribution 3,136,343 23% 2,880,829 16%
Offshore and Marine 10,659,948 77% 15,599,519 84%

13,796,291 100% 18,480,348 100%

The Group and the Company have no significant concentration of credit risk. 
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36. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(b) Interest rate risk

 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s 
financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s and the 
Company’s exposure to interest rate risk arise primarily from their loans and borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk

At the balance sheet date, if SGD interest rates had been 50 (2010: 100) basis points lower/higher 
with all other variables held constant, the Group’s profit net of tax would have been $71,119 (2010: 
$174,364) lower/higher, arising mainly as a result of lower/higher interest expense on floating rate 
loans and borrowings. The assumed movement in basis points for interest rate sensitivity analysis is 
based on the currently observable market environment, showing a lower volatility as in prior years.

(c)  Liquidity risk

 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting financial 
obligations due to shortage of funds. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to liquidity risk arise 
primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. The Group’s and the 
Company’s objective are to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the 
use of stand-by credit facilities. 

The Group’s and the Company’s liquidity risk management policy is that to maintain sufficient liquid 
financial assets and stand-by credit facilities with their different bankers. At the balance sheet date, 
approximately 52% (2010: 100%) of the Group’s term loans (Note 27) will mature in less than one year 
based on the carrying amount reflected in the financial statements.

Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets 
and liabilities at the balance sheet date based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.
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36. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(c)  Liquidity risk (cont’d)

2011 2010
1 year or 

less 1 to 5 years
After  

5 years Total
1 year or 

less 1 to 5 years Total
$ $ $ $ $ $

Group (Restated) (Restated)

Financial assets:
Quoted equity 

investments – 2,198,584 – 2,198,584 272,115 27,776,171 28,048,286
Trade receivables 13,796,291 – – 13,796,291 18,480,348 – 18,480,348
Other receivables and 

deposits 2,076,680 – – 2,076,680 9,124,681 – 9,124,681
Cash and short-term 

deposits 9,405,382 – – 9,405,382 16,008,513 – 16,008,513
Total undiscounted 

financial assets 25,278,353 2,198,584 – 27,476,937 43,885,657 27,776,171 71,661,828

Financial liabilities:
Trade payables 7,514,483 – – 7,514,483 6,433,328 – 6,433,328
Bills payable 771,178 – – 771,178 575,523 – 575,523
Other payables and 

accruals 5,347,019 – – 5,347,019 32,301,190 – 32,301,190
Lease obligations 79,791 228,638 – 308,429 110,000 246,708 356,708
Term loans 7,457,211 4,601,229 2,767,981 14,826,421 14,759,227 – 14,759,227
Bank overdraft 205,641 – – 205,641 2,677,079 – 2,677,079
Total undiscounted 

financial liabilities 21,375,323 4,829,867 2,767,981 28,973,171 56,856,347 246,708 57,103,055

Total net undiscounted 
financial assets/
(liabilities) 3,903,030 (2,631,283) (2,767,981) (1,496,234) (12,970,690) 27,529,463 14,558,773
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36. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(c) Liquidity risk (cont’d)

2011 2010
1 year or 

less 1 to 5 years Total
1 year or 

less 1 to 5 years Total
$ $ $ $ $ $

(Restated) (Restated)
Company

Financial assets:
Quoted equity investments – 2,185,209 2,185,209 272,115 27,738,721 28,010,836
Unquoted equity investments – – – – 2,707,792 2,707,792
Other receivables and deposits 1,044,224 – 1,044,224 8,096,055 – 8,096,055
Due from subsidiaries (non-trade) – – – 220,000 – 220,000
Cash and cash equivalents 12,725 – 12,725 1,026,654 – 1,026,654
Total undiscounted financial assets 1,056,949 2,185,209 3,242,158 9,614,824 30,446,513 40,061,337

Financial liabilities:
Other payables 2,713,472 – 2,713,472 28,992,347 – 28,992,347
Term loans 1,673,275 – 1,673,275 14,759,227 – 14,759,227
Due to subsidiary (non-trade) 32,244,129 – 32,244,129 9,227,303 – 9,227,303
Bank overdraft 205,641 – 205,641 2,677,079 – 2,677,079
Total undiscounted financial 

liabilities 36,836,517 – 36,836,517 55,655,956 – 55,655,956

Total net undiscounted financial 
assets/(liabilities) (35,779,568) 2,185,209 (33,594,359) (46,041,132) 30,446,513 (15,594,619)
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36. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(d) Foreign currency risk

The Group had transactional currency exposures arising from purchases that are denominated in 
a currency other than the respective functional currencies of the Group entities, primarily SGD and 
Chinese Renminbi (RMB). The foreign currencies in which these transactions are denominated are 
mainly US Dollars (USD). Approximately 26% (2010: 22%) of the Group’s sales are denominated in 
foreign currencies whilst almost 28% (2010: 22%) of costs are denominated in the respective functional 
currencies of the Group entities. The Group’s trade receivable and trade payable balances at the end 
of the reporting period have similar exposures.

It is not the Group’s policy to enter into derivative forward foreign exchange contracts for hedging and 
speculative purposes.

The Group is also exposed to currency translation risk arising from its net investments in foreign 
operations, including Malaysia, the People’s Republic of China (PRC) and Indonesia. The Group’s net 
investments in Malaysia, the PRC and Indonesia are not hedged as currency positions in Malaysian 
Ringgit, RMB and Indonesian Rupiah are considered to be long-term in nature.

Sensitivity analysis for foreign currency risk

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the USD, RMB and 
Euro exchange rates (against SGD), with all other variables held constant.

Group
2011 2010

Profit net
 of tax  

 Profit net 
of tax   

$ $

USD - strengthened 5% (2010: 10%) 287,903 780,005
 - weakened 5% (2010: 10%) (287,903) (780,005)

RMB - strengthened 5% (2010: 10%) 21,885 17,017
 - weakened 5% (2010: 10%) (21,885) (17,017)

Euro - strengthened 5% (2010: 10%) 10,759 47,025
 - weakened 5% (2010: 10%) (10,759) (47,025)
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36. Financial risk management objectives and policies (cont’d)

(e) Market price risk

Market price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and Company’s financial 
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than interest or exchange rates). 
The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from its investment in quoted equity investments. 
These investments are quoted on the SGX-ST in Singapore and are classified as held for trading or 
available-for-sale financial assets.

The Group’s objective is to manage investment returns and equity price risk using a mix of investment 
grade shares with steady dividend yield and non-investment grade shares with higher volatility as 
determined by the Board of Directors. All investments are approved by the Board of Directors.

Sensitivity analysis for equity price risk

At the balance sheet date, if the STI had been 5% (2010: 5%) higher/lower with all other variables held 
constant, the Group’s profit net of tax would have no impact (2010: $13,606 lower/higher), arising as 
a result of higher/lower fair value gains on held for trading investments in equity instruments, and the 
Group’s other reserve in equity would have been $109,929 (2010: $1,388,809) higher/lower, arising as 
a result of an increase/decrease in the fair value of equity instruments classified as available-for-sale.

37. Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating 
and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value. 

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions. 
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return 
capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes 
during the years ended 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010. The Group is not subject to any externally 
imposed capital requirements.
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37. Capital management (cont’d)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is total debt divided by total capital plus total debt. 
The Group’s policy is to keep the gearing ratio less than 60%. The Group includes within total debt, loans 
and borrowings, trade and other payables and other liabilities based on contractual undiscounted repayment 
obligation. Capital includes equity attributable to the owners of the Company including fair value adjustment 
reserve.

Group 
2011 2010

$ $
(Restated)

Total debt (Note 36 (c)) 28,973,171 57,103,055

Equity attributable to the owners of the Company 78,947,457 83,952,632
Add/(less): - Fair value adjustment reserve (Note 30(b)) 1,843,641 (17,395,383)
Total capital 80,791,098 66,557,249

Capital and total debt 109,764,269 123,660,304

Gearing ratio 26% 46%

38. Segmental information

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and services, 
and has three operating segments, namely, the Retail and Distribution segment, the Offshore and Marine 
segment and the Corporate segment.

Except as indicated above, no operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable 
operating segments.

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making 
decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based 
on operating profit or loss which in certain respects, as explained in the table below, is measured differently 
from operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements. Group financing (including finance 
costs) and income taxes are managed on a group basis and are not allocated to operating segments.

Transfer prices between operating segments are on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions 
with third parties.
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38. Segmental information (cont’d)

Notes: Nature of adjustments and eliminations to arrive at amounts reported in the consolidated 
financial statements 

A Inter-segment revenues are eliminated on consolidation. 

B Other non-cash expenses consist share-based payments, inventories written-down, provisions, 
and impairment of financial assets as presented in the respective notes to the financial 
statements. 

C Additions to non-current assets consist of additions to property, plant and equipment, intangible 
assets, investment in subsidiaries and investment in quoted and unquoted equities.

D The following items are deducted from segment assets to arrive at total assets reported in the 
consolidated balance sheet: 

2011 2010
$ $

Inter-segment assets (72,236,094) (38,839,727)
(72,236,094) (38,839,727)

E The following items are added to/(deducted from) segment liabilities to arrive at total liabilities 
reported in the consolidated balance sheet:

Deferred tax liabilities 4,849,993 4,868,826
Income tax payable 2,150,360 3,517,513
Loans and borrowings 14,018,122 14,759,227
Inter-segment liabilities (34,922,914) (10,823,560)

(13,904,439) 12,322,006

Geographical information

Revenue and non-current assets information based on the geographical location of customers and assets 
respectively are as follows: 

Revenues Non-current assets
2011

$
2010

$
2011

$
2010

$
(Restated)

Singapore 66,794,330 57,457,899 56,545,957 73,246,106
People’s Republic of China  13,778,163 16,541,307 436,931 443,256
Vietnam 4,765,604 156,786 – –
Australia 2,197,795 39,052 – –
Others 7,691,016 5,522,697 17,234 3,467

95,226,908 79,717,741 57,000,122 73,692,829

Non-current assets information presented above consist of property, plant and equipment, investment 
properties and intangible assets as presented in the consolidated balance sheet.
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38. Segmental information (cont’d)

Information about a major customer

There is no revenue from one major customer, arising from sales by the Offshore and Marine segment or the 
retail and distribution segment. 

39. Comparatives

In prior year, the Group acquired Marshal Systems Pte Ltd and Promoter Hydraulics Pte Ltd. In accordance 
with FRS 103, the Company has finalised the purchase price allocation exercise and identified the fair value of 
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at date of acquisition. Accordingly, the comparative 
figures have been restated retrospectively as follows:-

2010
Group Company

As restated As previously 
stated

As restated As previously 
stated

$ $ $ $

Balance Sheets:

Intangible assets 40,067,329 40,428,921 – –
Investment in subsidiaries – – 83,870,944 84,265,806
Inventories 31,285,371 32,412,850 – –
Other payables and accruals (34,648,433) (34,966,118) (28,992,347) (29,310,031)
Deferred tax liability (4,868,826) (4,725,937) – –
Reserves (13,863,988) (15,178,263) (2,414,146) (2,336,968)

Statement of Comprehensive Income:

Gain on bargain purchase 4,014,932 4,950,739
Other operating expenses
- Amortisation of intangible 
   asset (2,953,747) (2,590,747)
Finance costs (407,555) (330,377)
Taxation (1,189,478) (1,251,188)

 The presentation of the balance sheet at the beginning of the earliest comparative period has not been 
prepared as the restatement has no impact on the balances as at 1 January 2010.
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40. Other information

During the current financial year, the Company filed a complaint to the Commercial Affairs Department of 
suspected financial irregularities in the affairs of the investee company, Marine Accomm Pte Ltd (“MAPL”), as 
well as contesting a claim of indemnity by the former director of MAPL.

The proceedings of the case are still in-progress. The Company has sought legal advice and pending the 
full disclosure of documents by the relevant parties, the Company has reasonable prospect of defending the 
former director’s claim against the Company.

41. Authorisation of financial statements

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011 were authorised for issue in accordance with 
a resolution of the directors on 19 March 2012.
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Class of shares - Ordinary shares 
Voting rights - On a show of hands, one vote for each member
 - On a poll : one vote for each ordinary share

Analysis of Shareholdings 

Range of Shareholdings No. of Shareholders % No. of Shares %
             1 -  999 207 8.49 35,498 0.01
       1,000 - 10,000 501 20.55 3,240,056 0.54
     10,001 - 1,000,000 1,679 68.87 140,541,942 23.33
 1,000,001 and above 51 2.09 458,471,837 76.12

2,438 100.00 602,289,333 100.00

Based on information available to the Company as at 30 March 2012, approximately 52% of the issued ordinary 
shares of the Company is held by the public and therefore Rule 723 of the Listing Manual Section B: Rules of Catalist 
of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited is complied with.

Top 20 Shareholders

S/No. Name of Shareholder No. of Shares Held %*
1 HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd 118,241,000 19.64
2 Viking Engineering Pte Ltd 74,256,000 12.34
3 Hong Leong Finance Nominees Pte Ltd 36,952,000 6.14
4 MTM Investment Holdings Pte Ltd 31,211,000 5.19
5 Ong Choo Guan 20,900,000 3.47
6 Yeo Seng Buck 15,811,000 2.63
7 Maybank Kim Eng Securities Pte Ltd 13,053,759 2.17
8 Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 10,503,000 1.74
9 Chiang Tin Tiah 9,830,000 1.63

10 OCBC Securities Private Ltd 8,330,633 1.38
11 Phillip Securities Pte Ltd 8,030,619 1.33
12 Teo Ngiang Heng 7,849,000 1.30
13 DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 7,507,016 1.25
14 Liu Guang 7,344,000 1.22
15 Cheah Yee Ping (Xie Yiping) 6,350,000 1.05
16 HL Bank Nominees (S) Pte Ltd 4,633,000 0.77
17 Wong Poh Hwa @ Kwai Seng 4,500,000 0.75
18 CIMB Securities (S) Pte Ltd 4,130,000 0.69
19 Van Der Horst Energy Limited 4,000,000 0.66
20 Wang Jin 3,926,000 0.65

 397,358,027 66.00

* The percentage of shareholdings was computed based on the issued share capital of the Company as at 
30 March 2012 of 601,945,333 shares (which excludes 344,000 shares which are held as treasury shares 
representing approximately 0.06% of the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares).

Shareholding Statistics
as at 30 March 2012
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Substantial Shareholders 

Name 

Number of 
shares registered 

in the name 
of substantial 
shareholders 

Number of 
shares in which 
the substantial 
shareholder is 

deemed to have 
an interest Total %

Lim Andy (1) 1,540,000 156,944,000 158,484,000 26.33
Viking Engineering Pte Ltd 74,256,000 - 74,256,000 12.34
Johansson Bo Robert (2)  - 74,256,000 74,256,000 12.34
Sune Gustaf Sigvard Andersson (2) - 74,256,000 74,256,000 12.34
Tay Mong Seng (3) - 31,211,000  31,211,000 5.19
MTM Investment Holdings Pte Ltd 31,211,000 - 31,211,000 5.19

Notes:

(1) Of the total deemed interest for Mr Lim Andy, 139,444,000 shares are registered and held through Nominees 
as follows;

Nominees Shares
HSBC Nominees (Singapore) Pte Ltd 118,141,000
Citibank Nominess Singapore Pte Ltd 10,000,000
Hong Leong Finance Nominess Pte Ltd 8,500,000
DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 2,803,000

 Mr Lim Andy is the beneficial owner of the above shares. Mr Lim Andy is further deemed interested in the 
remaining 17,500,000 shares held by Associated Leisure International Pte Ltd whereby he holds a 99% 
shareholding interest. 

(2) Mr Johansson Bo Robert and Mr Sune Gustaf Sigvard Andersson are the substantial shareholders (50% 
each) of Viking Engineering Pte Ltd and are deemed interested in the 74,256,000 shares held by Viking 
Engineering Pte Ltd.

(3) Mr Tay Mong Seng is the substantial shareholder (55%) of MTM Investment Holdings Pte Ltd and is deemed 
interested in the 31,211,000 shares held by MTM Investment Holdings Pte Ltd. 
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Warrants - W130118 

Range of Warrantholdings No. of Warrantholders % No. of Warrants %
             1 -  999 68 11.66 12,605 0.01
       1,000 - 10,000 265 45.46 1,134,580 1.07
     10,001 - 1,000,000 231 39.62 23,448,288 22.17
 1,000,001 and above 19 3.26 81,198,943 76.75

583 100.00 105,794,416 100.00

Top 20 Warrantholders

S/No. Name of Warrantholder
No. of Warrants 

Held %
1 Lim Andy 29,535,250 27.92
2 Kwan Chee Seng 11,730,308 11.09
3 Phillip Securities Pte Ltd 9,469,404 8.95
4 HL Bank Nominees (S) Pte Ltd 4,250,000 4.02
5 Cheah Yee Ping (Xie Yiping) 2,700,000 2.55
6 Teo Ngiang Heng 2,274,750 2.15
7 Cheng Wa Sing 2,053,000 1.94
8 Associated Leisure International Pte Ltd 2,000,000 1.89
9 Tan Kok Sin 1,921,000 1.82

10 Yap Kon Yin 1,866,000 1.76
11 Maybank Kim Eng Securities Pte Ltd 1,847,141 1.75
12 Ng Tie Jin (Huang Zhiren) 1,750,000 1.65
13 OCBC Securities Private Ltd 1,674,500 1.58
14 DB Nominees (S) Pte Ltd 1,622,690 1.53
15 Lee Kek Choo 1,532,000 1.45
16 Leong Wai Hoe Justin (Liang Weihao, Justin) 1,513,000 1.43
17 Sum Ying Kau 1,400,000 1.32
18 Tan Eng Chua Edwin 1,031,000 0.97
19 UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd 1,028,900 0.97
20 Low Seng Kee 1,000,000 0.95

 82,198,943 77.69

Warrantholding Statistics
as at 30 March 2012



169   
Viking Offshore and Marine Limited 

Annual Report 2011

VIKING OFFSHORE AND MARINE LIMITED 
 (Company Registration No. 199307300M)
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at 21 Kian Teck Road, 
Singapore 628773 on Monday, 30 April 2012 at 10.00 a.m. to transact the following businesses:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2011 
and the Directors’ Report and the Auditors Report thereon.  (Resolution 1)

2. To re-elect the following Directors who are retiring in accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Articles 
of Association:-

(a) Mr Lim Andy (retiring pursuant to Article 93)                     (Resolution 2)

(b) Mr Tan Wee Peng Kelvin (retiring pursuant to Article 93)            (Resolution 3)

 Mr Tan Wee Peng Kelvin will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain a member of the 
Audit Committee and will be considered independent for the purposes of Rule 704(7) of Section B of 
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) Listing Manual (the “Catalist Rules”)

 (c) Mr Lin Wei Daniel (retiring pursuant to Article 99) (Resolution 4)
       
3. To declare a Final (tax-exempt one-tier) Dividend of S$0.002 per ordinary share for the financial year ended 

31 December 2011. (Resolution 5)

4. To approve payment of Directors’ fees of S$230,000 for the financial year ending 31 December 2012. (2011: 
S$224,000) (Resolution 6)

5. To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young LLP as auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix their 
remuneration. (Resolution 7)
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AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following ordinary resolutions with or without modifications:-

6. Authority to allot and issue shares

(a) “That, pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act (Cap. 50), and the listing rules of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited, approval be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company 
at any time to such persons and upon such terms and for such purposes as the Directors may in their 
absolute discretion deem fit, to :

(i) issue shares in the capital of the Company whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise;

(ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options that might or would require shares to be issued 
or other transferable rights to subscribe for or purchase shares (collectively, “Instruments”) 
including but not limited to the creation and issue of warrants, debentures or other instruments 
convertible into shares;

(iii) issue additional Instruments arising from adjustments made to the number of Instruments 
previously issued in the event of rights, bonus or capitalisation issues; and

(b) (Notwithstanding the authority conferred by the shareholders may have ceased to be in force) issue 
shares in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors while the authority was in 
force,

provided always that 

(i)  the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this resolution (including shares to 
be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this resolution) does not 
exceed 100% of the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares of the Company, 
of which the aggregate number of shares (including shares to be issued in pursuance of 
Instruments made or granted pursuant to this resolution) to be issued other than on a pro rata 
basis to shareholders of the Company does not exceed 50% of the  total number of issued 
shares excluding treasury shares of the Company, and for the purpose of this resolution, the 
issued share capital shall be the Company’s total number of issued shares excluding treasury 
shares at the time this resolution is passed, after adjusting for:

a) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible securities, or

b) new shares  arising  from exercising share options or vesting of share awards outstanding 
or subsisting at the time this resolution is passed provided the options or awards were 
granted in compliance with Part VIII of Chapter 8 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited, and

c) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of  the Company’s shares, and 
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(ii) such authority shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company at a general meeting, continue 
in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting or the date by which the 
next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the 
earlier.”                    (Resolution 8)

 (Please see Explanatory Note 1)
 
7. Authority to offer and grant options/and or share awards and to allot and issue shares pursuant to the Viking 

Offshore and Marine Limited Share Option Scheme and the Viking Long Term Incentive Plan.

“That:

(a) authority be and is hereby given to the directors of the Company to offer and grant options in accordance 
with the provisions of Viking Offshore and Marine Limited Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) and/ 
or to grant awards in accordance with the Viking Long Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”); and

(b) approval be and is hereby given to the Directors to exercise full powers of the Company to allot and 
issue from time to time such number of shares in the Company as may be required to be issued 
pursuant to the exercise of the options under the Scheme, and/or such number of shares as may be 
required to be allotted and issued pursuant to the award of shares under the Plan:

provided that the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to the Scheme and the Plan shall not 
exceed 15% of the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares in the capital of the Company 
from time to time.”    (Resolution 9)

 (Please see Explanatory Note 2)

8. The Proposed Renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate

That:

(a) for the purposes of the Rules of Catalist and the Companies Act, the Directors be and are hereby 
authorised to exercise all the powers of the Company to purchase or acquire its issued and fully 
paid-up Shares representing not more than ten per cent. (10%) of the total number of issued Shares of 
the Company at such price(s) as may be determined by the Directors or a committee of Directors that 
may be constituted for the purposes of effecting purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company 
from time to time up to the Maximum Price (as defined below), whether by way of:

(i)  an on-market purchase (“Market Purchase”), transacted on the SGX-ST through the ready 
market, and which may be transacted through one or more duly licensed stock brokers appointed 
by the Company for the purpose; and/or

(ii)  an off-market purchase (“Off-Market Purchase”), effected otherwise than on the SGX-ST 
pursuant to an equal access scheme in accordance with Section 76C of the Companies Act, 
and otherwise in accordance with all other laws and regulations, including but not limited to, 
the provisions of the Companies Act and the Rules of Catalist as may for the time being be 
applicable, be and is hereby authorised and approved generally and unconditionally (the “Share 
Buyback Mandate”);
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(b)  unless varied or revoked by the Shareholders in a general meeting, purchases or acquisitions of 
Shares pursuant to the proposed Share Buyback Mandate may be made, at any time and from time to 
time during the period commencing from the date of the passing of this Resolution and expiring on the 
earlier of:

(i)  the date on which the next annual general meeting of the Company is held or required by law to 
be held;

(ii)  the date on which the purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company pursuant to the 
Share Buyback Mandate are carried out to the full extent mandated; or

(iii)  the date on which the authority conferred by the Share Buyback Mandate is revoked or varied 
by the Shareholders in a general meeting, 

 whichever is the earliest.

(c)  in this Resolution:

 “Maximum Price”, in relation to a Share to be purchased or acquired, means the purchase price 
(excluding brokerage, stamp duties, commission, applicable goods and services tax and other related 
expenses) which shall not exceed:

(i) in the case of a Market Purchase, 105 per cent. (105%) of the Average Closing Price (as defined 
below); and

(ii) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase pursuant to an equal access scheme, 120 per cent. 
(120%) of the Average Closing Price,

where:

“Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of the Shares over the last 
five (5) Market Days, on which transactions in the Shares were recorded, before the day on which the 
purchase or acquisition of Shares was made, or as the case may be, the day of the making of the offer 
pursuant to the Off-Market Purchase, and deemed to be adjusted for any corporate action that occurs 
after the relevant five (5) Market Days period;

“day of the making of the offer” means the day on which the Company announces its intention to 
make an offer for an Off-Market Purchase, stating therein the purchase price (which shall not be more 
than the Maximum Price for an Off-Market Purchase calculated on the foregoing basis) for each Share 
and the relevant terms of the equal access scheme for effecting the Off-Market Purchase; and

(d)  the Directors and/or any of them be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such acts and 
things (including executing such documents as may be required) as they and/or he may consider 
necessary, expedient, incidental or in the interests of the Company to give effect to the transactions 
contemplated and/or authorised by this Resolution.

(Resolution 10)
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9.  To transact any other business which may be properly transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Lotus Isabella Lim Mei Hua
Company Secretary

Singapore, 13 April 2012

 
Explanatory Notes:-

1. The ordinary resolution 8 in item no. 6 above is to authorise the Directors of the Company from the date of the above 
Meeting until the next Annual General Meeting to issue shares and convertible securities in the Company up to an amount 
not exceeding in aggregate 100 percent of the issued share capital of the Company of which the total number of shares 
and convertible securities issued other than on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders shall not exceed 50 percent of the 
issued share capital of the Company at the time the resolution is passed, for such purposes as they consider would be in 
the interests of the Company. This authority will, unless revoked or varied at a general meeting, expire at the next Annual 
General Meeting of the Company.

2. The ordinary resolution 9 in item no. 7 above is to authorize the Directors of the Company to offer and grant options under 
Viking Offshore and Marine Limited Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”), as well as to award shares pursuant to the 
Viking Long term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), providing that the aggregate number of shares to be issued shall not exceed 
15% of the Company’s issued shares, excluding treasury shares in the capital of the company from time to time.

NOTICE OF BOOK CLOSURE

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Share Transfer Books and Register of Members of the Company will be closed 
on 11 May 2012 for the preparation of dividend warrants.

Duly completed registrable transfers received by the Company’s Share Registrar, M & C Services Private Limited, 
138 Robinson Road, #17-00 The Corporate Office, Singapore 068906 up to 5.00 p.m. on 11 May 2012 will be 
registered to determine shareholders’ entitlements to the proposed final dividend. Members whose Securities 
Accounts with The Central Depository (Pte) Limited are credited with shares at 5.00 p.m. on 11 May 2012 will be 
entitled to the proposed dividend.

Payment of the dividend, if approved by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 30 April 2012 will 
be made on 25 May 2012.
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NOTES:

1. If a Member being a Depositor whose name appears in the Depository Register (as defined in Section 130A of the 
Companies Act, Cap. 50 of Singapore) wishes to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting (the “Meeting”), then he/
she/it should complete the Proxy Form and deposit the duly completed Proxy Form at the office of the Singapore Share 
Registrar, M & C Services Private Limited, 138 Robinson Road, #17-00 The Corporate Office, Singapore 068906, at least 
forty-eight (48) hours before the time of the Annual General Meeting.

2. If a Depositor wishes to appoint a proxy/proxies, then the Proxy Form must be signed and deposited at the office of the 
Singapore Share Registrar, M & C Services Private Limited, 138 Robinson Road, #17-00 The Corporate Office, Singapore 
068906, at least forty-eight (48) hours before the time of the Annual General Meeting. 
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VIKING OFFSHORE AND MARINE LIMITED
(INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF SINGAPORE)

*I/We  of 

being *a member/members of VIKING OFFSHORE AND MARINE LIMITED (the “Company”), hereby appoint 

Name Address
NRIC/ 

Passport No.
Proportion of shareholdings to 

be represented by proxy (%)

*and/or

as *my/our *proxy/proxies to vote for *me/us on *my/our behalf and, if necessary, to demand a poll, at the Annual 
General Meeting of the Company to be held on Monday, 30 April 2012 at 21 Kian Teck Road, Singapore 628773 at 
10.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof.

*I/we direct *my/our *proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Ordinary Resolutions to be proposed at the Annual 
General Meeting as indicated with an “X” in the spaces provided hereunder.  If no specified directions as to voting 
are given, the *proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at *his/their discretion.

No. Ordinary Resolutions For Against
1. To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for 

the year ended 31 December 2011 and the Directors’ Report and the Auditors 
Report thereon.

2. To re-elect Mr Lim Andy pursuant to Article 93 of the Company’s Articles of 
Association

3. To re-elect Mr Tan Wee Peng Kelvin pursuant to Article 93 of the Company’s 
Articles of Association

4. To re-elect Mr Lin Wei Daniel pursuant to Article 99 of the Company’s Articles 
of Association

5. To declare a Final (tax-exempt one-tier) Dividend of S$0.002 per ordinary share 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2011.

6. To approve payment of Directors’ fees of S$230,000 for the financial year 
ending 31 December 2012, payable quarterly in arrears.

7. To re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young LLP as auditors of the Company and to 
authorize the Directors to fix their remuneration.

8. To authorise Directors to allot and issue shares 
9. To authorise Directors to offer and grant options and to issue shares under Viking 

Offshore and Marine Limited Share Option Scheme and the Viking Long Term 
Incentive Plan.

10. The proposed renewal of the Share Buyback Mandate

Dated this  day of  2012
Total Number of Shares Held

Signature(s) of Member(s)/Common Seal
* Delete accordingly 
IMPORTANT.  Please read notes overleaf

PROXY FORM

IMPORTANT
1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy VIKING 

OFFSHORE AND MARINE LIMITED shares, the Annual 
Report is forwarded to them at the request of their CPF 
Approved Nominees and is sent FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and shall 
be ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or purported 
to be used by them.



Notes:-
1. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two 

proxies to attend and vote in his stead.  Such proxy need not be a member of the Company.
2. Where a member of the Company appoints two proxies, he shall specify the proportion of his shareholding (expressed as a 

percentage of the whole) to be represented by each such proxy.
3. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing.  

Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed under its common seal or 
under the hand of its attorney or duly authorised officer.

4. A corporation which is a member of the Company may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person 
as it thinks fit to act as its representative at the Annual General Meeting, in accordance with its Articles of Association and Section 
179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.

5. The instrument appointing proxy or proxies, together with the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed, 
or notarially certified copy thereof, must be deposited at the office of the Share Registrar, M&C Services Private Limited, 138 
Robinson Road, #17-00 The Corporate Office, Singapore 068906, not later than 48 hours before the time set for the Annual 
General Meeting.

 AFFIX

STAMP 

6. A member should insert the total number of shares held.  If the member has shares entered against his name in the Depository 
Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), he should insert that number of shares.  If 
the member has shares registered in his name in the Register of Members of the Company, he should insert the number of shares.  
If the member has shares entered against his name in the Depository Register and shares registered in his name in the Register 
of Members of the Company, he should insert the aggregate number of shares.  If no number is inserted, this form of proxy will be 
deemed to relate to all the shares held by the member of the Company.

7. The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed 
or illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in 
the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies.  In addition, in the case of members of the Company whose shares are entered 
against their names in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if 
such members are not shown to have shares entered against their names in the Depository Register 48 hours before the time 
appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

8. A Depositor shall not be regarded as a member of the Company entitled to attend the Annual General Meeting and to speak and 
vote thereat unless his name appears on the Depository Register 48 hours before the time set for the Annual General Meeting.

VIKING OFFSHORE AND MARINE LIMITED

The Company Secretary
Viking Offshore and Marine Limited
c/o M & C Services Private Limited 

138 Robinson Road
#17-00 The Corporate Office

Singapore 068906
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